





# The regulation of the cytoskeleton in promoting axon growth

By

# © Kristy Lynn Williams

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Division of BioMedical Sciences

Faculty of Medicine

Memorial University of Newfoundland

September 2009

#### Abstract

The overall objective of this study was to investigate the role that the small heat sheek procein Hsp27 plays in neurite initiation and growth, through its regulation of the neuronal cytookeleton. The present investigation was carried out using adult rat dorsal rock panging (DRC) neurons to study the behavior of neurite initiation and extension.

The textucellular environment triggers the production and extension of a neutrice via extracellular cost. To stringer morphological changes in the neuron these cost must be transformed into signal that coverege on the systekateur. The yoloadetall coorporence, such as actio, subdatin and reacedliment light chain (NF-A), can be modified though interchemical proteins, including Hog72. Theg72 in regulator during himtenetic and proteins including theg72. Theg72 in the texture with cytoschetad components. This publicating of Hog72 as a possible transducer of extencellular isignals to the cytoschetation formed the basis for my hypothesis that Hbg72 reaso as tok in mere work.

In Capper 21 showed that HP27 was present and colosalized with actin and unbain in lamellipodia, filopodia, fical contacts, neurite shafts, Franch points and growth coses charing the stages of neurite formation and provids. The use of payment J03 MAPK plasmacological inhibitors internated Hp27 phosphorytation resulting in absentant outering growth. Further study of the effects of the p38 MAPK ishibitors in Chapter 5 indicated they increased F-actin levels in the neuron suggesting a link between Hp27 phosphorytation and actin dramatis in neuror growth. Chapter 3 confirmed the importance of the presence, and protein level of Hig27 in neurite growth. Small interfering RNA (uRNA) was used to knock down endogenous Hig27 protein levels in the DRG mearons, resulting in decreased neurite growth and altered actin localization. Alternatively, overexpression of Hig27, resulted in increased neurite growth.

An attempt was made to carling the nole of Hog27 phosphophadina in Chapter 4, this was done uning rodost humater Hog27 constructive with mutations in their series 15, and asterios 0% phosphophadinois miss to minimi either constitutively ophosphophadieal or constitutively phosphophaginal Hog27. Results suggested that the phosphorylation state of Hug27 phosphorylation Hug27, hepeficially, constitutive phosphorylation of other site was unlikelihops exercit growth.

These results support my hypothesis that Hsp27 is involved in neurite growth via regulation of the actin cytoskeleton, although the underlying mechanisms have not been fully elucidated in neurons.

# Acknowledgements

I wish to thank Dr. Karm Maxiw for all of her encouragement, support and guidance throughout this process, both academic and otherwise. Thank year for your help in opening doors to to many maning opportunities for me, for allowing me the opportunity to move to Newfoundfund and carry our present hybring, as well as the ability to attempt of apublishing findings. Trans's approximate they no have door.

I would also like to thank Dr's Terry Lynn Young and Daniel MacPhee who served as members of my supervisory committee for their comments, suggestions and support.

Thanks to Dr. Jules Dore for the much appreciated technical advice.

Special thanks are due to Masuma Rahimtula and Firoozeh Nafar for their assistance in various aspects of this project, and their continuing support.

I would like to thank my lab mates for their support. Thanks Elaine and Budd for helping me get settled and showing me the ins and outs of the lab. Thank you Sherri for your friendship, and always being there to boarce ideas off of. Thanks to Milke for your friendship and enhumans.

I wish to acknowledge the support of the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council for funding my experiments.

# Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	I
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	īv
LIST OF FIGURES	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 HSP27 IN NEURITE REGENERATION	1
1.1.1 Regeneration	
1.1.1.1 In vitro models of axonal growth or regeneration	
1.1.1.2 Dorsal Root Ganglion neurons	
1.1.2 The role of the cytoskeleton in neurite growth	
1.1.2.1 Neurite structure	
1.1.2.1.1 Actin in the neurite	
1.1.2.1.2 Tubulin in the neurite	
1.1.2.1.3 Intermediate filaments in the neurite	
1.1.2.2 Neurite Initiation and Geparth Patterning	
1.1.2.2.1 Neurite initiation	
1.1.2.2.2 Neurite Elongation	
1.1.2.2.3 Growth cone turning	
1.1.2.2.4 Neurite Branching	
1.1.3 Hsp27	
1.1.3.1 Heat Shock/ Stress Response	
1.1.3.1.1 Induction of Stress Response	
1.1.3.1.2 Heat Shock Proteins	
1.1.3.1.2.1 Small Heat Shock Proteins	
1.1.3.2 Http27 Structure	
1.1.3.2.1 Http27 Domains	
1.1.3.2.2 Hsp27 Phosphorylation	
1.1.3.3 Role in survival	
1.1.3.3.1 Hsp27 and servival in neurons	
1.1.3.4 Hsp27 and Neurite Growth	
1.1.3.4.1 Possible roles for Hsp27 and the actin cytoskeleton in neurite growth	
1.1.3.4.2 Hsp27 and Peripheral Neuropathies	
HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES	
CO-AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT	
CHAPTER 2: HSP27 AND AXONAL GROWTH IN ADULT SENSORY NEURONS IN VITRO	
21 4	

2.2	BACKGROUND	95
2.3	RESULTS	
2.3.	Laminin induces several identifiable stages of neurite initiation and growth	
2.3.	2 Hsp27 colocalizes with actin and tubulin in the early stages of process initiation	
2.3.	Phosphorylated Hsp27 is also localized with actin and tubulin at the early stages of proc	ess
form	nation	
2.3.	4 Colocalization of Hsp27 and cytoskeletal elements in neurites and growth cones at later	
stag	es of neurite growth and extension	
2.3.	5 Disruption of actin cytoskeleton with cytochalasin D results in aberrant neurite growth	
2.3.1	6 Inhibition of Hsp27 phosphorylation also results in aberrant neurite growth	
2.4	Discussion	
2.5	Conclusion	130
2.6	Mithides	
2.6.	Neuronal cultures	
2.6.	2 Immunocytochemistry	
2.6.3	3 Laminin stimulation and neurite growth initiation	
2.6.4	Inhibitor experiments	
2.6.5	5 Immunoblotting	
2.7	Authors' contributions	
2.8	Aconowiedcements	135

#### CHAPTER 3: HEAT SHOCK PROTEIN 27 IS INVOLVED IN NEURITE EXTENSION AND BRANCHING OF DORSAL ROOT GANGLION NEURONS IN VITRO

... 136

3.1 /	astract:
3.2 1	NTRODUCTION
3.3 1	AATOMALS AND METHODS
3.3.I	Neuronal Cultures
3.3.2	ONA constructs, siRNA constructs and transfection
3.3.3	Caminin Stimulation
3.3.4	Immunocytochemistry
3.3.5	Measurements of neurite growth
3.3.6	Immunoblotting
3.4 F	143
3.4.I	Hsp27 sIRNA results in a decrease in Hsp27 protein expression in DRG neurons
3.4.2	Silencing of Hsp27 expression via RNAi results in decreased neurite growth, and branching. 147
3.4.3	Hsp27 siRNA affects the colocalization of Hsp27 and actin in neurite shafts and growth
cones.	152
3.4.4	Overexpression of Hsp27 protein levels by transfection with pIRES2-EGFP-Ha27 results in
increa	red neurite growth and branching
3.5 D	Iscusson
3.6 #	ONOWLEDGEMENTS:

NEUKC	WS IN L	11RO	167
4.1	INTE	ODUCTION	
4.2	MA	ERIALS AND METHODS	171
4	2.1 M	euronal Cultures	
4	2.2 6	NA Constructs, siRNA Constructs and Cotransfection	
4	2.3 1	pminin Stimulation	
4	2.4 A	nmunocytochemistry and imaging	
4	2.5 A	leasurement of Neurite Growth	
4	2.6 A	nmunoblotting	175
4.3	RESI	05	176
4	3.1 7	he phosphorylation state of Hsp27 affects neurite growth	
- 4	3.2 7	he phosphorylation state of Hsp27 alters F-actin in structures of the growing neurite	
	4.3.2.1	Endogenous Hsp27 and F-actin	
	4.3.2.2	Overexpression of haHsp27	
	4.3.2.3	Overexpression of Hsp27-AA	189
	4.3.2.4	Overexpression of Hsp27-AE	195
	4.3.2.5	Overexpression of Hsp27-EE or Hsp27-EA	195
	4.3.2.6	Overexpression of Hsp27-8(5-23)	197
4.4	Desc	USSION	198
CHAPT	ER 5: IN	HIBITION OF P38 MAPK ACTIVITY ATTENUATES HSP27 PHOSPHORYLATION AND	
INCREA	SES TH	E F-ACTIN/G-ACTIN RATIO IN DRG NEURONS	208
5.1	INTE	DOUCTION:	
5.2	MA	DRIALS AND METHODS	210

CHAPTER 4: HSP27 PHOSPHORYLATION IS INVOLVED IN NEURITE GROWTH IN ADULT SENSORY

5.2	MATERIALS AND METHODS	
5.2	1 Neuronal Cultures	
5.2	2 Inhibitor Experiments	
5.2	3 Immunoblotting	
5.2	4 G-octin / F-octin In vivo Assay Kit	
5.2	5 Cell labeling and imaging	
5.2	6 Mean Grey Values of Labeled Cells	
5.3	RESULTS	214
5.4	Discussion	220
HAPTER	R 6: DISCUSSION AND SUMMARY	223
6.1	RESEARCH OUTCOMES	
6.1	1 The Effects of the presence or absence of Hsp27 in neurite initiation and growth	
6.1	2 The role that phosphorylation of Hsp27 plays in neurite growth	
6.1	3 The effect of Hsp27 on the cytoskeleton.	
6.2	Future Detections	
EFEREN	ICES	251

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Location of the DRG neuron,	5
Figure 1.2: Structure of the neurite,	9
Figure 1.3: Actin filament structure and treadmilling,	
Figure 1.4: Nucleation,	
Figure 1.5: Regulation of actin filament levels,	
Table 1.1: Drugs that can alter actin filament polymerization,	
Figure 1.6: The molecular clutch model of actin based protrusion,	
Figure 1.7: Proteins that bundle and crosslink actin filaments,	
Figure 1.8: Structure of Lamellipodia and Filopodia,	25
Figure 1.9: Actin molecular motor myosin,	
Figure 1.10: Microtubule Structure,	
Figure 1.11: Three Steps in Neurite Elongation,	
Figure 1.12: Growth cone turning:	53
Figure 1.13. Neurite Branching by Growth Cone Splitting,	
Figure 1.14: Interstitial Branching of Neurites,	
Figure 1.15: The structure and phosphorylation of Hsp27,	
Figure 1.16: Direct interactions of Hsp27 and actin,	
Figure 1.17: The indirect effects of Hsp27 on the actin cytoskeleton,	81
Table 1.2: Mutations in Hsp27 implicated in Peripheral Neuropathies,	
Figure 2.1: Laminin stimulation elicits lamellopodia and process formation in adult sensory	
neurons.,	100
Figure 2.2: Hsp27 co-localizes with actin and tubulin at early stages of neurite growth.,	103
Figure 2.3: pHsp27 also co-localizes with actin and tubulin at early stages of neurite growth	4,.105
Figure 2.4: Hsp27 continues to be expressed and localized with cytoskeletal elements in new	arons
and neuritic networks,	109
Figure 2.5: Co-localization of Hsp27 and tubulin in growth cones of growing neurites.,	111
Figure 2.6: Disruption of the actin cytoskeleton results in aberrant neurite growth.,	114
Figure 2.7: p38 MAPK inhibition blocks phosphorylation of Hsp27.,	118
Figure 2.8: Aberrant neurite growth following inhibition of Hsp27 phosphorylation.,	121
Figure 2.9: Flattened growth cones and processes show co-localization of tubulin and Hsp2	7., 123
Figure 3.1: RNAi efficiently silences Hsp27 protein expression.,	145
Figure 3.2: Decreases in Hsp27 expression result in decreased neurite growth.	148
Figure 3.3: Silencing Hsp27 protein expression by siRNA results in a decrease in neurile gr and branching	towth 150
Floure 3.4: Hun27 siRNA affects colocalization of Hun27 and actin in neurite shafts and on	owth
cones 24 h after LN stimulation	153
Figure 3.5: Hsp27 siRNA treatment influences Hsp27 and tubulin colocalization in neurites	and
results in punctated Hsp27,	
Figure 3.6: Expression of exogenous Hsp27 enhances neurite growth in pIRES2-EGFP-Ha2	0
transfected neurons, 12 h after transfection.	
Figure 3.7: Expression of exogenous Hsp27 in DRG neurons significantly affects growth.,	161
Figure 4.1: Cotransfection of rat Hsp27 siRNA and exogenous hamster Hsp27, depletes	
endopenesis rat Har?? while expression humater Har??	179

Figure 4.2: The phosphorylation state of Hsp27 plays a role in neurite growth, while the WDPF
domain is not required for rescue of Hsp27-siRNA induced decreased growth.,
Figure 4.3: The phosphorylation state of Hsp27 affects neurite growth.,
Figure 4.4: F-actin is present in structures of the growing neurite,
Figure 4.5: The effect of Hsp27 phosphorylation and the WDPF domain on Hsp27 and F-actin
colocalization during early stages of growin,
rigure 4.6: The effect of Hsp27 prosphorysation and the wDPF domain on Hsp27 and F-actin colocalization in mature neurites,
Figure 4.7: The phosphorylation state of Hsp27 alters the location of F-actin in the growth cone, 194
Figure 4.8: When expressed in DRG neurons Hsp27-∆(5-23) forms aggregates in 40% of cells, 199
Table 4.1: The effect of Hsp27 phoehorylation mutants on neurite growth
Table 4.2: The effect of Hsp27 phosphorylation mutants on the localization of Hsp27 and actin
Figure 5 1: n38 MAPK inhibition blocks phoenhorolation of Han27 at the S15 and S86 sites 215
Figure 5.2: n38 MAPK inhibition alters the E-actin to G-actin ratio within the DRG neuron.
resulting in increased E-actin and decreased G-actin 218
Figure 6.1: Silencing Hsp27 expression by siRNA results in a decrease in neurite initiation
Figure 6.2: Expression of Hsp27 in adult DRG cryosections. 230
Figure 6.3: Neurite growth is affected by different populations of DRG neurons. 232
Figure 6.4: ClustalW alignment of rat and hamster Hsp27. 235
Figure 6.5: Diagram of wild type, phosphorylation mutants, and deletion mutant hamster Hsp27.
237
Figure 6.6: Hsp27 phosphorylation mutants affect oligomerizaton. 240
Figure 6.7: Immunoprecipitation of Hup27, NF-L and NF-200, 246

# List of Abbreviations

+TIPS	plus end tracking proteins
ADP	adenosine diphosphate
Ala(A)	alanine
ANOVA	analysis of variance
APC	adenomatous polyposis coli
Akt/PKB	protein kinase B
AraC	cytosine arabinoside
Arg /A	argining
Arp2/3	complex of actin related proteins 2 and 3
ATP	adenosine-5'-triphosphate
BAD	Bcl-2 associated death promoter
Bel-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
BDNF	brain derived neurotrophic factor
cdc42	cell division cycle 42
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
¢GMP	cyclic guanosine monophosphate
CHO	chinese hamster ovary cell line
CLIPs	cytoplasmic linker proteins
CLASP	CLIP-associated protein
CMT	Charcot-Marie Tooth disease
CNS	central nervous system
CP	capping protein
CytD	cytochalasin D
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
dHMN	distal hereditary motor neuropathy
DRG	dorsal root ganglion
EB	end binding protein
Ena	'enabled' protein
ECL	enhanced chemiluminesence
ECM	extracellular matrix
EGFP	enhanced green fluorescent protein
F-actin	filamentous actin
FAK	focal adhesion kinase
G-actin	globular actin
GDNF	glial cell line derived neurotrophic factor
GDP	guanosine diphosphate
GFAP	glial fibrillary acidic protein
Glu (E)	glutamic acid
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
HeLa	HeLa cell line

HRP	horseradish peroxidase	
HSF	heat shock transcription factor	
HSP	heat shock proteins	
Hsp27/HspB1	heat shock protein 27	
Hsp20	heat shock protein 20	
Hsp70	heat shock protein 70	
IB4+ve	eriffonia simplicifolia isolectin B4 binding DRG neurons	
ICC	immunocytochemistry	
KIFs	kinesin superfamily of proteins	
KIFIA	kinesin family member 1A	
KPS	Lysine-Proline-Serine	
LN	laminin	
MAG	myelin associated glyconrotein	
MAPs	Microtubale associated proteins	
MAPI	Microtubule associated protein family 1	
MAP2	Microtubale associated protein family 1	
MAP2c	Microtubale associated protein 2c	
MAPIA	Microtubale associated protein 1A	
MAPIB	Microtubale associated protein 1B	
MAPK	mitopen activated protein kinase	
MK3	MAD kinese activated protein kinase	
MKS	MAR kinase-activated protein kinase 5	
MKK2	mitogen activated protein kinase activated protein kinase-2	
NB	neurobasal	
NEFL	neurofilament light chain gene	
NE	neurofilament	
NE-H/ NE-200	neurofilament heavy chain	
NE-L	neurofilament light chain	
NE-M	neurofflament medium chain	
NGE	nerve growth factor	
NT-3	neurotrophin 3	
OD	optical density	
P18 MAPK	p38-mediated mitogen activated protein kinase	
PBS	p38-mediated mitogen activated protein kinase	
DC12	phosphate burrered saline	
PDZ	precentromocytoma cen nine	
DU	post synaptic density protein domain	
nHen27	photohim boliology	
PIASP2	Phoenhatide/inositel (4.5) hinkomhate	
PKC	protain kinana C	
PKD	protein kinase C	
DI	protein kinase D	
DMS	polytysine paripharal particus sustant	
Basl	peripheral nervous system	
NILLI	ras-related C3 botumum toxin substrate 1	

RET	transmembrane tyrosine receptor kinase	
RhoA	Rho associated coiled-coil kinase	
RNA	ribonucleic acid	
RNAi	interfering RNA	
ROCK	RhoA kinase	
SB	p38 MAPK inhibitor - SB203580 and SB202190	
SDS PAGE	sodium dodecvl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis	
Ser (S)	serine	
SEM	standard error of the mean	
sHSP	small heat shock protein family	
siRNA	small interfering RNA	
TBS	tris-buffered saline	
TBS-T	tris-buffered saline plus tween-20	
TGF-B	transforming growth factor beta	
Thr	threenine	
TIFF	tagged image file format	
Trk	tropomyosin-related kinase	
TrkA	tropomyosin-related kinase A	
TrkB	tropomyosin-related kinase B	
TrkC	tropomyosin-related kinase C	
TTL -	tubulin tyrosine ligase	
VASP	vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein	
WDPF	tryptophan - aspartic acid - proline - phenylalanine	

# CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Hsp27 in neurite regeneration

The main hypothesis for this thesis is that Hsp27 directly and Indirectly interacts with the meroard cycloakteints in influence neutrine initiation and growth patterning required formentir requestration. The internolocation will be compared and the decis, mannely, assund regressration and in vitro models of efficiting neutric growth, republicion of the cytotaketton in stages of neutrine initiation and growth patterning. Here Sheck Provises (18Pa), there of Hsp27 in survival, and interactions between Hsp27 and the action, minorholds and according may be involved in more bits models in neutring movels.

#### 1.1.1 Regeneration

In order to regain function following axis higher, regimentation of an operational connection in an increasing. These stops are required in this process: the higherd neuron must where the damaged account less their to start the total target, and the axis must be remyeliated and form functional synapses on the target. Both the survival of the injurch downers and its ability to form functional synapses depend on its ability to extend and group precisely to information of a group of the transaction data damaged as one negative the finanzian of a growther down and regrowth the damaged as one negative the finanzian of a growther down and the growther data one. Growth cores are the active structures that regulate searche extension and publicate during development and regumenting (reviewed an laber et al., 2003). Growth cores are that to sticit a section type with response to use the top of the transaction graduence during development and regumenting (reviewed an laber et al., 2003). cues and transduce these cues into physical trarrangement of cellular components via signaling cascades. Activation of a surface recentor trippers a specific intracellular signaling pathway, the stimulation of different recentors engage different signaling intermediates to obtain receptor specific effects. For example, pathways that signal to promote growth and regeneration are triggered by the presence of growth factors (neurotrophins - NGF, BDNF, and GDNF) and extracellular matrix proteins such as laminin, collagen and fibronectin (Teng and Tang. 2006: Tucker and Mearow, 2008). Compounds that signal to inhibit growth are triggered by components of myelin (myelinassociated glycoprotein (MAG) (McKerracher et al., 1994), Nogo (Chen et al., 2000; GrandPre et al. 2000) and the oligodendrocyte-myelin elycoprotein (OMen)(Liu et al. 2006)) and the component of the ECM, chondroitin sulfate proteoplycans (Cafferty et al., 2007; Galtrev and Fawcett, 2007). Whether a particular environment is permissive or non-permissive for growth will depend upon the sum of the intracellular signaling cascades that are activated within the cell. In the central nervous system (CNS) axons do not regenerate to any great extent after injury, this is thought to be primarily due to the non-permissive growth environment, as well as an absence of appropriate growth promoting factors, resulting in a retraction bulb instead of a growth cone at the tip of the proximal axon stump (Erturk et al., 2007). In the peripheral nervous system (PNS), axons generally regenerate quite well, relative to CNS axons (Fenrich and Gordon, 2004; Fu and Gordon, 1997; Stoll et al., 2002).

The PNS is composed of all nerves lying peripheral to the pial covering of the CNS and include the cranicospinal and autonomic nerves. Besides being a permissive environment for the axonal growth of PNS axons, the PNS in slow a permissive environment for CNS axonal growth, likely due to its growth stimulating extracellular matrix components such as luminin, collagon and fibronectin (Fu and Goedon; 1997; Grinpe and Silver, 2002; McKernscher et al., 1996; Vogelezang et al., 2001; Vogelezang et al., 1999).

## 1.1.1.1 In vitro models of axonal growth or regeneration

The finding that both CNS and PNS nearows will represente their nearies in a permittive environment has led to in vitor models being widely used to study the goords behavior of naries this infinite and examines in the CNS and perpletent nearms. In many models, neontrophin stimulation is required for survival as well as to effect nearier growth. Another widely used paradigm involves efficient perceiting growth by simulating models, neontrophin stimulation is required for survival as well as to effect nearier monter. The structure structure of the structure of the structure matter decal next gauging (DKG) scenarios where not all cells required to a given memorymeight (DKker et al., 2000, and where nearestrophins are not required for survival of the matter nextens toolker.

#### 1.1.1.2 Dorsal Root Ganglion neurons

DRG neurons are sensory neurons that carry information from the periphery to the CNS via single extensive axon. The cell body, located in the dorsal rote ganglion, puts out a single axon that bifurcates and sends one process centrally through the dorsal rote of the spinal cort to suspace in the dorsal aspect of the senial cort. and the other encores Is sen projectarily to inservate either the skin, muscle or viscues of opensor (Devor, 1990) (Figure 1.1). Due to the pseudomipolar morphology of the DRG nearon is is difficult to determine which nearonal process in the scan which is the dendrite when using in vitro enhances, and for this reason the process in smally called a nearbit and will be referred to as such. As vivo the peripheral branch of the DRG nearbit is able to regenerate while the cantact branch in generally considered to be unable to regenerate (Cai et al., 2011; Cai et al., 2005; Cai et al., 2012; Cai et al., 2001; Cai et al., 2005; Cai et al., 2005;

The mature mammalian DRG is composed of a beteropeneous population of cells characterized by their neurochemistry, morphology, trophic requirements, and sensory modalities (Averill et al., 1995; Gavazzi et al., 1999; Ishikawa et al., 2005; Petruska et al., 2000: Priestley et al., 2002). In practice neurons of the DRG are classified into three primary categories: (1) Large and medium diameter neurons, that typically have large myelinated axons. These neurons are identified by their expression of neurofilament heavy chain (Averill et al., 1995: Ishikawa et al., 2005: Priestley et al., 2002: Tucker et al., 2006), and also express the p75 neurotrophin receptor and TrkC, although the presence of TrkA and TrkB receptors are also reported (Averill et al., 1995; Ishikawa et al., 2005: Priestley et al., 2002). These neurons are therefore able to respond to NT-3. NGF and BDNF which correspondingly bind to TrkC. TrkA, and Trk B. (2) Pentidergic neurons, consisting of both unmyelinated neurons with a small cell diameter, and cells with a medium cell diameter and small myelinated axons. Cells in this population express high levels of both the p75 neurotrophin receptor and TrkA, and therefore respond preferentially to NGF (Averill et al., 1995; Ishikawa et al., 2005; Priestley et al., 2002). (3) Non-pentidergic neurons

# Figure 1.1: Location of the DRG neuron

The Dorsal Root Ganglion, located peripheral to the spinal cord, contains the cell bodies of the dorsal nost ganglion neurons. Dorsal nost ganglion neurons put out a single aron that bifurcates and sends one process centrally through the dorsal nost of the spinal cord to send signals to the brain, and the other process is sent peripherally to innervate either the skin, muscle or viscent oreans. *Struk et al.* 2007).



characterized by their ability to bind the beein *Grifloia* SJB(c)(d)(a)(1)(1), have primority cell bodies with a small dimeter and unsysteinated axon (Averiff et al., 1995; bihlawas et al., 2005; Priordup et al., 2002). These areasons are reported ant to tespess the p75 or Tik receptors and are therefore unrepondive to NGR, NT3 and BDNH, however they do express the REET receptor and do respond to GDNF (Demett et al., 1996; kathihu et al., 2005). Holliver et al., 1997). The difference expression of manitotraphilite receptors within the three populations permits the regrestration of manitotraphilite receptors within the three populations permits the regrestration of autoprepatitions of DRG mesons to be studied adhivabily with differing memorphilites. Additionally, because adult DRG business, and a solid and the regrestration of neurotraphilites in the DRG mesons as an entire grave, then obvisiting complications of neurotraphin signaling or movereponvice populations.

#### 1.1.2 The role of the cytoskeleton in neurite growth

Since Rames y Cajal first detered the growth core in sections of embryonic spiral core stained with silver chromate (Cajal, 1990), scientistis have been intrigued by the days of renovas and the actions of their graviton cores. In the ardy  $22^{00}$  entry it was confirmed that, affluenceious attecture described by Cajal as a neurofibril network arove in the cell body and extanded into the neurine (Cajal, 1925). It has since been discovered that Caji's venerabilitatin atvorks, or ordering of a sub-second cytosketens, comissio of actin filamente, microitabeles, and intermediate filaments, and that these components are essential in minimizing neuries tracture. Additionally sentitationare and growth participant for the components, banching, and growthere described that these components are essential in minimizing neuries tracture. Additionally neuriles that these components are essential in minimizing neuries tracture. Additionally neuriles that these components are essential in minimizing neuriles tracture. Additionally neuriles that these components are essential in minimizing neuriles tracture. Additionally neuriles that these components are essential in minimizing neuriles tracture. Additionally neuriles that these components are essential in minimizing neuriles tracture. Additionally neuriles tractures are proved participants and proved materials and proved metals.

securities transchilder regulation of ratio filluments and microhubelse. Compounds in the extracellular environment are recognized by cell surface receptors on the neuron and transformed into interacting signals that converge on the cystokletion at routh in morphological changes. In addition to cytosheteal rearrangement these processes require synthesis and transport of cytosheteal and membrane components to the sile of growth for incomposition in the proving maximum.

## 1.1.2.1 Neurite structure

The neurite can be structurelly divided into two distinct regions; the world studi, and the distal tip of the growing neurite referred to as the growth coce (Figure 1.2). The neurite shall comprises the majority of the length of the neurite and topmently of the majority of the length of the neurite and the simuly used for transport. All three cytocheletal components are present in the neurite shaft. Microbabales are bundled into a dense parallel array and give structure to the neurite as well as tracks for molecular motions to transport cargo. Neurofflaments are also bundles the shaft and influence the diameter and conduction velocity of the neurite. Actin filaments are present directly under the cell membrane that surrounds the microbabales and neurofflaments. Observing the physical location of cytosheletat elements in the neurite highlights how they are positioned to be involved in forming and regulating the structure of the neurite.

The growth cone consists of three domains: the peripheral domain, the transition domain and the central domain (Figure 1.2). The peripheral domain is an actin rich domain comprised primarily of the higher order actin structures lamellipodium and

#### Figure 1.2: Structure of the neurite

The neutrine consists of two structured domains, the neutrine head and the growth coses. Within the meanite shaft microstubules are hundled and give enterture to the neutrin, hence the meanity of the structure of the neutrine. Neutrine the neutrine has a found in the shaft and influence the diameter and conduction velocity of the results. Actin filtments are present directly under the cell membrane that surrounds the microstubules and neutrofilaments. The growth core consists of three domains: the prophead domain, the transition domain and the learned adomain. The projectual domain is neither rich and commains actin filtments in humelipodians and floppedir. The transition domains in the interface between the peripheral adomains, the actin filtments in this region limit how far microstubules from the central domains, the actin filtments in this region limit how far microstubules from the central domain presentate into the peripheral domain.



Biopodia undergoing constant elongation und remetion as they are receptuized in response to the aurounding environment they are probing. The transition domain is the infinite between the popularity and certaind adminis. Proteins in the injust induce the formation of an actin rich are that constant microthubles from the central domain and limits how the microbades presents in its heyrityheard domain. The certain domain and microbades are present in its heyrityheard domain. The certain domain constaints microthubles, argueffect, vecicies and neurofiltances. Microthubles in the central domain are no longer bound into dense boundid arrays as in the neuries shaft, insteal they are splayed apart and even from longe during profiles of growth core pausing (Doma and Centre, 2000), to and Kell, 2019; 101; et al. 2008.

#### 1.1.2.1.1 Actin in the neurite

The protein actic comprises many of the structures that determine the shape of the neuron and because it forms dynamic structures it imparts flucishily to the cell allowing its changes hape the responde to varying conditions. An enretinoand previously, the artive structure of the goving neurite is the growth cones. The growth cone is a highly motile anceuter whose growth can be specifically equilated in order to find its way to a particular because in the body. Within the cell, actin exists in two states: action monomers, also known as globular actin (Cl-actici) and action flaments, also known a microfilaments and filamenous action (f-actici), and these filaments associate to from higher order actin structures lamellipodium and filopodis. The fine and precise directional movements of the growth cores are active to the regulation of activ via actim higher noder. Action house movements are in the most structure activity flaments that the movements of the growth cores are active to the travelation of activity activity and the precises. Activity and the structure is an efficient and the structures have been activity activity activity and the structures have been activity activity activity and the structures have been activity activit crosslink actin into higher order structures, attach actin filaments to membranes and the ECM, or act as actin motor proteins.

Actin filaments are bi-helical polymers of actin monomers that assemble (polymerize) and disassemble (depolymerize) by the addition and removal of actin monomers at the ends of the polymer. Actin monomers are asymmetric and associate in a specific orientation leading to the filaments being a polar structure (Choo and Bray, 1978). The polarity of the actin filament results in the ends of an actin filament polymerizing at different rates; the rapidly growing end is the barbed end and the slower growing end, and the end with the greatest depolymerization, is the pointed end. In vitro actin monomers interact with adenine nucleotides. ATP or ADP, to promote the addition of monomers at the barbed end and their removal at the pointed end (Figure 1.3) (Korn et al., 1987). A variety of actin binding proteins regulate actin filament assembly by catalyzing ATP/ADP exchange, sequestering G-actin, promoting formation of new actin filaments (nucleation see Figure 1.4) and to stabilize or destabilize actin filaments in order to promote or inhibit reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton (Figure 1.5). Additionally plants, funci and sponses have created a series of toxins as self defence mechanisms that bind to actin in similar ways as actin binding proteins, when purified these toxins are useful in the study of actin filament dynamics (Table 1.1).

Even when under steady state conditions actin flammens are dynamic and undergo a phenomenok nonwn as treadmilling. During treadmilling the rate of polymerization at the barbed end is equal to the rate of depolymerization at the pointed end, resulting in the Himment maintaining a constant length seen though there is a net flax of submits moving

# Figure 1.3: Actin filament structure and treadmilling

In vitro actin moments intenset with admine machenders, ATP or ADP, in a manner that promotes the addition of monomers at the harden cell and their removal at at the pointed end. ATP bound actin (yellow) is performably added to she harden edd of a fait financies and after its incorporation into the filament the ATP hound actin has a fait financies and after its incorporation into the filament the ATP hound actin has a reduced both the ATP and is always released, after release the ATP hound actin has a reduced both fill of the in neighboring submits and is usually dissociated from the pointed end. (1977).



# Figure 1.4: Nucleation

Nucleation by an actin bioding protein is required to cathyte actin filtment formation because two actin monomers alone have a weak attraction for each other and required sources and one action monomers, however a time of actin monomers biod fightly and facilitatus elongation of the filaments (Cooper et al., 1993; Frieden, 1993; Teheuman and Kom; 1993). Actin bioling proteins act as actio modulates and holitate the formation of a trimer of actin submittin, and therefore auxin in or unrecoming the articeliting step is actin filament growth. From histophere the formation of unbranched actin filaments by harbed end mediation and dengation (Goode and Eck, 2007), whereas the Arg-27 complex is thought to require a pre-existing filament from which a new branch can be initiated, and therefore existing harbest due to metworks fulfilms (tot. 1998).



#### Figure 1.5: Regulation of actin filament levels

Decrements in the levels of filamentous actics can be addressed by actin bioding proteins in summerson ways such as by primording disasembly, are recenting assembly and verying entities filaments. The spin of the filament has been assembly and averying it depulyerization (Bunnett and Addisould) can block to ADP action to analyze depulyerization (Bunnett and Addisould) can block to ADP action to analyze and a server starin filaments, and Addisouldy cap the distance barbow distance and a server staring filaments. The advect and the spin of the additions to the atriftion (Staron, Star). Thysonia block and an someones and prevent their additions to the atriffilament (Dalvaes et al., 2006). Capping proton (ET) physicals to the harder of a of action filaments to provent anomably and disasembly at this and, however CP has no effect on the pointed end where continued disasembly will result in a horter filament (Cooper and Sept, 2005).

At the binding proteins can also act to increase the levels of filaments use this the cell by stabilizing the actin filament, promoting polymerization, and machanipus even filament. Actin filaments may be stabilised by actin binding proteins that preventing the interaction of other "harmful" actin binding potentian that price in a smort that promotes further binding of professionis and prevention shall be actin filament. Tropopoysin atabilizes actin filaments by binding and affecting the filament approximation promotes further binding of proposysticant approximation filaments (broad Oxa, 2002). Polymertazion of the actin filaments can be promoted by pretricts such as predicin that biold to actin monomers and lexificate their additions to the barbed of of the actin filaments provention and acting the action of the action filaments preventing the addition of copping proteins and facilitating the addition of action monomers (Hoar et al., 2020).



Drug	Binding Action	Result
Phalloidin	Binds and stabilizes actin filaments	Net increase in actin filaments (Dancker et al., 1975)
Cytochalasin	Binds barbed end of actin filaments, promotes the depolymerization of actin filaments	Loss of actin filament dynamics (Cooper, 1987)
Jasplakinolide	Binds and stabilizes actin filaments (is membrane permeable – unlike Phalloidin)	Net increase in actin filaments (Xie and Forer, 2008)
Latrunculin A	Binds monomeric G-actin to inhibit actin polymerization	Net decrease in actin filaments and filament dynamics (Wakatsuki et al., 2001)

## Table 1.1: Drugs that can alter actin filament polymerization

filtnerer maintaining a constant length even shough here is a text flux of subushis moving through the filtament (Theriot, 1997; Wegner, 1976). In migrating cells and growth cores through the filtament (Theriot, 1997; Wegner, 1976). In migrating cells and growth cores transmission of acid structures. The prevailing hypothesis for this protration is the molecular clutch model illustrating that physical coupling between the ECM and acids filtaments allows traction forces to be transmitted to the substrate, resulting in local stopping of treatmilling and continued polymerization resulting in filterat arguments of the actin filtament (Figure 1.6) (Inset et al. 2006; Acids Indeng proteins, uses an ankyrine, 'molecular (Higure actinin and catenin, that are able to link actin filtaments to the plasma membrane by binding to instrand more proteins, play an important role in the formation of the molecular duch in response to extracellular case (Remeet and Baines, 2001; Clark and Borges, 1995).

In vitro actin Illamenta are able to form higher order structures such as the mesh like get in Innetlipedium, and the linear bundles in filopodia. These higher order structures are dependent on actin binding proteins to facilitate the attachment of separate actin filaments to one another (Figure 1.7) and to facilitate attachments to the ECM in order to assist in protusion a described by the molecular cluth model.

Lamellipodium are found in the motile structures of migrating cells and in growth cones and consist of a branched network of actin filaments, undergoing treadmilling, with their barbed ends facing the planna membrane and the pointed ends directed towards the interior of the cell or neurite (Figure 1.8). The branched network is achieved by actin biding proving charging themsets together at right angles, and by new

#### Figure 1.6: The molecular clutch model of actin based protrusion

A. Actin filtements undergo treat-filling in virty, during treatabiliting the rate of abauits addition at the burbed end is equal to the rate of dupolymerization at the pointed end, resulting in the filtement matrixing a constant length, even though there is not fill and submit moving through the filtement. Reingrade flow of the set in filtement result in the defin filtement metaling its attreation within the cells. B. Actin binding proteins that consolide the set infiltements to be membrane and exactualization at submit an obsecular check by physically coupling the ECM to the set in filtement allowing traction from the transmitted to the substrate and continued actin filtement physericitator result in the transmitted to the substrate and continued actin filtement physericitator result in filtement physericitator physericitatore physericitator physeri


## Figure 1.7 : Proteins that bundle and crosslink actin filaments

Actin binding proteins that bundle actin filaments, such as fascin, have two actin binding sites close together resulting in actin filaments being bound together into stiff parallel bundles (hwhari et al., 2003). These parallel bundles that can strengthen the cell as actin rins, and form protonions into the extracellular space as filopodia which are structures found in growth ocens.

Actio binding proteins that result in the formation of an actin filament gal, such as filamin, have two actin binding domain that are connected by a heat indusp resulting in formation of a bose gal by utiding filaments indusped ar roughly right galange. (Force q al., 2004). Consultating of actin filaments into any narrallel branched arrays is important in the formation of Hamellipsdum, a sheet like protonism filed with a branched arrays of in the formation of Hamellipsdum, a sheet like protonism filed with a branched arrays of a static propert at the chaining equal or main term of an all proved consets.

# Fascin

contain 2 actin binding sites to bundle



## Filamin



contains 2 actin briding sites connected by a bent arm to link actin filaments into a meshwork

## Figure 1.8: Structure of Lamellipodium and Filopodia

Landlipolitima are protunitive will like structures, composed of a branched network of actin filaments that undergo submit polymerization at their harbed ends and depolymerization at their pointed ends. In order to achieve and maintain the branched whowho, new filaments are constantly being mackated as branches off existing actin filaments by the Arg22 complex. The depth of the actin filament network is strictly regulated by 1 capping protein to cap see filaments, limiting their length, and by coffin ading in depolymerization at the filament posted end.

Filopedia are thin finger like protencifons filled with actin filaments cross linked by facin into linear bundles. The actin filaments within filopedia clongate with the assistance of EnaVASP, to protrude into the ECM. (Figure adapted from Figure 3 Multil and Lappalainen, 2008).



Filaments being nucleated by the Arg2/3 complex as banches off existing actin filaments In order to maintain the length of the actin network individual actin filament length is regulated by capping protein to cap new filaments, additionally coffin aids in depolymerization the filament pointed end.

Fispedia are thin flager like protusions that probe the extract-like environment. The protunions are filled with fight linear bandles of acin flaments, with their barder and enpirituing towards be features methaness (Figure 18). Explorations have bardened of a filterent, and entropynetic bardened from a softward from the barder and softward (Mallwareput and Mitchions, 1999). Flapodal formation is thought to be initiated by dorecursineors of others as etd oracippotentization of the target methanism networks of nomin machanical acin filterances (Mallward) and Lappelaines, 2000. The barbed ends of these filterances are converged together by the activity of the molecular motor sports. X (see Figure 1.9 for nece on acin molecular motors) (bield et al., 2006), Takous et al., 2007). The force for membrane deformations during flapodal changes in by byblicited to disc encoder networks and define the barbed ends of the burbled ends in filterents obspite with the assistence of TacAVASP, and are crues liked by March filterents obspite with the assistence of TacAVASP, and are crues liked by factor form a stiff biogeded tarbaness of the appendixed. Together 1, burber form the stiff biogeded tarbaness of the appendixed by the filterent to.

Signaling pathways will result in favoring the formation of one actin structure over another by differing in the activation of actin binding proteins in a particular location. The action of actin binding proteins is tightly connected to signal transduction

## Figure 1.9: Actin molecular motor myosin

Myonina area larger family of motor proteins that work along an actin tilaneer in a directed fashion, besides their involvement in much contraction they are involved in a valication and grantife transport in non-muccic Contraction. The support proteins of one or two motor heat domains that bind to the actin filament and move along it in an APT dependent memory (Richards and Cavaller-Swin), 2003). The tail of the myosin is implemented built and area one other memory in the cell.



pathwaye, and they are regulated by second mencempre, phospholipida, protein kinane, and other signaling compounds specific for particular extracellular signals. For example, humilipodiant formations requires branching and anging of actin filterance, as well as other proteins to disassemble the pointed end of the structure. Proteins that are involved in the processes of creating and regularing laundifloydiam (undue Ary27), capping protein, cofflin, and gendrating laundifloydiam (undue Ary27), capping protein, cofflin, and gendrating laundifloydiam (undue Ary27), capping transition and maintenance, while protein that are to sholk humellipodium formation are excluded (launbarg et al., 1999; Kerebera and Svitkina, 2006; Mejillano et al., 2004). In constrat, the formation of filepodia mappines retrainment of proteins that proceeding and humeling and facilitate of actin filtancest elongation and humelling, and thus Enar/VASP and facilitate of actin filtancest elongation and humelling, and thus Enar/VASP and facilitate of actin filtancest elongation and humelling, and thus Enar/VASP and facilitate of actin filtancest elongation and humelling, and thus Enar/VASP and facilitate of actin filtancest elongation and humelling and thus Enar/VASP and facilitate of the elited in the set of filtepodial formation (Figure LS) (Cohan et al., 2001; Koroboxa and Svikkina, 2008). Therefore by regularing proteins involved in opting, buschling, and filtancet elongation signaling will regularite the actin filtenar strukture to the cell.

Activation of mult Bio-GTMene by growth factor and integrin receptors are possible mechanisms by which a cell can signal to induce lamedipodium and folyodia formation as both can usediate like and oxel accivations (Dismost Manuelle and Hall, 2002; Hall, 1998; Price et al., 1998), and Recl activation signals formation of lamelipodium while cdc2 activation results in the formation of filopodia (Nobes and Hall, 1995; Steffer et al., 2004).

## 1.1.2.1.2 Tubulin in the neurite

Microtubules are an essential part of the neuronal cytoxlecteon that gives the axons structure and their phenomenon of dynamic instability plays an important role in axon elongation and retruction. Additionally they comprise the structural tracks on which motor proteins transport cargo from the cell body required for neurite growth minierance, and signalling to the neurite igna back.

Microtublea are polarized areasteries composed of adult hubbin dimens assembled into long bollow cylinders with a diameter of 25m, and a perimeter of thitsen dimens (Figure 1.10) (Annos, 2000) (Ladown, 1994). The interclubale is suff and difficult is beed due to all of the bends that are found between the subwith that comprise it. Due to the arrangement of adiy abundin the resulting insteament is polarized resulting in the and the other enables belower. It shoulds is a composed being reflected to a the minors dot. The polynomization and developmentation activities diffic adipending on the cod of the microtubule, such that the plan end is dynamic and increases and decreases a length, while the minor out, multiplate end to submit and increases and decreases a length, while the minor out and geotypenetration activities diffic adipending on the cod of the microtubule, such that the plan end is dynamic and increases and decreases a length, while the minor out on the subscience of the state and encreases in the state of the state of the state of the origin monomer has end binding site for GTP, although only the GTP binding site on the formozoner is in a possition where malecticidies may be exchanged and therefore may be stated and there areas the state of the state

Free GTP bound a/β tubulin can be incorporated into the microtubule and its bound GTP is hydrolyzed into a GDP molecule shortly after incorporation. This delay in GTP hydrolysis results in a GTP cap existing on the distal tip of a growing microtubule.

### Figure 1.10: Microtubule Structure

A. Tubulin dimers are assembled from one a-tubulin subunit (blue) and one B- tubulin subunit (grev), each a or ß subunit has one binding site for GTP. The GTP bound to the a-tubulin monomer is bound in the interface between the a and B monomers and is an integral part of the a/B tubulin heterodimers (orange) whereas GTP binding site on the Bmonomer is in a position where nucleotides may be exchanged and therefore may be found with GTP or GDP bound (reviewed in (Wade, 2007)). B. The a/B-tubulin beterodimers are arranged lengthwise in a linear array of alternating a and ß subunits to form a protofilament. Hydrolysis of the B-tubulin bound GTP to GDP results in a conformational change in the n/B tubulin leading to a slight curvature outwards of the protofilament, C. Microtubules are polarized structures composed of tubulin dimers assembled into long hollow cylinders with a diameter of 25nm. Due to the arrangement of a/B subunits the resulting structure is polarized resulting in the end of the microtubule where ß subunits are exposed being referred to as the plus end, and the other end with the a subunits referred to as the minus end. D. In mammals thirteen protofilaments constitute the circumference of a microtubule. E. Free GTP bound a/B tubulin can be incorporated into the microtubule and its bound GTP is converted into a GDP molecule shortly after incorporation, the delay in GTP hydrolysis results in a stable GTP can existing on the tip of the growing microtubule. F. When addition of tubulin dimers occurs faster than GTP hydrolysis the GTP cap is maintained and slow growth of the microtubule occurs. G. When GTP hydrolysis occurs faster than a/B tubulin subunit addition the result is the loss of the microtubules GTP cap. The loss of the GTP cap means that the slight curvature from the GDP bound 8-tubulin occurs at the tin of the microtubule weakening the bonds between the a/B tubulin protofilament, as a result the microtubule depolymerizes one hundred times faster than when the GTP can is present.



The GTP engineers growth by promoting a stabilized microbable structure (verives in Wade, 2007). When GTP hydrolysis eccent finter than u?) tabilitin submits addition the PGP enginess and mathematication of the growthinment is not whit. COP band fnabulin protofilmments are slightly curved outward and when this occers at the tip of the microtrabule the bonds between the u?) tability protofilmments are weakened and as a result the microtrabule depolymetrizes one hundred lines finater than when the GTT cap is prosent, this rapid depolymetrization in treffore to as catarophy. The difference in depolymetrization mass between GTP and GDP capped tabilin results in microtrabules exhibiting dynamic instability above microtrabules alternate between periods of dawa growth, where there is GTP cap is place, and periods of rapid casesmbly. During moving rework this yabase instability altows entrequilated treatmant entertaines.

Mintroducing are machened on yrow, at a single microthuble-organizing contrecalled the centroscene. Microthubles are machened at their misms end, and require the finanziant of a y-studiet ing complex, upon which plan end growth with off hubbin. Instructioners can excur: In non-mensual cells microthubles primarily remain attached to the centroscene, however this is not the case in neuronal cells are so one microthubles durations that the centroscene, however this is not the case in more microthubles are attracted by the single single

The functions of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  tubulin may be regulated by numerous covalent posttranslational modifications. Although many of the specific functions of tubulin posttranslational modification have to still be elucidated, it appears that they play a role in distinguishing the age of the nicrotubule and altering the ability of microtubule binding proteins to bind to the filament, particularly the binding of the kinesin family of motor proteins which transport crargs from the ell body to the neurie tip.

Acceptation and subsequent description occurs on bytice 40 of exhaling latter it has been incorporated into the microtubule resulting in high breach of acceptation at minus of the microtubule and very low levels at the plane and (Brown et al., 1993), and is therefore an indicate of older flamment, exciptionin plays a positive role in motor-based trafficking as the kinesin family of motor proteins binds with higher affinity to acceptated microtubules, and as kinesin transport argot from the cell blog to sourcite tip this promotes binding to older microtubules in the presimal neurine thall and facilitates discustation at the familiant of (Multish), 2007. Unsprese et al., 2008, Reset et al., 2006).

Depending on the typical and and plays a note in neuronal organization and binding proteins to bind to interstabilities and plays a note in neuronal organization and neurone exercises (inc); the et al. (2005). Dependent bubbles much its the co-formal at typical bubbles are a shall bubble an undentified carboxypeptidase, and results in the recriminant of the family of kinesin molecular motors which had performerially to deprove interdentiations. The shall bubble and the shall bubble of a symate to the deprovement of the deproviminated enables. This reaction is cardiyored by tubulin typicalse ligase (TTL) (Verbey and Carefig. 2007). Westermann and Weber, 2003). The microtholike associated proteins 'TTPS binds performation's in symatorial monochubbic. Mexicitation are highly typicalized at the play the ord and surveyly

tyrosinated at their minus end (Brown et al., 1993), and this may play a role in the preferential attachment and dissociation of molecular motors. Tyrosinated microtubules tend to be new labile microtubules.

Both an and Ji tabelin C-terminal tails can undergo polyakamylation, the addition of glutamate onto existing glutamate residues in the protein. This modification is preventent in neuronal cells and its involved with the binding of Kiseni funding yorkini binding (Regami et al., 2007). Additionally neuronal specific β tabelin can be phosphorylated (Jlummood et al., 2000) hough the functional significance of this molfication remain to be clockdatd.

Microtuble associated presents (MAP) control the action of microtubules by regulating microtubule dynamics as well as by handling microtubules and acting as microtubule dynamics and the second second second second second through protein kinases, activated in response to cellular signaling authways, and result in a close concernic hetween changes in the extractilitar environment, and control of the microtubule cytokeletox. This coupling assists the nearlie in probing and captoring the extendular activation and tentic proving around a terretion.

Microtubule dynamics can be regulated by microtubule associated proteins primarily through three mechanisms; (1) by binding to soluble tubulin subunits; (2) through binding to the plus end of microtubules (3) via binding to the side walls of microtubules.

The protein stathmin acts in a phosphorylation-dependant manner to promote disassembly of microtubules by binding to a/B tubulin dimers to prevent their assembly into microbiologi (Belmont et al., 1996), Jourdanie et al., 1997; Sobel, 1991; Wittmanne et al., 2004). By sequentiring a large amount of the free all habdin dimers, stathmin lowers the warbhildy of free all habdin dimers for interportants, resulting in a discrease in the addition of submits into the microbiole increasing the Bachineet has of CPP hydrolysis will feecure frater than submit addition and that the CPT equival like has and adproduction transfer and the composition of the CPT equivalence of the composition of the CPT equivalence of the CPT equivalence of the composition of the CPT equivalence of the CP

Plus-end tracking proteins (+TIPs) are multidomain or multisubunit proteins that associate with the plus end of microtubules and have a wide range of functions. Their activities are regulated through phosphorylation, auto regulation and a-tubulin tyrosination/detyrosination. Many +TIPS modulate microtubule dynamics, and have different and sometimes opposing effects on these dynamics. For example the end binding (EB) family of proteins suppress catastrophe (Lansbergen and Akhmanova, 2006), while kinesin 13 family members promote catastrophe (Moores and Milligan, 2006). Cytoplasmic linker proteins (CLIPs) act as microtubule rescue factor and convert shrinking microtubules into growing microtubules (Komarova et al., 2002), while both CLIP-associated protein (CLASP) and adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) act to prevent microtubule catastrophe by coating the plus end to promote rescue and pausing of the microtubule (Galjart, 2005; Lansbergen and Akhmanova, 2006). Many +TIPS contain at least 2 tubulin dimer binding sites and therefore may promote polymerization of short oligomers (Slep and Vale, 2007). Additionally an important function of +TIPS is to link the microtubule to structures within the cell, some +TIPS such as APC and CLASPS are able to link the microtubule directly to the cells actin cortex, or to cortically bound factors

and can achieve targeted delivery of cargoes being transported on the microtubule (Etienne-Manneville et al., 2005; Moseley et al., 2007; Tsvetkov et al., 2007).

Microtubule associated proteins that bind along the side walls of microtubules may act to stabilize, bundle or sever the microtubule in response to signals from kinases to perform various functions. Katanin and Spastin bind to microtubules to sever them; the resulting severed proteins may either degrade because of their unprotected ends, or the shorter microtubules may be stabilized and may be used to probe the extracellular environment during branching, as short microtubules are more mobile (Yu et al., 2008). Microtubule associated proteins that promote the assembly of microtubules by binding to their sides to stabilize them were the first identified microtubule associated proteins and were named MAPs. The function of MAPs can be regulated by phosphorylation and dephosphorylation by protein kinases and phosphatases. Within the MAPs, two major protein families exist: the MAP1 and the MAP2/tau protein families. MAP1A and MAP1B are primarily expressed in neurons where they bind to microtubules to stabilize them. Additionally they have an actin binding domain and are believed to be a link between regulation of the actin filament and microtubule cytoskeleton (Goold and Gordon-Weeks, 2005). The MAP2/tau family of proteins bind to microtubules to stabilize them and also play an additional function in the organization of microtubule bundles. MAP2/tau proteins have two microtubule binding sites connected by a linker that projects away from the microtubule (Dehmelt and Halpain, 2005). This allows for two microtubules to be bound together with the length of the linker determining how closely the MAPS are packed together (Chen et al., 1992).

Microsoftwise more proteins lists to the polarized microsoftwale and use energy from ATP hydrolysis in more along it and transport cargo from one end of the cell to the effect. Two types of microsoftwale more proteins tick the kinnis specification of proteins (KIFs) and dyneins, both of which are primarily used for long distance transport in macrosoft soft and proteins and the advect softwale and while the decided signals the service (Beskwas and Takeumar, 2004). Long distance transport in macrosoft softwale importance as in vivo scores can result part imply, and unlike electrical signals transport of melocides. For example many compounds that are synthesized in the effect body need to be transported to the acoust (pin, and correspondingly proteins and activated transport of melocides. For example many compounds that are synthesized in the effect body need to be transported to the acoust (pin, and correspondingly proteins and activated that signaling omposes need to be transported from site of cellent interactions and transport on the observed by the fact that some matations in motor proteins lead to distance (2hone eq. 201).

Two speeds of anomal transport have been observed which the network, fast anomal transport is ansociated with the transport of vesicality arrays are accurately for symptic activity and how around transport is anomalised with transport of the acoust (burgeout) cybroidic proteins. Initially it was believed that different motors were responsible for the different speeds of manoper, however more recent findings (hoy et al., 2000; Wang and Moreov. 2011; Wang et al., 2000) suggest that these proteins are involved in both fast and show transport and that the rates are the same when moving along the microfubales, but that show transport is a result of intermitinity passing and bidirectional movement of transport.

KHS transport cargo anterogradely (towards the acon (bp) in acone by moving along micertubules towards their plus end (Amaratanga et al., 1993). The majority of KHS are dimetric, and be the fact that they have no micertuble binding domains they are able to walk along the micerotabale in a hand over hand fashlor. Cargo is board to KHS elicited micercly are indirectly through adaptor or staffibiling proteins. KHT A has a PH domain that pennits it to bind directly to fiposomes via PHSF2 phosphaliplic directioned (acidate directly one). The domain of likenite the which the cargo binds appears to be important in directing the cargos transport, as cargo board to conversional kinesin length that in transported to axom, where cargo board to conversional kinesin lengt via its immoneted to the dendrites (reviewed in Hickawa and Takanene, 2004).

Cytoplaumic dynein are microtabuler moters that rungoet cargo retrogradely towards the cell body by moving along the microtabuler towards their mituss end (reviewed in Hicksawa et al. Kamana, 2001). Dyneins are comprised at multitabuent complex of heavy chains, light chains and moter domains. Binding sites within these domains permit the transport of specific cargos: for example the light chain is able to bid to nearestrephin receptors Ti A. J. B and C and is reported to be involved in the retorsgrade transport FNIC and Ti to the cell body (Yuan et al., 2001). Cytoplasmic dynein associates with the large protein complex dynactin, which mediates the attachment of ranges to dynein and enhances the processivity of transport (Hitskawa and Takeman, 2004).

### 1.1.2.1.3 Intermediate filaments in the neurite

Intermediate filaments are classified into five major families based on the cell type they are expressed in and when during development they are expressed (reviewed in (Godsel et al., 2008)). Intermediate filaments are flexible, ropelike fibers of around 10 nm in diameter, a diameter that is "intermediate" between that of actin filaments (6 nm) and microtubules (25 nm) (Herrmann et al. 2000). Intermediate filaments provide dynamic scaffolding to protect cells and tissues from mechanical and nonmechanical forms of stress and their protective roles are enhanced by regulation of intermediate filament associated proteins, intermediate filament mediated signaling events, and the positioning of organelles within the cell (Toivola et al., 2005). In neurons type III intermediate filaments peripherin and vimentin are present throughout the early stages of neurite outgrowth (Cochard and Paulin, 1984; Troy et al., 1990).I n PC12 cells peripherin expression is increased when neurite outerowth is induced by NGF, and injured peripheral neurons show increased peripherin during axonal regeneration, suggesting a role for peripherin in neuronal differentiation and neurite outgrowth (Aletta et al., 1988; Aletta et al., 1989; Leonard et al., 1988; Oblinger et al., 1989). Type IV intermediate filaments, neurofilaments, are expressed as axons reach maturity and appear to be a major determinant of axon caliber and conduction velocity (Helfand et al., 2003).

Neurofilaments are the most predominant type of intermediate filament found in the neuron and function to support the axonal structure and are regulated by signaling pathways resulting in an increase in the diameter of the axon for large myelinated memors. Additionally they appear to have a protective different within the cell and may art

as scavengers for oxidative stress, protecting other critical factors from oxidative attack (Couillard-Despres et al., 1998).

Three different neurofilament proteins are expressed in neurons and are classified based on their molecular weight: the 64 DDs neurofilament tight chain (NF-1), the 16 do IAD neurofilament molium chain (NF-40) and the 205 ADs neurofilament heavy chain 0.94 Jb. Net all three neurofilament proteins are required to be expressed in the cell at the same time. NF-41 is not expressed in neurons that continually andrego dynamic structural changes, such as high-generating neurons, but is expressed at high levels in large calibre neglitated neurons indicating that NF-41 expression imparts sublity on the moreous (Line at 2, 300).

The neurofilament protein all share the same there downlin structure with the rest of the intermediate filaments consisting of a variable N-terminal local downlin, a conversed contraft of downline, and a variable Leveniani Little. The Creational Little D-Creational Little D-Creation of the downline the start of the downline the start of the downline the downline the downline technology from the filament proteins. This was hypothesized that a core filament assembled from N-Little Little Little

known to be expressed in neurons and is also a type IV intermediate filament protein like the neurofilament proteins.

The neurofiliments and +-interaction have a conserved central a-belical red domain, containing a hydrophobic heptad repeat essential for assembly into the ceited domain (containing a hydrophobic heptad) repeated resembly in the second parallel manner form a tetraner, eight tetraners are packed laterally and longitudinally together forming the 10 mm ope like lifensen (Heim and Ards, 1994; Hermann et al., 2000). Posterandational modification of the neurofilament propriori affects their association in one filtnems a vert as the periori generic resporter.

Propology lation of the neuralization proteins head domain influences neurofilament assembly (Dong et al., 1999); Silvag and Nicon, 1991) and plays a critical root operventing measuring linear distribution in the second and phosphorylation of Servi's in the NF-L head domain and phosphorylation of Servi's in the NF-L head domain, blocks flament assembly, and reachs in filtment disascendby (Fumelli et al., 2008; Hisanapa and Hirokawa, 1990; Naament et al., 2009).

The packing of towardinamer proteins into the neuroflument is regulated by the phospharylation of NF-3 and NF-1 at multiple KSP sequences in their C-terminal tail. Command all phospharylations ccenes within the same and is triggered by Schwarz cell signaling in myclinated access (de Wargh et al., 1992). Neurofilaments are transported in the access by show transport as the neurofilament tail becomes more phospharylated, the neuroflutrates of the more framework of the neuroflutrates in the neuroflutrates the access by solve transport as the neurofilament tail becomes phospharylated, the neuroflutrates phospharylates and the neuroflutrates transport of the margoret structure (the neuroflutrates).

as a table structure (Ackardys et al., 2003; Shea et al., 2004); Yabe et al., 2003). One possible metanism for this gradual decrease in transport speed is that phosphorylation of the monofilmater transmission with the molecular mote protein kinesin resulting in it no longer being transported (Jung et al., 2005; Yabe et al., 2000). Phosphorylation of memofilment proteins in required for proper accumulation of memofilment proteins in required that gravity et al., 2000; Table et al

The packing of neurofilament proteins is also regulation by glycosylation of strine or threasine residence. Objecusylation of residence in NT-M and NT-H C-terminal tails prevents phosphorylation and threashy switch the neurofilaments from republic to associative, leading to the close packing of neurofilaments observed in the Nodes of Ramive (Obger et al., 2009, Nicon, 1993).

#### 1.1.2.2 Neurite Initiation and Growth Patterning

#### 1.1.2.2.1 Neurite Initiation

During the development of a neuron, events must occur that result in disruption of the round cell symmetry and transformation of the non-polar sphere to a polar cell capable of initiating a neuritic process. Similar processes must occur in dissociated cell cultures of primary neurons used as in vitro models of axon growth, since the isolation and dissociation process results in removal of neuritic processes resulting in the cell once again being faced with spherical symmetry. The predominant theory is that microdomains are formed in the non-nolar cell from which extracellular ligands mediate neurite initiation (reviewed in da Silva and Dotti 2007). Two hypotheses exist on how the microdomains form: the theory of ligand mediated microdomain formation supposes that neurons are symmetrical and the presence of a ligand induces the formation of a membrane microdomain from which neurites sprout, while the theory of ligand mediated microdomain activation supposes that neurons have a degree of membrane bound asymmetry and that the presence of a ligand activates neurite formation from this area (da Silva and Dotti, 2002). The microdomain activation theory is supported by evidence that membrane bound asymmetry occurs in other cell types, one example of such is during the development of Drosoehilia melanosaster, proteins with PDZ domains are responsible for recruiting other proteins to the apical pole (Wodarz et al., 1999). Proteins with PDZ domains are responsible for membrane protein clustering and play a role in cell signaling and linkage of the actin cytoskeleton to the cell membrane indicating that one possible mechanism of neurite initiation may be via activation of ligand recentors contained in microdomains (da Silva and Dotti, 2002).

Both theories of neurite initiation depend on ligand-mediated interactions that result in the sproating of neurites. Potential ligands are suggested to include extractlular matrix molecules such as tenancies, heprin-binding growth associated molecules, collagen, lumini, and the slif lamity of proteins or diffusible molecules such as flowblatt

growth factor, transforming growth factor-8 (TGF-8) and the neurotrophins (Brose and Tessier-Lavigne, 2000: da Silva and Dotti, 2002: Joester and Faissner, 2001: Labelle and Leclere. 2000: Rauvala and Pene. 1997: Tucker et al. 2001). Among possible recentors could be the integrins, as they can cluster into focal adhesions and signal cytoskeletal rearrangement through the use of secondary messengers. Additionally studies in Xenonus, and C. elevans indicate that mutating or knocking out integrin receptors have negative effects on neurite initiation (Baum and Garriga, 1997; Lilienbaum et al., 1995). Due to the enormous variations in the environment in which cells are grown and the variety of differing neurite morphologies that result, it is likely that neurite initiation is mediated through many different environmental cases and varying intracellular cascades However, the signals that will converge on the cytoskeleton through regulation of actin binding proteins and microtubule associated proteins are likely to be similar. Growth favoring signals may affect the actin filament cytoskeleton by regulating actin binding proteins to till the balance to actin filament instability and favor breakage of round cell symmetry, while signals that discourage growth will modulate actin binding proteins to enhance actin filament stability and inhibit breaching of the membrane (reviewed by da Silva and Dotti, 2002)).

Many studies suggest an important rule for regulation of the actin cytoskeleton in neurite initiation, and have hypothesized that the classic steps witnessed in neurite initiation, where first lamellipoldium surround the cell followed by the lamellipoldium segmenting to form a neurite, as essential for neurite initiation (da SSI van dDoch). Howhere als Holping, 2000, However, while neures rules als ill implicate the actin

cytoskeleton in playing an important role in neurite initiation, recent evidence supports the existence of filopodia rather than the lamellipodium as requirements for neurite initiation (Dent et al. 2007). In addition to filosodia formation, the presence of dynamic microtubules is also an essential ingredient for neurite initiation (Dent et al. 2007). Microtubules are suspected to contact, and align along the actin bundles in filonodia that act as a scaffold increasing the possibility of several microtubules polymerizing along one actin bundle and crosslinking into a stable microtubule bundle. The actinmicrotubule interactions are possibly a structural intermediate in the formation of a neurite shaft. The need for a link between actin and microtubules in neurite initiation is supported by studies showing that overexpression of MAP2c (which is able to bundle microtubules as well as to bind to actin) is able to induce process formation in neuroblastoma cells, while tau (which is able to bundle microtubules but cannot interact with actin) cannot induce process formation (Gordon-Weeks, 2004). Besides their interactions with actin, microtubules play roles in transporting materials to the site of neurite initiation, providing structure for the new neurites, and by associating with important signaling proteins to localize and regulate their activity.

#### 1.1.2.2.2 Neurite Elongation

Neurities elongate over a surface through a conserved three step process (Figure 1.11) that has been shown in numerous neuron types including: California sea slag (Aplysia californica) (Goldberg and Burneister, 1986), chicken (Gallare gallas) DRG neurons (Bays and Chapman, 1985), noted sympathetic neurons

## Figure 1.11: Three Steps in Neurite Elongation

A. Protrosion: a net increase in actin filament forming tameflipsdium and floppdia in the growth cone, resulting in an entrappd peripheral domain. In: Tagorgenest: incircubules chengate and insule the certral domain, and transitistent domain. Pomeering microstubules certex the peripheral domain and interacting with floppdia in the direction of neurite growth. C: Consolidation: some actin filaments in the growth cone that are not in the direction of growth depolymentice, additionally the majority of actin filaments at the proximal part of the growth cone depolymente to allow the membrane to strink annual the baselic of microstubes to form the energy data. (Deta and Genetz, 2003).



(Attest and Genesen, 1988) and Bar (*Mann warregescies*) certification neurons (Hall, 1996). The first step is the protousion step where the peripheral domain of the growth core entropies in a particular direction for theory flowpring. The second step of the peripheral domain and/or flippodian. During the engregement step (Sep 2) the microtabules elongate and invade the lumelifipodian and filopodia closest to the central domain, converting what was conce peripheral domain into transitional and central domain, during this phase the vells also become invested with velicles though Browstian motion are consolidation of the praximal part of the growth core to assume a cylindrical shape where transport of engancelles in shifteetime. During the consolidation step the majority of axin filtments in the proximal part of the growth core dono dynamic lawyine the moments using the proximal part of the growth core dopolymerize allowing the moments on the pressinal part of the growth core dopolymerize allowing the moments to their steps of the growth core dopolymerize allowing the

The three steps of neutric elongation all require regulated algointeent and modification of the microtubule and actin filament cytosheldstam. During protunsion and and polymeritation and formation of the millipolum and filopoli higher order actin structures is essential. Additionally as outfined previously the prevailing hypothesis for protrasion of actin structures is the molecular data model (Bude et al., 2008). This model holds that the ability of a neuron to extend its searcher over a substate requires the sea affect interaction with the substate. Joint this would be the ECM, the composition of which depends on the location in the body, PNS versus CNS. ECM molecules earts their effects by binding to a class of cell surface adhesion receptors indicid bretterist (Ginculot in Boundal). UPOC acusa difficuencil, 2006. Interim

receptors are found in the growth once and on filopodia lipit in an unifigated (unboard to ECM) but activated stata and are therefore primed is probe the matrix, creating stickly fingers along the leading edge promoting cell adhesion and migration (Galtmith et al., 2007). Upon building to the ECM the integrine receptor undergoes as conformational change resulting in receiving the strength of a complex of signaling and adaptor proteins to its cytoplatmit thit (Gancotti, 2003). These proteins tak the largerime to the actin cytohedreton that fitting and stimulate internal signaling cacacades to signal for cytoketetal recoding and artemize protein (Gancotti and Readwidth, 1999).

The consolidation top in neurine elongation requires targeted depaymentation of actin flamonts and their higher order attratures in the proximal area of the growth core and the to the specific taction involved may be ableved throught regulation or recruitment of actin bioding proteins involved in depaymentations to that their. This step highlights the importance of dissussmbly and recycling of actin monomers in sourcite clongation and supports that finding that more than just actin assenbly is required for growth (clabor et al. 2020).

The mixturbule extension that is necessary for the margargement stage and changetion of the neurite may astaulty drive obsequation of the neurite without any actin instructures present (channess et al., 1973; Machan Calcianness, 1974). However the growth that results is uncoefficiented and not division, 1974 (based), therefore the actin network might show down growth once obsequation as harriers to repld microabule extension in order to require the direction of growth.

#### 1.1.2.2.3 Growth cone turning

Growth cone turning in vivo is a requirement for an axon to follow a precise path leading to its target. Growth cones turn in response to the asymmetric presence of attractive and repulsive cues across their growth cone. These cues may be contact mediated, such as laminin or MAG, or soluble factors such as NGF or semaphorin. These cues are recognized by recentors on the surface of the prowth cone and result in intracellular signaling pathways that regulate the actin and microtubule cytoskeletons in response to the varving concentrations of cases resulting in changes in local density or alignment of actin filaments to turn the growth cone (Figure 1.12) (Gallo and Letourneau 2004; Luo. 2002; Turney and Brideman, 2005). The requirement for regulation of the actin cytoskeleton for turning is supported by the findings that depletion of actin filaments in the growth cones inhibits turning (Letourneau et al., 1987; Marsh and Letourneau 1984) and that the regulation of a single actin binding protein is sufficient to support either an attractive or a repulsive turn (Song and Poo, 1999). Caes that induce attraction and turning towards them increase actin filaments and bundles on the side of the growth cone the turning is occurring towards. The increase in actin bundles promotes interactions with microtobules and their #TIP proteins leading to turning behavior. Alternatively repulsive cues result in dissolution of actin filament bundles and loss of dynamic microtubules leading to growth cone collapse and repulsive turning (Zhou et al., 2004). The regulation of neurite turning in vivo where multiple guidance cues are present likely relies on the regulation of multiple actin binding proteins through multiple signaling gradients the affect both actin binding proteins as well as the interactions between actin filaments and microtubules.

## Figure 1.12: Growth cone turning:

Growth cones respond to the asymmetric presence of attractive or repulsive cues across their growth cone by regulating their actin and microtubule cytoskeletons though location specific activation of actin binding proteins and microtubule associated proteins. A. Where there is no gradient of cues across the growth cone microtubule, and actin filament structures are present in similar amounts on each side of the growth cone. B. A gradient of attractive cues facilitates growth cone turning toward the increased areas of attractive cues (oreen). The attractive oradient results in increased polymerization and formation of higher order actin structures, as well as microtubule polymerization (both shown with vellow arrows) in areas of high attractive cues, while the portion of the growth cone with lower levels of attractive cues result in depolymerization and destabilizations of actin filaments and microtubules (black arrowhead). C. A oradient of repulsive cues results in growth cone turning away from high levels of the repulsive cues (red). The repulsive gradient acts in the opposite manner of the attractive gradient resulting in depolymerization and destabilization of actin filaments and microtubules (black arrowhead) at areas with high repulsive cues, and polymerization and stabilization of the cvtoskeleton in areas of low repulsive cues (vellow arrow). (Adapted from Figure 1 -Kalil and Dent, 2005)

# A. No Gradient

B. Attractive Gradient





C. Repulsive Gradient



## 1.1.2.2.4 Neurite Branching

Neurite hearching secure at two different locations within the neurite: the growth oces may split for from two branches (Figure 1.13) or a new branch can emerge from the milled of a source due that in a spreses referred to a internialit metanelity (growt 1.4) (Dent and Gerther, 2003). Je vitro branching occurs in many different ilutations, including following nervous system highey leading to functional nervoery as well as neurosphile pine, at asso terminals in the presence of target derived chematintiatuat (primary assual growth interview target the second and Gerther, 2003). Both internitial branching and growth core splitting require the accountation of a climfilments (Dert and Kall, 2001), and the formation of a filospolat(an, 2002). Additionally microtaben until two absolution, and filospolat (O'Conner and Bothical), 1993). The importance of the presence of multiple short fragmented microtabels and prove the estimation and filospolat (O'Conner and Bordley, 1993). The importance of the presence of multiple short fragmented microtabels in demonstrated by staticts showing that over targeneous of the microtabels respecting potenty statict, metals in a hierarce and neutrol hearthough (or et al., 2004).

In body proofs cores upfilling and intercibial branching from the acon shaft, edungation of the new branch occurs in the same method by which neurities elongate, and microbiolosis instands. In branches forwerd for further growth withdraw from branching involves the recognization of the microbiolosis instands. The branching involves the recognization of the microbiolosis in size a nove lable form branching involves the recognization of the microbiolast in disputently permitting invortables to moverly microbiolosis.

#### Figure 1.13. Neurite Branching by Growth Cone Splitting

The growth once contain dynamic and influences and higher other acids structures (greec) and formation of acids filament accumulations and filappolis required for hearing study course, the Microsholes (bolk) are found sightly shandled in the neurice shaft and splay apart as they enter the central region of the growth cours. In passed growth course microsholes from loops in the central region (A). During the transition from passing its growth cancer couparing improvements on splay the transition (B) and these new fragments contact with actin filaments to explore new directions of growth (GC) (bott and Center, 2003). Microshole fingmentes empage with anifitment bandles information, cruring a wealth for other microsholes to splay more (A). E). The aligned microsholes are bundled and the actin filaments provimate to the growth code dupolymerize resulting in the membrane drinking result the microshole bundles resulting in constrainties on the filaments order (P).


### Figure 1.14: Interstitial Branching of Neurites

User some conditions actin filaments (green) and microbubles (blue) in the neurity shaft exist in a stable state (A). Case that trigger branching result in unbundling of microbubles (B), and their fingunentiane, so well as the recognization of the actin cytoskeleton (B).(2) (Dent and Gertler, 2003). The short fingunented microbubles colocalized with actin filament accumulations to explore new directions of growth(D).(3) (Kornsck and Gjere, 2003). Exploring microbubles align along the actin filament branchis of filopola carating a sateflift of order microbubles to align along (F), G). The aligned microbubles are builded and the actin filaments provintute to the mentire shaft depolyment; so shaft the membrane can dirick around the microbuble bundle routily.



explore the growth cose and newly formed branches. Although branching in the growth cose and the acon that involve different initial systeaketed architecture, on a molecular feed branching in a short of highly dynamic microtholes. Due to the differences in the original systeaketons between the location of branching acon may have a different effect on a neuter dreading on when it is applied to the neutrin.

## 1.1.3 Hsp27

#### 1.1.3.1 Heat Shock/ Stress Response

Cells respond to extractellular streases by a variety of mechanisms: one common response is the bast shock or stream response and involves the induction of molecular chapterness and other cytopereteries, including a set of proteins known as bast abade proteins (BSPs) (Eightsneer, 1991). This response may be elicide in matches to a variety of streases including radiation, oxidants, hypexia, heat, or chemicals such as a double, transition metaloism, and generalde (Eightsneer, 1991). Heat shock results into a databast, the stream of the stream of the stream of the stream of the alteration of metadolic processes and cellular structures including the cytosheckneh, where immediate filtnesses are destabilized and filten gengregates, microtabaste disintegrate, and the actin cytosheckneh is recegnized (Glass et al., 1995). Edits et al., 1996, Weich and Stahan, 1985). A mild (non-leftsal) stream is often sufficient to induce a stress response and provide cells with protections to subsequent potentially leftsal lunder, this is generally referred to ta themeser et al., 2003. Other et al., 2003. Other et al., 2003.

# 1.1.3.1.1 Induction of Stress Response

During a stress response the ideation of molecular duptomess and cytoprotexity proteins in primarily regulated at the level of transcription abbough there is some regulation of mBNAs stability (reviewed in Stanscroty) and Nudler, 2000). In higher endaryons the atress response in primarily molified by bata thack stranscription factors (IBFr). Genese that are translated in response to a stress response contain a heat shock downers within their postmer region. Manuar copers three distinct (FF) proteins that are post-translationally modified upon stress, becoming active resulting in the formation of a striner (Dat) et al., 2007; Sarge et al., 1997; Westmood and Wu, 1993). The trimer is translocation to the nucleus it black to the heat shock demons portion of the heat shock promoter and activates gave transcription (Tgyler and Benjamia, 2005; Trackins and Chdrowcod, 2005).

Hqp27 has been shown to give a role at the level of mutation in facilitating the stress response, and recovery alterwards. In heat shocked cells, Hqp27 plays a role in the stress response, and recovery alterwards. In heat shocked cells, Hqp27 plays a role in the simple of the analysis of the analysis of the stress response. Hqp27 is suspected to inhibit mutation by binding to eFF4G initiation factor and to facilitate dislocation of cap-inhibiton complexes (Caesta et al., 2000). Following the heat shock response Hqp27 simulates the resource of RNA splicing as well as RNA and protein subselves (Caest et al., 1997). Mark-Vander et al., 2006).

## 1.1.3.1.2 Heat Shock Proteins

The family of proteins known as heat shock proteins (HSPs) contains five conserved classes of HSP's Hsp100, Hsp90, Hsp70, Hsp60, and the small heat shock proteins (sHSP) (Kim et al., 1998). The name "heat shock protein" is a bit of a misnomer, as many proteins in the small heat shock protein family are not upregulated by temperature, and as mentioned previously those that are induced by heat can also be upregulated by a variety of chemical and physical stressors. However the name 'heat shock protein' has its roots in the discovery of the heat shock response over 45 years ago when Ferruccio Ritossa at the genetics institute in Pavia was looking at nucleic acid synthesis in the salivary gland puff of Drosophilia. When one of Ritossa' co-workers increased the temperature of the incubator in which Ritossa kept his tissue Ritossa observed a unique puffing pattern that required RNA but not protein synthesis (Ritossa, 1962; Ritossa, 1996). It was not known at the time of Ritossa's discovery that the puffs corresponded to active sites of increased transcription and translation, though it was later found that heat shock resulted in the production of a specific set of RNA's transcribed from the genes in the chromosomes where the heat shock puffs were formed and correspondingly the synthesis of a set of proteins (Tissieres et al., 1974). The proteins were identified on the basis of their sizes when run on a poly acrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE) and were named accordingly; for example the protein with a molecular weight of 27 kDa was named heat shock protein 27 (Hsp27), although Hsp27 is also referred to as Hsp25 (Ingolia and Craig, 1982). New guidelines have been proposed for HSP nomenclature. (Kampinga et al., 2009) under which Hsp27 is referred

to as HQB1, however this thenis will retain the marge of HQS2. The stress resistance confirming properties of the HSPs is dependent on the ability of the HQs1 to act as molecular depenses and proceed pointing angularity. Cell survival is also increased by the presence of HSPs as some (Hqs70 and Hqs72) are able to act as inhibitors of cell donth pubmeys, while others play roles as regulators of cell metabolism (Calderwood and Ciscea, 2008).

## 1.1.3.1.2.1 Small Heat Shock Proteins

The family of null heat shock proteins (d18%) in mammalic contains ten members that have been identified based on the presence of common structural domains and to their chapterness training on allity to exhibit the structural base intermediates (Table and Benjamin, 2007). Many members of the alSS's have been shown to act as ATP independent molecular chapterness to construct the formation of aberraryly folded proteins playing presetcive roles in the intracellular transport of proteins, cylockdedal artherberts, translations regulations, intracellular rendox hemososian, and protection against quotateneous or stimulated cell data(Arrigo, 2007). Several members are induced by [1857] activation in response to stress, while others like HighEI are not (Surakist et al., 1995).

Due to the presence of common structural domains within sitSPs researchers have been able to transfer and apply knowledge about the structures and interactions of some of the small beat shock proteins to other members of the class. The structure of sitSPs will be discussed further in section 1.1.3.2 in the context of the structure of sitSPs.

stBPs associate in the second second

### 1.1.3.2 Hsp27 Structure

Much of what is known about the structure of Higr27 has been obtained, and confirmed through comparison of its sequence to that of other SISPs. All SPs have been notariously difficult to obtain a crystal structure for, most likely due to their workers, vo fom large dynamic objectives, which affects that shells to crystaller does at al. 2000; The crystal structure of three sHSPs have been determined to date and has revealed that objectives of sHSPs form as a result of multiple interactions in the acrystall moment, sublitized in some cases, by interaction with the hydrophobic sequences of hts PLI2 terminal (Kine et al., 1998; Koticide and McHasurab, 2002; van Muchfort et al., 201b).

Under normal conditions Hug27 forms large dynamic edigomers, consisting of approximately 24 mosomers and having a molecular most of 700 kDa (Lambert et al., 1999). Deletion studies and mutation of phospharylation sites have shown that molecular interactions at the NHz terminus, as well as the phospharylation state of the protein, are involved in the stability of the oligomeric transmitter (Kin et al., 1998; Lambert et al., 1998). 1999; Rogalla et al., 1999; van Montfort et al., 2001b). The phosphorylation state, as well as oligometric structure; of Hpq27 have been implicated in regulating its protein interactions as well as its activities in survival, as a chapterone; in cell signaling pathways, and through stabilization of the activities mere twokedeton.

# 1.1.3.2.1 Hsp27 Domains

The domain makeup of Hip27 is common to all sHips and contains three domains; a WDEPF motif in the N-dominal region, a common C-terminal orystallin domain with a β-beet sandwich fold, and a non-conserved flexible C-terminal domain (Figure 1.15A) (Artigo, 2007; Chavez Zobel et al., 2005; Haubbeck et al., 2005; Chavez Zobel et al., 2006;

The mimo (vHZ) vieminos of HighZ contains a small predince, phorylatine reds region containing a WD.EPF domain (Theriank et al., 2004). In HighZ the N-terminal photophorghoristica its EFE, factory precedes the WDFZ form. In This New found that HighZ requires In N-terminal region surrounding the WDEFF motif in order to form oligometrs larger than dimens (Landert et al., 1999). Therial et al., 2004). A model based on the structure of when HighES suggests that the WDEFF motif in order to form simumolecular interactions doing with a hydrophobic surface that is left enzyoned in the folded a crystallin domain. This model propose that photphorylation of the Serbf (Serbf in rat, Serbf in humater, SerL In mouse) alse affects interaction (HighZ) into dimers capationing bow photophorylation of H1927 coases dosignmentation of HighZ into dimers capationing bow for the rate et al. 1990.

# Figure 1.15: The structure and phosphorylation of Hsp27

A Hig27 is comprised of 3 domains, a WDEPF domain, a conserved acrystallin domain and a non conserved flexible C-terminal domain. B, Ret Hig27 is photphorylated at two strines (Ser15 and Ser6i) by MKK2. C: Pharmacolyted inhibition of PJM MAPK activity upstreams of Hig27 result in inhibition of MKR2 activation and hereby inhibition of Hig27 photphorylation. D, Large alignments from from non-photphorylated Hig27, photphorylation of Serffs of Hig27 results in distoction of the alignment information (F) and photphorylation of Ser15 results of distoction of the alignment into moreovers (T).



Even though the amino acid sequence for the a-crystallin domain varies between the elderse with the excention of a few conserved positions, the structure it folds into a compact 8-sheet sundarich fold is conserved throughout the sHcn class (Kim et al. 1998-Van Montfort et al. 2001a: van Montfort et al. 2001b). The B-sheet sandwich consists of 2 layers, one of 3 and the other of 5 anti-parallel B-strands, that are connected by a short interdomain loop. a-crystallin domains can dimerize though their B-sheets to form a intersubunit composite ß-sheet (Van Montfort et al., 2001a; van Montfort et al., 2001b). The interactions between the highly conserved a-crystallin domains indicate why sHsns dimerize with themselves but also why many of the sHSPs are able to form at least weak hetero dimers with other members of the sHsp class. The a-crystallin domain of sHSPs contains a conserved againing that appears to be involved in the structural integrity of the protein, and has recently been implicated in a variety of inherited diseases in humans. Mutation of the conserved argining in gA-crystallin resulted in dominant concenital cataract disease (Litt et al., 1998), and a similar mutation in uB-crystallin was found in autosomal dominant deumin related myomathy (Vicart et al., 1998). Both mutations in aA crystallin and aB crystallin showed alterations in the supramolecular organization of the proteins, as well as the formation of large oligomers over 1000 kDa that collapsed into inclusion bodies resembling aggresomes (Boya et al., 1999; Chavez Zobel et al., 2003: Kumar et al. 1999: Perme et al. 1999b). A similar mutation in Chinese hamster Hsp27 was shown to destabilize the protein into dimers, as well as to partially appreciate in the cells indicating the importance of the conserved arginine and the q-crystallin

domain in association of Hsp27 and other sHsp dimers into oligomers, and of the structural integrity of the resulting oligomer (Chavez Zobel et al., 2005).

The C-terminal domain of 19/97 is not conserved within the style family and additionally displays considerable variability within homologues of 18/977 found within to ensure for againss and in bacterist. While the function of the C-terminal tail remains to be checkluted, the crystal structures of two of the stype indicate that is involved in stabilization of the slignesses (Kain et al., 1998; Van Montfort et al., 2001; van Montfort et al., 2001b).

## 1.1.3.2.2 Hsp27 Phosphorylation

High? Is photophysiked on 3 serinos in the human High? (SerIS, SerIR, SerIR) and 2 areines in the robent High? (SerIS, and SerI6 in rat., SerI6 in harmser, SerI2 in mound) by MARKAP kinnes? (MARX) at both sites in many cell types; MKR2 is generally thought to be activated by ph3MARK (blast et al., 1995; Lunds et al., 1992; Mehlen and Arrigo, 1994). In smooth muscle and other cell types, other kinness such as MAP kinness-activated protein kinnes? (MARX) (blast and ther et al., 1996), MAP kinnesactivated protein kinnes 5 (MAS) (blcs) updite et al., 1996), MAP kinnesactivated protein kinnes 5 (MAS) (blcs) were at al. 1998), protein kinnes C doth (NE) keep te implicated in the photophorylation of Higg7, athough the specific sites photophorylated have not been stremines). Higg72 has duo been shown to be photophorylated on thronoine 14 by tyckic guanosite monophorphate (actions with podepost durine in the arcite in the strengthstres. They? The atto is more shown to be photophorylated in thronite 11 Higg72.

phosphorylation sites was shown to decrease the serine phosphorylation-dependant stimulation of actin polymerization necessary for platelet aggregation (Butt et al., 2001).

Photophysikino of Hipd7 affects in satisfy in a manner that depends on the cell type and environmental conditions. Numerous studies show that eligineurs of Hipd7 films from ourphophysikin Hipd7, and the photophysikino of Hipd72 results in dissociation of the eligineurs into dimers and monomers (Kato et al., 1994). Specifically, photophysikino of Sert5 results in dissociation of dimers into monomers (Beenderf et al., 1994), tamber et al. (1999). Beelds being involved in oligometerization, the photophysikinon state of Hipd72 has also been implicated in the chaptere activity of Hipd72 as well being involved in the inhibition of action photophysikinon (Riney et al., 2000); Eusey et al., 2000; Landy and Huot, 1999; Rogella et al., 1999).

The phosphorylation of Hyp27 can be studied in vitro using unstream pharmacological inhibitors of Hyp27 phosphorylation, as well as recentinuate Hyp27 profession. Commercular Marke 2014 MAPK, inhibitors (e.g., SE00030) and SE020190) act upstream of Hyp27 is inhibit the activity of p5X MAPK, resulting is inhibition of MSK2 activation and thereby discreasing Hyp27 phosphorylation (de Graanow et al., 2005; Printje et al., 2007). Mary studies have taken aboutage of recombinist DNA techniques to create and express Hyp27 with mattacd phosphorylation sites. Matation of the strete into subanice creates an anaphosphorylatible Hyp27 (do example, nodort Hey27AA) with lemator of the service into a superiori call of patients eiter each site.

protein that acts as a constitutively phosphorylated Hsp27 (rodent Hsp27EE or Hsp27DD) (Bruey et al., 2000a; Kubisch et al., 2004; Lambert et al., 1999; Theriault et al., 2004).

#### 1.1.3.3 Role in survival

Hsp27 functions in numerous ways to promote survival in the face of environmental stream. In the face of stream the protective actions of Hsp27 have been attributed to its chaperoone activity, ability to protect against oxidative stream, andiacoptotic signaling abilities and its ability to stabilize the actin filament cytosletlon.

Molecular chapemenes interest with and stabilite non-main's forms of proteins, and are not part of the final assembly of the protein (Ellin, 1987), but are involved in protein folding and assembly, tomoger, disaggregation of protein aggregations, and the unfolding of proteins (Edbit), 2006). In the early 1999's, Higq2' reads and an objectular chapemene first in shifty to refield uses -denatured citrate synthase and agluosolikate in an ATP-independent numeer in site (Edbit edbit 4, 1999). The mechanism of Higq2' chapemene activity has been further defined, and large unphosphorylated ognomes of Higq2' are budget to hid as and sequenter minided proteins will they are either processed for refinding by ATP-dependent chapereness or degraded by the schipplin proteasame pathway (Edmapperger et al., 1997). Elset et al., 1997; Parng et al., 1996; Therianit et al., 2004). These chaptemene actions have been shown to be independent on low of Higg2' Theoremenetation approxession (Edgites the first et not of Higg2). These chaptemenetation approxession (Edgites the first et not of Higg2). These chaptemenetation approxession (Edgites the first et not of Higgs).

that Hsp27 functions to promote survival by a variety of independent methods (Mounier and Arrigo, 2002; Sun and MacRae, 2005).

Oxidative stress is caused as a result of high levels of reactive oxygen species. which are produced as a side product of the electron transport chain during the oxidative phosphorylation phase of respiratory energy production within the cell (Arrigo, 2007). Hsp27 acts to prevent cell death resulting from oxidative stress by decreasing the levels of reactive occuren species: the amount of this decrease corresponds directly with the level of Hsp27 expression (Firdaus et al., 2006: Mehlen et al., 1996a: Preville et al., 1999; Rogalla et al., 1999). Hsp27 increases the resistance of cells against oxidative stress (caused by increasing the antioxidant defences of the cell) through mediating an increase in the level of and by unholding the level of the reduced form of elutathione in the cell (Mehlen et al., 1996a). Hsn27-mediated increase and maintenance of elutathione levels are directly responsible for protection of cell morphology, cytoskeletal architecture, and mitochondrial membrane notential by reducing linid nerovidation. protein oxidation, and actin filament disruption (Paul and Arrigo, 2000; Preville et al., 1998: Preville et al., 1999). The phosphorylation state of Hsp27 has been suggested to play a role in glutathione increase as phosphorylated monomers were unable to decrease reactive oxygen species, indicating that the large oligomeric structure formed by unnhosphorylated Hsp27 may be important for this activity (Rogalla et al., 1999).

Hsp27 has also been implicated in protecting the cell from oxidative stress by methods independent of its glutathione promoting activity. Hsp27 may act to inhibit the occurrence of oxidative stress by down-regulating intracellular iron levels that catalyze

the formation of Tuybroxyl radiacits that cuklide proteins (Arrayo et al., 2003). Additionally Hug27 may play a role in restoring the F-actin cytokackton after an oxidative stress, and in sciences of reactive expense precise which activate p38MAPK, leading to Hug27 phosphorylation, which in turn promotes actin recognization and ensitance to cell double (Host et al., 1997; Huse et al., 1996; Vigilanza et al., 2008).

Appendix is a form of programmed cell dealt by which answards cellar ac clinimated from the body. Which the developing nervous system nerve cells so probaded in excess and appendix soccurs to sight the number of nearests or equal the number of targets. The survival aignabe or nearestraphins that promote survival, eithe that do nearescritic guaryies and appendix to ensure the humber of nearests is equal to receive these signations. The data of the section amount of these signals, undergu apoptonis. Hug27 functions to inhibit apoptonis through a variety of mechanisms including inhibiting canguese, microboodial systecheme e release and by promoting the activity of pro-survival enzymes like Akt (Dadge et al., 2006; Maraow et al., 2007; Data of the section of the section of the section section of prospositio agents (Concarons et al., 2000; Mehlen et al., 1996b), and correspondingly decreming Hug77 aprecision sensitizes cells to apoptosin (Laureov et al., 2006; Kamada et al., 2007; Data et al., 2007; Exceed et al., 2006).

# 1.1.3.3.1 Hsp27 and survival in neurons

Hsp27 plays a protective role in neurons and its protective effects appear to be distinct from the protective effects of Hsp70 and other heat shock proteins (reviewed in (Franklin et al., 2005: Latchman, 2005)). Hsp27 is constitutively expressed in subpopulations of motor and sensory neurons in the adult rat nervous system (Plumier et al., 1997). However in DRG sensory neurons, constitutive expression of Hsp27 is minimal in neonatal neurons and levels are higher in adults in both cultures and intact DRGs (Dodge et al., 2006). Neonatal DRG neurons are dependent on nerve growth factor (NGF) for their survival, and undergo apoptosis without sufficient NGF (Dodge et al., 2006; Lewis et al., 1999). Overexpression of exogenous Hsp27, as well as upregulation of Hsp27 by a mild heat shock, protects both neonatal DRG neurons and PC12 cells against NGF withdrawal-induced cell death by increasing Akt activation and inhibiting caspase activation (Dodge et al., 2006; Mearow et al., 2002). In response to growth factor activation, Akt generates a survival signal by acting on the BAD/ Bel-2 signaling rathway. Akt phosphorylates BAD resulting in its inactivation and dissociation from Bel-2, rendering Bel-2 active. Bel-2 is an anti-apoptotic family member and when active (dissociated from BAD) can bind to and inhibit pro-apoptotic proteins and indirectly regulate the activity of caspases (Khor et al., 2004). Hup27 modulates Akt activity, with the interaction between Hsp27 and Akt necessary for the anti-apoptotic activity of Akt (Konishi et al., 1997; Rane et al., 2003). Active Akt also inhibits cell death by phosphorylating and inactivating procaspase9 and by preventing the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria (Garrido et al., 1999; Paul et al., 2002).

# 1.1.3.4 Hsp27 and Neurite Growth

In order for a neurite to undergo assessful growth patterning, the actin and minorhabels cytokicktom must be specifically regulated to initiate neurites are the to follottise their extension. Fourthmics, and turning: Additionally transport of a cellular craps from the cell body to the neurite tip and back again, is required to supply the building blocks assessments for extension to the growth cone, as well as to transport algorith from series the second to the interaction with a second second and the second and provide to come back to the cell body. They? I is in Hely candidate to be involved in remain growth because of (1) interactions with virtuaries cytokieled demonst and algorithg intermediates involved in regulating the cytokieletion, and (2) its involvement in nonneuronal cell mignition, which occurs via a similar process to neuring corote, and (1) its involvement in neurofiliament assembly and role in transport within the two resources indigibilited by specerit statler that maticinion in 16(2) are associated with peripheral neuropathies, in particular the acoust from of Chartor-Marie-Tooh disease (CMT) and diatal hereditary moor assempting (GMDN) (Ackerley et al., 2006; Eugradov et al., 2006; Eugradov

High27 Interacts with several process of intermediate Himmetia, including glub Holling science protein (GFAP), vimentin, neurin and NF-1, and directly and indirectly regulate actin and misenshole dynamics, theoryto in the interaction with true (L-5-) protein, the App23 complex and Rback (Ackerley et al., 2006; Bennkof and Welah, 2004; Experisive et al., 2004; Hinor et al., 2006; Dennkof and Welah, 2004; Margar et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2006; Hinor et al., 2009; Deng et al., 1999; Arrelf et al., 1999; The ability of High27 modulate the actin cytokedbox new last us bial

to microtubules, places Hsp27 in a position to link regulation of the actin and microtubule cytoskeletons in a manner to direct neurite growth.

# 1.1.3.4.1 Possible roles for Hsp27 and the actin cytoskeleton in neurite growth

Biper2 physics and is inequiling the activities of activit

Hsp27 interacts directly with actin to prevent the polymerization and assembly of actin filaments in a manner that depends upon the phosphorylation state and oligomerization of Hsp27 (Figure 1.16). A critical region in Hsp27 for its interaction.

# Figure 1.16: Direct interactions of Hsp27 and actin

Hog27 and actin interact based on the eigenveries size and properloy-latin moneinteraction of the second second second second second second second Hog27, Numerous studies support the finding that sus-phosphorylated monomeric Heg27 links to actin. However their is disputement within the filterates are to studied Hig27 (hurs) task), however their is disputement within the filterates are to studied influences to expleme (B). Indeependent of the manner in which Hig27 links actin in binding results in an inhibition of actin polymerization, either by sequestring actin moments and preventing their addition (A) or by capping the actin filterates and metery preventing moments addition(B). Phosphorylation of Hig27 by MKK2 results in its dissociation from actin, resulting in static polymerization, C). Octool of the binding of Hig27 as at his phosphorylation my regulate actin filterates dynamics by filterating the matter disconsers from possible acting disposible metations to the of harbed and polymerization (A,C) or by binding to the harbed end to prevent capping previets from building add dissociating upon phosphorylation to premit chougation of the stating filterating the stating of the station of the station of the station of the static filterates the static polymerization to the static harbed and polymerization (A,C) or by binding to the harbed end to prevent capping previets from binding and dissociating upon phosphorylation to premit chougation of the static filterance that the polymerization to polymerization to premit chougation of the static filterance that the polymerization (A,C) or by binding to the harbed end to prevent capping the static filterance that the polymerization (A,C) or by binding to the harbed end to prevent capping the static filterance that the static polymerization to premit chougation of the static filterance that the static polymerization to premit chougation of the static filterance that the static polymerization to premit chougation of the static filterance that the static polymerization



with actin was identified as the peptide sequence 192-N106, this site was found to be responsible for the inhibition of actin polymerization, when added to solutions of G-actin in the presence of an actin nucleating factor (Wieske et al., 2001)

Reports differ on the method of action of Hsp27, Hsp27 was originally characterized as a barbed end capping protein (Figure 1.16 C), although recent reports suggest that Hsp27 impairs actin filament assembly by sequestering actin monomers (Figure 1.16 A), rather than by capping actin filaments (During et al., 2007; Miron et al., 1991; Pichon et al., 2004). Both of these models for Hsp27-based inhibition of actin filament assembly support the finding that only monomeric nonphosphorylated Hsp27 is able to inhibit actin filament polymerization (Benndorf et al., 1994; During et al., 2007). In the actin-capping model, Hsp27 was thought to cap actin filaments as a nonphosphorylated monomer and its phosphorylation resulted in dissociation from the actin filament and subsequent filament elongation (Benndorf et al., 1994; Guay et al., 1997; Landry and Huot, 1999; Lavoie et al., 1995; Miron et al., 1991). The actin sequestering model suggests that nonphosphorylated Hsp27 binds actin monomers resulting in an increase in the G-actin pool and a subsequent decrease in actin filament levels. Upon phosphorylation Hsn27 has been shown to dissociate from the actin monomers (During et al., 2007). The sequestering of G-actin by Hsp27 may also control actin nucleation by acting similarly to thymosin to prevent trimers of actin from spontaneously associating and nucleating new filaments. Although the roles of thymosin and F-actin capping proteins such as CP have yet to be elucidated in neurons they have been shown to be involved in higher order actin structure formation in other cell types.

and are good candidates, along with Hsp27, for being involved in the formation of these structures in neurite initiation and growth (reviewed in Cooper and Sept, 2008; Le Clainche and Carlier. 2008: Pak et al... 2008) (Meiillano et al... 2004).

Part of Hp27's protective net in stressed eith has been attributed to is direct interactions with actin, resulting in increased actin flamment atability. During stresses caused by beat, AT offetpion, cipatint, hydrogeng prevolde, deluteystressithatin, and oxidative atress, Hp27 increases the stability of the actin flamment systekeleton, to protect the cell Lassive et al., 1993b. Lee et al., 2007; Staffaret et al., 1999; Yaw Way et al., 2003; Vigilament et al., 2009; Neutrection of the actin flamment systekeleton by Hp477 in disposition of the advection of the actin flamment systekeleton by Hp477 in disposition of the advection of the actin flamment systekeleton by Hp477 in disposition of the advection of the actin flamment systekeleton by Hp477 in disposition of the advection of the acting flamment, specerating their aggregation and facilitating reformation (Picovarovs et al., 2009). As with other roles that Hp47p days in the cell, it is possible that Hp472 employa different methods of protecting the systeketon during different present.

Thep27 also oregulates the actin filtiment cytokeledon in a manure independent of in ability tas hind directly to actin, by regulating actin binding preteinin through its intra-towers in cli cli cliganling gathways, possibly through its interactions with 14-3-3 protein, the Ap2D complex or RbAA, whose activities have been implicated in the activity of higher order actin structures in growth comes required for search growth (Figure 1.17) (other star. Josepti, Josef, Josef, Josef, Josef), 2000, An indirect rule for 14p27 in regulating actin filteness dynamics is supported by the finding that the Hig627 biophysiolition mutual, Hg27227, inshiba actin polynerization in HaL actils bot on the brain extrastic forging et al., 2007. The Hifferent effects of Hig627 on excitation with brain extrastic forging et al., 2007. The Hifferent effects of Hig627 on excitation activity acting acting acting acting acting acting activity.

## Figure 1.17: The indirect effects of Hsp27 on the actin cytoskeleton

Hip27 regulates the actin filament cytoxic-texn independent of its ability to bind directly to actin, by regulating actin isolating proteins through cell signaling pathways. Hig27 has been implicated in the formation of faced athesioner, responsible for consolitationally ling27 has been implicated in interacting with RhoA and facilitating the interactions of RDoA and ROCK required for signaling, phosphory.html Hig27 has been found to bind to 14-3-3 protein, and its binding is suspected to inhibit 14-3-3 cells interactions, leading to detroburbarburbartion of cells and density more of the action cells.



polymerization depending on the cell type indicates that the presence of cell type specific actin binding proteins and signaling intermediates determine the resulting change in actin filament polymerization.

Phosphorylated Hsp27 binds 14-3-3 protein in fibroblasts (Vertii et al., 2006). A similar interaction has been seen in another small heat shock protein,

where following in phosphorylation by PKA, Hug2b binds to 14-3.3. Hyp2b binding to 14-33 prevents the anxietization of phosphorylated cellini and 14-33, resulting in the depolynophyration of cellini to activate its earlysis of action filtnanest depolymerization. It has been hypothesized that Hug27 interacts with 14-33, in a masser similar to Hug20, and that binding of Phig27 to 14-33 results in the activation of coffin and actin filtnanest depolymerization (cased, 2000).

Bitoh ia a mull GTPase kown to regulate the actic syctoketost mbrough signaling puthways and its effector ROCK (BhoA Kinau) (Arname et al., 1997; Halt, 1999). Hig72 futnets: with BhoA (in smooth, and is key in the formation of a complex between BhoA and ROCK, and signaling proteins downstream of ROCK activation, and a sensetial in the regulation of BhoA activation as well as downstream signaling (Prial and BhoE, 2006; Juli et al., 2006; Juli et a

The Arp2/3 complex nucleates branches off of existing actin filaments, and adding in the creation of a lamellipodium: a highly branched actin meshwork. Lamellipodium are found in the motile structures of migrating cells and in growth cones. A recent study has implicated High27 as a direct binding partner for ArpC1 at Jac et al., 2009, a

component of the Arp2/3 complex, suggesting another possible role for Hsp27 in neurite growth.

Cell inigration in a highly concelluted multitiep process, and is similar to neurite initiation and extension and involves the regulation of the actin filament cytokeleton by many of the same actio hishing protein reviewed in La Chinchea and Carlier, 2000). High27 is required for cellular migration in a variety of cell types: Indexpens, month muscle, SW480 cells, human colon cancer cell ling), neurophils and fibrohasts (Doshi et al., 2009), page al., 2007; Landy and Hunt, 1999; Nomare at al., 2007; Pichon et al., 2004).

Nonphosphorylated Hug27 is found at the leading edge of the lamellipedium in migraring ends and a displaced from this location by cytochalania. D rearners, suggesting that under scenario complosphorylated Hug27 caps the huter dored of each filtnesses at the landing edge (Pilots et al., 2004). This to be In Hug27 is supported by the fact that motility is higher in cells that over express Hug27 or capping proteins from the getoletin family (Caminghum et al., 1991; Frienweisc et al., 1998). It is hypothesized that the actic capping activity of Hug27 is regulated at the leading edge ty proteins from the getoletin family (Caminghum et al., 1991; Frienweisc et al., 1998). It is found transiently thosphorylated at the leading edge, This suggests that at he leading edge MKX2 must phosphorylate Hig27 resulting in the dissociation of large edgements, followed by proji dephorylopolyces ensulting in Hug27 interacting with actin harding with (Piton et al.).

Fored adhesions are sites of attachment of the cell to the extract-flater marks required for actin based protention in neuring prowth (bobbes and Gennez, 2006). Https77 has been implicated in the attachment of the state of the state of the state adhesions in non-neuronal cells (de Gnawe et al., 2005; Gerthoffer and Ganns, 2001; Lee et al., 2008; Schneider et al., 1999; Gingue LT7. The formation of focal adhesions involves integrin receptors. Upon binding to the ECM the integrin receptor and androps of conformational change resulting in recentions of a complex of signaling and adaptor proteins, including FAK (Focal adhesion kinase) to its cytoplasmic table. These signaling and adaptor proteins link the integrin receptor table action (Secolations and admutationer). Signaling cascades that initiate cytoplated all mendeling and neurite growth of legner L171 (Ginasciti, 2003; Ginasciti and Rosabidat, 1999). In addiate to stathment and signaling to the cytoskeletal methoding and neurite growth of legner L191 (Ginasciti, 2003; Ginasciti and Bonabidat). (1996).

Hig72 has been suggested to play a nois in liaking the actin synolections to the focal adheaiton in non-neuronal cells, and can alter focal adheaitons via the perturbation of the actin synohectics (Edimentic et al., 1993). Additionally vecerespression of Hig72 in fibroblasts results in enhanced adheaiton by incernaing FAK activition, suggesting that Hig727 finks integrits with the actin synohectic (Lee et al., 2009). The involvement of Hig727 in fact adhesion formation in further supported by the finding that fibroblasts overexpressing Hig72 attach more efficiently to culture diskes, where as cells with how beek of Hig72 foo no form as strong analometer (Hinro et al., 2004).

As cutiled abox, Hey? Two pily order in neurite growth vis its various direct and indirect mechanisms of moduluting the acin systaketon. These findings suggests the through reputing the polymerization of acin filterents in specific locations within the neuron Hyp? That be remaringing the clubular architecture for neurine growth. The involvement of Hyp? In the formation of focal abeciens, and increased attachment also supports ar not for Hyp? In the formation of focal abeciens, and increased attachment also supports ar not for Hyp? In the formation of focal abeciens, and in and stabilizing the microarbite cytochectors, by binding to microarbade as a well as cut (Hino et al., 2000; Meblen et al., 1990b; Shimura et al., 2001; Stabilization of microtrubute promotis their extension increasely for some inprovide, Madoinally emagement of microtrubute alsong acin filterent bandlet results in their estabilization and building and is thought to be a structural intermediate in the findings ingitizent Hyp?? a possibly playing many roles in markine initiation and growth pattering by regulating the microtrubute and microtrubutements.

# 1.1.3.4.2 Hsp27 and Peripheral Neuropathies

Recent studies have shown that missense mutations in small heat shock proteins including Hgst27 and Hgst2 are associated with pertpheral neuropathies. Five mutations in Hgst27 have been found that lead to accound form of CMT (CMT2) or dHMN (Table 12) (Iverafive et al. 2004). Interestinglue mutations in the NF-L sense that the the term of term of the term of term of term of the term of term of term of the term of term o

Nucleotide	Resulting Amino Acid Mutation	Domain of Mutation	Diagnosis	in vitro Phenotype
379€→T	8127W	@-crystallin domain	dHMN	
404C→T	\$135F	a-crystallin domain	dHMN & CMT2	altered NF-L assembly, decrease in cell survival
405C→T	R136W	a crystallin domain	CMT2	
452C→T	T151	a-crystallin domain	dHMN	
545C- <b>→</b> T	P182L	C- terminal tail	dHMN	insoluble aggregates in body, disrupted axonal transport, no mutant Hsp27 in neurites, and altered cellular localization of p150Glued

# Table 1.2: Mutations in Hsp27 implicated in Peripheral Neuropathies

(NHE): results in CMT2 and show similar phenotypes as H927 mutants when expressed in cell cultures. Expression of the mutant NEFL gene results in alterations in the menofilament network and disturbances in non-tamoport (Perze-Office at al. 2004; Perze-Office at al. 2005), whereas expression of S133F H927 mutant results in altered NF-L sessenbly, and the P12L H927 mutant results in disrupted transport within the neurite and large insoluble aggregation in the cell body (Ackerly et al., 2006). The location of the mutances may provide imight into their alteration of the structure and farfanction of H1927. The three mutations halt result in alteration of amino acids 127, 135, and 136, are located close to the conserved arginitie, (arg/140), involved in mutatianing the structural integrity of the protein. Mutation of Arg14 in H1927 results in the dissociation of H1927 allocates to dimense, and in the formation of involubel gargergates (Davae Zadel et al., 2005). Mutation of the conserved arginities in doer small heat shock protein have been implicated in a variety of inherited diseases in humans resulting from structural instality and gagregation of the affected small heat shock protein (Lift et al., 1998). Viscat et al. 1998. Viscat et al.

The missense mutation of Hsp27 resulting in peripheral neuropathies further implicate a role for Hsp27 in neurite regeneration, through involvement of neurofilament assembly as well as transport within the neurite (Ackerley et al., 2006).

# Hypothesis and Objectives

The main question that I wished to investigate was whether Hap27 plays a role in searche regeneration of the sensory ORG neurons? Specifically, I was interested in whether Hap27 influences neurito initiation and extension via its effects on sytosk-lettal elements, and whether the phosphorylation of Hap27 modifies in effects on the cytosk-lettan and thereby influences neurito initiation and sumsion.

When I began my experiments there was very little information available on the role of Hog27 in neurons apart from its role is survival, and although interactions between Hog27 and different systochedtal elements had been documented in non-neuronal cells, they had not been investigated in neurons.

During the span of my research, a study was published in Name Genetics (Brgardw et al., 2000) reporting that mutations in human Hug-27 acaned Charolo Marijo-Tool Missies (MCM27) or sindla hersdings more monequalities (dBMA). CMT2 forms of the disease are a result of axianal non-publics, that appear to be a result of defects in axound remoperturbating from mutations in gones that are involved in maintaining or puplicating the optication. As welf this study from data mattern eta on neurofilament light (NF-L) assembly. These findings aduld support to no original hypothesis that Hug-27 interasts with specificate elements in neurons, and provided impacts for a work.

To study this hypothesis, four specific objectives were developed

Objective 1: To determine if there is a temporal correlation between Tapp27 expression and DRG search growth, whether Hap27 coheralizes with cytacklead elements, and the effect of Hap27 phosphocytation on search growth. In initial experiment disordered adult DRG measures were enhanced on leastinia and sing immuneytochomistry and conficial microscopy the location of Hap27, polytop27 and action introlled and DRG measures were enhanced on leastinia and sing introlled are entrolled and DRG measures with a pharmacological p38 MAPK, inhibite to inhibite the experiment pathway that loaks in the phosphocytation in merging provth, efflw were plated on polytysine with a pharmacological p38 MAPK inhibite to inhibite the experiment pathway that loaks in their phosphocytation of Hap27, pathway monoparet experiment colliver with market with hosphocytation in the exercise growth. Efficacy of the pharmacological p38 MAPK inhibite on inhibiting Hap27 phosphocytation was anseed by weaters bletting, and nearing growth was ancessed using immunocytochemistry and confered intervence (Okaper 2).

Objective 2: To investigate the role of Hips27 in sourche growth by observing growth patterning after kancking down Hips27 protein levels and over expressing expension Hips27. To study the impact of Hips27 pattern levels on marine growth disordired DRG nearest exceeding with Hips27 alRNA or averine monofling exceptions Hips27, and plated on polylysine. 24 h after plating, when the nearest had down or negregatized Higs27 levels, the nearest serie attainability with lamits for a further 24 (Chapter 3).

Objective 3: To investigate the importance of Hyp27 phosphorylation in neurite growth by depleting endogenous Hyp27 with sitKNA and over expressing engeness Hyp27 phosphorylation neurana. Hyp27 constructs ecocoling for Hyp27 with viscom mutations in phosphorylation stress. Hyp27 constructs (ecocoling for GP7 and the metale 1. Hyp27. Dissociated Depletion neurance stress devices for GP7 and the metale 1. Hyp27. Dissociated Depletion neurance stress devices devices with with the Hyp27 mutatic contracts and platest on polylysics eventight before being stimulated with whole luminin for 2 H. Using Immunocytochemist, contracted microscopy and NumberLint Entracy toware, neurite growth and pattering was assessed (Chapter 4).

Objective & To Monthly Hore is a link ketween BlogT absorbergation and actin dynamics. Abit DRG nearess were plated on laminin with a plantancockylation of H1927. Effect of the plantancological p38 MA/K inhibitor on inhibiting H1927 phrosphort(ultion at the \$15 and \$160 into was assessed by weitern bedring and F-actirl Gactin ratio were amened using a commercial in ratio wassy kas well as by measuring Fastimal G-actin between though extil heling and extended units and the second action ratio were assessed using a commercial in ratio wassy kas well as by measuring texture and the second theory extil heling and extended unitsource(Steps 5).

## Co-authorship statement

I, Kristy Williams, and he principle anther for all manuscripts that are contained within this thesis (chapters 2-5). However, each of these chapters has been co-adhered by supportive DF. K. M. Menow, and be research assistants Mrs. M. Rahmaha, and Ms. F. Nufar. The specific contributions of each authors to each manuscript in chapter 4 is below. Chapters 2 and 3 are publication and manuscripts, while the manuscript in chapter 4 is in preparation, and the manuscript in chapter 5 represents perlimitary data for studies to be continued in the Manuscripte the chapter 5 represents perlimitary data for studies to be continued in the Manuscripte.

Chapter 2, "High27 and anomal provide in adult sources presence in vision". As the principul author, I write the manuscript and participated in the experimental design and performed the importy of the experimental work and anamalysis for the complete analysis are well as the western betting experiments. Mrs. Rahmula provided technical analysis are well as the western betting experiments. Mrs. Rahmula provided technical analysis are well as the western betting experiments of chemical compounds. Dr. Maarow enflued the manuscript and was responsible for the experimental concept, design and overall papervision of the experiments, as well as carrying out some of the conflocal analysis.

Chapter 3, "Heat Shock Protein 27 Is involved in Neurite Extension and Branching of Dorsal Root Ganglion Neurons *In vitro*". As the principal author, I participated in the experimental design, wrote the manuscript and performed all experimental work and data analysis, and writing for the completion of this manuscript. Mrs. Rahimtha, provided technical anistance including animal distoction and preparation of chemical compounds. Dr Menrow provided externiors amounts of help with the experimental design and editing of the final dath of this manuscript.

Chapter 4 High27 photpherplation in involved in neurine growth in adult neurony neurons in vitro". As the principal anther, I participant in the experimental design and performed all appeniments avoid and analysis, and writing for the completion of this manuscript. Mrs. Rahimtala, and Ms. Nafar provided technical anistance including animal disocition and preparation of chemical compounds. Dr Manero participated in the operimental design correction and approaches of their manuscript.

Chapter 5 "thabilition of QNI MARK activity attenuates HigP27 phosphorylation and increases the Facetin / Gaesin ratio in DRG sources". As the principal author, 1 principalent in the experimental dooring and episone all a experimental work and data analysis, and writing for the completion of this manuscript. Mes. Rabintala, and Mo. Natar provided technical ansistance including animal dissection and preparation of chemical enougonals. Dr Maners participated in the experimental design, correction and improvement et this manuscript.
### Chapter 2

### Hsp27 and axonal growth in adult sensory neurons in vitro

(Published in BMC Neuroscience 2005, 6:24)

#### 2.1 Abstract

Background: Neurite growth can be elicited by growth factors and interactions with extracellular matrix molecules like laminin. Among the targets of the signalling pathways activated by these stimuli are cytoskeletal elements, such as actin, tubulin and neurofilaments. The cytoskeleton can also be modulated by other proteins, such as the small heat shock protein Hsp27. Hsp27 interacts with actin and tubulin in non-neuronal cells and while it has been suggested to play a role in the response of some neurons to injury, there have been no direct studies of its contribution to axonal regeneration. Results: I have investigated neurite initiation and process extension using cultures of adult dorsal root eanolion (DRG) sensory neurons and a laminin stimulation paradiom. Employing confocal microscopy and biochemical analyses I have examined localization of Hsp27 at early and later stages of neurite growth. Our results show that Hsp27 is colocalized with actin and tubulin in lamellopodia, filopodia, focal contacts, mature neurites and growth cones. Disruption of the actin cytoskeleton with cytochalasin D results in aberrant neurite initiation and extension, effects which may be attributable to alterations in actin polymerization states. Inhibition of Hsp27 phosphorylation in our cultures results in an atypical growth pattern that may be attributable to an effect of pHsp27 on the stability of the actin cytoskeleton.

Conclusion: Etherweit colocalization of the phosphosphorginal and non-phosphorginal forms of Hig-27 with actin and tabalin in both very early and later stages of rearing growth from cultured hard BOG anomen, The conclusion of Hig-27 and pHig-27 with actin in lamethopodia and focal contacts at early stages of neuring growth, and in processes, humds point and growth concess at later stages, suggests that Hig-27 may pHigin the insurchingments and subsequent neurine calcumba, and potentially in the putnetioning of this prosch. Hig-27 has pHig-28 and phig-28 with the Hig-27 may pHigol this prosch. Hig-29 has been reported to pHig-28 with the inneuring cytothetical dynamics as an actio-capping potein in non-menoral cells. Our results suggest that this may also be the case in sourcess and support a rate for Hig-27 in norther surgest-18 with inneuring low between the meta-end support and the first.

### 2.2 Background

Howe the various factors can influence and promote regeneration of peripheral axons. In addition to solidale factors (recurstophine, cytokines and other growth factors), the extracellular ensormed in which growth cores in critically important. Axonal regressmion does not occur to any great extent in the CNS, and while this is due to a number of factors, the most prominent in a non-permissive growth environment as well as an unavailability of appropriate growth promoting factors. In the PNS, on the other hands, replened anose thehous and sources) grammability regenerat quite well.

Growth factors and extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules like laminin act through cell surface receptors that activate often convergent signalling pathways to elicit neurite growth in sensory neurons (Tucker et al., 2005). Among the targets of these pathways are

the cytookeletal elements responsible for initiating and maintaining the structure of growing processes. Actin, tabular and intermediate (Ilaments all play a part in growth processes (As Silva and Dotti, 2002). Dehmelt and Halpain, 2008). Dhamele et al., 2008). There are also a variety of other molecules that interact with these components to modulate or protect the systukeletion from deletions stresses.

One class of molecules known to act as chaperones include the small heat shock protein family, of which heat shock protein 27 is a member. Hsp27, in addition to its roles in regulating apoptosis and protein folding, interacts with different cytoskeletal elements (Charette et al., 2000; Guay et al., 1997; Huot et al., 1996; Lavoie et al., 1995). Much of this work has been carried out using non-neural cells, particularly fibroblast and epithelial derived cells. Part of its protective role in stressed cells has been attributed to its actions as an actin-capping protein (Benndorf et al., 1994; Miron et al., 1991), Hsp27 has been reported to be a component of focal contacts, play an important role in smooth muscle contraction and be important for cellular migration in endothelial cells (Reviewed in Gerthoffer and Gunst, 2001). Rodent Hsp27 can be phosphorylated on 2 sites. Ser15 and Ser 86, although human Hsp27 has 3 serine phosphorylation sites (S15, S78 and S82) (Landry et al., 1992; Mehlen and Arrigo, 1994). MAPKAP-K2, via its activation by p38 MAPK, is reported to be the Hsp27 kinase, although there are reports that PKC a.8 and cAMP-dependent kinase can also phosphorylate Hsp27 (Bitar et al., 2002; Meier et al., 2001). In terms of its influence on actin, pHsp27 acts to promote actin polymerization and stress fibre formation. It also has a role in protecting or stabilizing the actin cytoskeleton, although this appears to depend upon the nature of the pHsp (Benndorf et

al., 1994; Guay et al., 1997; Lavoie et al., 1995). Monomeric and non phosphorylated Hsp27 inhibit actin polymerization *in vitro*, while phosphorylated monomers and non phosphorylated multimers have no effect on actin polymerization (Benndorf et al., 1994).

Prior reports and our own observations have suggested a note for 11927 in account growth or regeneration, in addition to its nole in promoting neuronal survival. J1927 Is in granulated after injust 1006 neurons in row and here dissociation in struct (Constign et al., 1998); Dodge and Mearow, surphilished observation). Other injust models have shown increases in Hug27 in Schwanne cells and while matter columns (Maradov et al., 2001a) and it has been speculated that Hug27 might be important in the neuronal endorganized structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the to a potential toke of Hug27 in account growth are the recent reports indicating that Hug27 and the related Hug27 are addetions are responsible for familial perpheral accompatibility (Comprised vel. 2004; Not et al., 2005).

In row models have been solely used to study the growth behaviour of nurrite initiation and extension in both CNS and peripheral measures. In many models, memorphan simulation is required for neurine growth, ablough in most of these models memorphanes are also required for anvival. Another widely used paradigms involves the atimulation of plated neurons with soluble lamitation executed lam marks preparational (e.g., Marking<sup>47</sup>), Mark with the infer inference instance (Bayy), Tay and Goldberg, 2000; Yu et al., 2001). This approach is particularly useful in manner DRG memory, here not all cells will respond to a given neurotophane (for example, NGT). Requires 6.0 Marks meets formation is existed to any engreent the secret guered target that can be identified including the formation of Jamellopodia, filopodia, and the eventual emergence of fimmature neurities with growth cones (da Silva and Detit, 2002; Dehmelt and Halpain, 2004). The cellular mechanisms responsible for these behaviours are not fully checidated.

In one enhances of abilt DRG neurons, particularly in neurisc, networks and distribution of HipQT in dissociated DRG neurons, particularly in neurisc, networks and growth cores. These observations, along with the reported role of HipQT in notating spokedecies in other cells types, led, out to investigate the potential role of HipQT in interacting with cytotacketal elements in different stages of neurise initiation and extension. Our hypothesis was that HipQT associates with the cytokacletan in memors and plays a key role in regulating of fine-tuning the observed ability of the cells to initiate and extension.

### 2.3 Results

#### 2.3.1 Laminin induces several identifiable stages of neurite initiation and growth

In order to investigate stages of neutric initiation and aubexpent proved, 1 employed a lamitim stimulation paradigm. As these neurons are adult, they do not require any added tuejbic licents for their arrival, and iterations neither XPG are any other neurotrophin was required to initiate growth in these experiments. Similar stimulation experiments using limition or maring have been carried out using sympathetic neurons (Mugniter et al., 1907).

Neurons were dissociated and plated on poly-lysine coated 16-well slides and allowed to adhere overnight (approx 18 h). Subsequently, the plating medium was removed and 50 ul of medium containing soluble laminin (40 ug/ml) was added to the cells. Control wells consisted of mock stimulation (e.g., removal and replacement of laminin-free medium). Cells were fixed at 5, 15, 30 min and 1, 6 and 24 h after stimulation and subsequently processed for detection of actin, tubulin and Hsp27. Various distinctive stages in neuronal membrane expansion and neurite growth were observed and are summarized in Figure 2.1. One of the first steps is the appearance of a membranous expansion either around the whole soma or only from a particular portion of the cell body (A. 5 min). These lamellae are positively stained for actin (using phalloidin). Within 15-30 min, small sprouts extend from the lamellae and there are clear examples of focal contacts forming around the periphery of a lamellopodium (B, C, arrows). At later time points (1-6 h) some of the sprouts have elongated into filopodia and often have small growth cones associated with them (D, 1 h; E, 6 h). Subsequently, neurites form and some are selected for extension by a process that is not well characterized (F, 24 h).

## 2.3.2 Hsp27 colocalizes with actin and tubulin in the early stages of process initiation

Based on our hypothesis that Hsp27 may play a role in process initiation or neurite growth, I examined the localization of Hsp27 in neurons in various stages of process formation using immunocytochemistry and confocal microscopy. Here, examples

Figure 2.1: Laminin stimulation effeits lamethopolia and process formation in adult sensory access. DRG neuroso placed on polybies were simulated with luminin in solution for 5 min, 15 min, 10 min, 1 h, 6 h, 24 h. After fraction, neurons were stained with rhodunine-pholiadin to detect actic and image obtained using confocal microscopy. Panels A-F provide representative examples of the various stages of lamethopodia formation and eventant process portraision, and show varioon distinctive stages in neuronal membrane expansion and neuring growth. At the earliest stages, lamethopodia to format (-6 - 5 min, B - 15 min, -5 min) with evidence of focal contacts (arrows) at the leading edge of the lamethopodian (0, C). In D (1) and E (6 h) filepodia begin to portraide from the lamethopodian sound the circumference of the neuron. Eventually, these processes appear to coalesse into one or more neurists that outcomine to extend (-2 A Jamess). State bur - 20 m.



of the different stages as defined in the previous section (e.g., humelinpodia, fical contacts, neurine emergence) were selected from cells stimulated with laminin for 1 to e 6 h to Addito, because the association of Hog7 with action and hubits in non-convent cells (Aquino et al., 1996; Kindao-Murge et al., 2002; Liang and MacRae, 1997; Moonier and Arrigo, 2002; Punssenko et al., 2003; Pichon et al., 2004; Teesier et al., 2003; Tormasovie et al., 1999; J also examined whether Hog7 would colocalize with action and/or hubits in neurons. Representative results are presented in Figure 2.2; Players 2.2. And D how action (e) in constat primits (merous) located at the periphyry of a lamellopodium at one end of the neuron in A and around the circumference of the lamellung function in D. Figure 2.2. H and 2.21; show the corresponding images for Hog27 (green). The merged images (Figure 2.2.F) show that Hog27 and axin appear to be colocalized in fice atomets.

In Figures C4., the cells were contained with antibotic for Phy27 (green) and total abodin (red). The neuron in Figure 2.2G and 2.21 is beginning to show progress from the insuffit target shows the formation of the malf floopdu (1, 4, arws). Tabufui staining shows some concentration in the cortical area (1, large arrowhead) and floopdu (1, arrow), although there are areas where there is fittle or no overlap with Hop2 staining (4), sull arrowhead). The neuron shows in Figure 2.21 and 2.21, displays a pattern that was seen consistently in several different experiments, with colocalization of tabulin and Hop2 are cortical area (arrow) and the emergence of a more discrete process (1-1, arrowhead).

Figure 2.2: Hop? or-bacelites with actis and haldin at early steps of acurity growth. Narrow sere pland on polyhysice and stimulated with haminin for 1–6. h. Following fluction, neurons were labelled with rhodmin-polarishim (nod-A, D) or immunotatined with attabledic affected gainst total hadin (nod –C, D) the PH27 (green H. E, H, K.). Images were obtained with confectal microscopy and panels C, F, H, L represent the mergal images of the single channel images. Nate colocalizations of Hug27 and actin in the handlingodium (A-C, grows) and in fact contact observed in D-F forws). In panels Cd, chore is some colocalization of the similar for thation and Hug27 in the cortical area (norws, H.) as well as in an obvion precess futures to be areaping much the end fing transformed as in a bovion precess futures to be areaping around here all of find type starting around action. (J, Sacelito =-2) and



# 2.3.3 Phosphorylated Hsp27 is also localized with actin and tubulin at the early stages of process formation

High27 can be phosphorylated on 2-sites of rat Hig27 (set)5 and set R(b), and this phosphorylation is reported to be important in the noise Hord Tayo27 in its interactions with state (Mowine and Arbity, 2002). Using an antibody that recognizes Hig27 phosphorylated on the set35 site (pHig27 <sup>101</sup>, ABR), I contained resons at carly stages (as defined above) of process formation for pHig27 and axis (Fig 2.3A and 2.3F) and pHig27 and hubbini (Fig 2.3G and 2.3L). Actin (A, D) and pHig27 (B, E) show overlap phosp2 and hubbini (Fig 2.3G and 2.3L). Actin (A, D) and pHig27 (B, E) show overlap the humble/hubbini corrow and in fixed caroactic strume, DFA Hubbine, this is not complete, as noted by the exclusion of the pHig27 from the leading edge of the lumelikopolating (arrow, B, C). Tushufini (Fig 2.3C) and pHig27 (Fig 2.3L)K) ato colocalitor in fixed caratactic and, Fig. 3.

## 2.3.4 Colocalization of Hsp27 and cytoskeletal elements in neurites and growth cones at later stages of neurite growth and extension

Our initial observations indicated that the majority of adult DBG reasons in collarse display robust expressions of High27, not only in the cell backies hat immughout the monther when present. High27 expression in sense yearses cell backies can well an dendrificit ad anomit networks has been previously respond for in vice expression (Hum et al., 2002; Consigns et al., 1998; Himmer et al., 1997), In the present make), Infuriter examined this distribution, previously majorized for in strone expression with strong hardware. Figure 2.3 (Http27 also cs-localizes with actin and turbin tar early stage of acoustic growth. Nearows plated on polylysize and similated with laminist for 1–6 by ear also immunotation with area balance interpretations of the physical target 20 (Http27<sup>104</sup>) to examine exhemization with area the entropy. The projective marged mages are presented in panels C, F, I, L. Artin and pHip27 appear to be colocalized in the body of the lamitlengdomin in A-C, but cains sense to be colocalized in the body of the lamitlengdomin in A-C, but cains sense to be colocalized from the landing educ (move). There is also localization of pHip27 and actin in fixed contacts (D-F, arrows), pHip27 also colocalizets with hadmin in facel contacts (D-F, arrows), a cortical ring (morehead) and in moves ense energy from the effols of L, arrows, has a cortical ring (morehead).



Rather than using the soluble laminis timulation paradigm employed in the experiments canning analy events, in these experiments 1 plated the neurons directly onto laminiscound alloka and then of the clurines 2.1 At harping ling. I have previously reported that when adult DRG neurons are columed on surfaces coated with diluted growth factor-free Matrigit, or mannia, a relatively high preventings of the neurons display significant amount of neuritor cognetion by 3.9 A that prelative flows et al. 2003.

Figure 24AF above representative neurons statistic for a statist (c, D) and pHor27 (d)) or Hsp27 (d)) with the merged images displaying colocalization (c, F). The bottom purposes how statistic field tabeling (G), pHor27 (d)) and Hsp27 (s) a

I also noted that the Hsp27 and pHsp27 were strongly colocalized in growth cones, further supporting an important role for Hsp27 not only in neurite initiation but also continued neurite extension. Figure 2.5 presents typical growth cones seen in the

Figure 2.4: Hip27 continues to be expressed and localized with cytoskeletal elements in neurons and neurotic networks. In these experiments, neurons were plated on laminin (no added neurotrophins) and Figure 2.4 after plating. As shown in the images, many sensors: edited in the starting moving growth under these conditions. A-2: Neurons were labelled with rhodamine-phallicaliti (A, D, red), and immunostationd for pH1p27 (B, growt) and Htp27 (B, growt), C, P. merged images, C-H. Neurons were immunostation for lubulin (G, growt), A, red), pH1p27 (B, Htp27 (B, growt), L, L. merged images, Htp27 and Ph1p27 are expressed throughout the neuristic network, and there is colocalization of these with actin (C, F) and less so with thatlin (L1). Note the accumulation of pH1p27 and Htp27 are point of transching of neuristic (arrowsheads-D, C, E, F, H, LK, L). The certical colocalization of hubdin with pH1p27 and Htp27 is still evident at this starg or forming growt (arrows -L1). Sack here: -D am.



Figure 25: Co-localization of Hgs72 and tabilitis in growth ceases of growing neurline. Growth ceases from measures pitted on lamitins as outlined for Figure 2.4 sever observed to express table pittegPT and Hgs72 pittegPT (A) and Hgs72 (C), End, shown together with hadrain (green-yellow) in the merged images (B, D, F), are present in growth cease and filtpodus extending from the growth ceases (grows). There is also an assumption in the over of proveh ocease and growth ceases and waveload the state of the growth cease and growth ceases A-F). Note that the tabularis stating does not completely overlap with pittgr27 or Hgs27, particularly in some of the extending filtpodus (growth cadesets) in D.F. Growthodd, Sache ber = 1000.



cultures described advers. Different types of growth cones were observed with pHip27 (A, B) and Hipp27 (C-F) being present in the core (anowhead) of more expanded growth onces as well as in the filopodia (anows). The growth cones in Figure 2-5C, F resemble the branch points noted in Figure 2-4, with an accumulation of an Hipp27 core and filopodia showing both Hip27 and tabulat (noregal images in D and F; tabulin, green and Hipp27, red.) While the significance of this localization is not entirely clear, it is possible that one role of Hip27 is to stabilize the cytotacheton at these points where branching may occur (see blows).

# 2.3.5 Disruption of actin cytoskeleton with cytochalasin D results in aberrant neurite growth

Hip327 has been suggested to play a kay role in modulating actin cytoakeload dynamics by acting as an actio-apping protein. In order to understand the role of Hip327 in neutric growth I devided to recamine the effects of disrupting the actin cytoakeloan integrity using cytoakelanism (CytO): Neurone very falsed in minimized south alleles and CytO are added to the medium 3 h post-plating Cg abd final concentration). Cultures were fixed 32 h latter and examined for changes in neurite growth patterns and expression of Hip527 and action enables.

Representative examples of the effects of CytD on neurons are presented in Figure 2.6. There was no discernible distinction between different sizes of neurons in their response to CytD, mutil, medium and large sized neuron displayed atypical process formation. Compared to the usual patterns of neuricit growth (if; 2.4), neurons treated Figure 2.6. Elimitation of the startic sytuchetan results in abservant searche growth. Nourous plated on LN were recard with cytochasian D C andM, adda J ha ther platings, field J ha harm adminish of pelapor 2(R, H), highey 2(R, K), acids (A). Die orbehalten (G, J). The respective merged images are presented in parels: A, F, indi L. The cytochashian D reatment resulted in various atypical patterns of growth. One phenotype was the claboration of numerous processes or miscrophese as seen in practice. A, with obvious communition effattion and physical patterns of growth. One phenotype was the claboration of numerous processes or miscrophese as seen in practice. A second process extension was also observed. In the machines (B, C, arrow). Absormal process extension was also observed. In the machines (D, C, arrow). Absormal process extension was now bease colocalization of actin with the Hopp 7 (arowsheak). Pred shift, which will also growthese the Pplacy 2 results (P) and Philier numers of the cytochectent network. In cleaner in these camples (arows). Arrowsheaks points to atypical neuring process, e.g., haking the usual realist hearching patterns as seen in Fig. 4. Scale bar = 20 pm.



with CyD showed aberrul growth (Fig 2.6) including multiple processes emerging from the cell body (A-C), as well as stand and discrpanized neurins (D-L), the cell displeyed in Figure 240, Cell, the process show accoundiator of star (neily on gal Php27 (green) in their tips (arrowheads). Another example (D-F) shows several neurins that appears how a discrpanized internal metature resulting in the lack of the normal artical neurine extension and branching (arrowheads). In these examples, I used an articley significant start, mether haphalidadis, in order to see total actios. In the bottom method Figure 24, two more examples are presented showing tubulin (green, G and J), pHp27 (ref. H) and Hp27 (red. K) and the composeding mergad images (L), L3. The cytoskettom is more appearent in these latter examples, where the tubulin (and Hp27) stating is edury (Helltar in nature (greensy), Agais, the discognized and looping growth of neurotrus is appearent (greensback). Ja parks A-F, the action antibody recipites total actin, to even though CyD should dimpet the F-action network, the antihody still detects Grantin.

#### 2.3.6 Inhibition of Hsp27 phosphorylation also results in aberrant neurite growth

Because of the reported role of Htpg27 phosphorytation in modulating the actin cycludelense, 14 winder to determine the effects of inhibiting p18 MAYK, p38 MAYK within black the phosphorytation and artistration of MAYK-MX-SA that are an Htpg27 kinnse (Date et al., 1995; Larsen et al., 1997), Inhibitism of p3MAAFK activity has been used to block phosphorytation at Htpg27 in the absence of direct ahibits of MAYKA-MX-L. There mused a combination of 2 commercisity available g3M MAYK.

inhibitors (SB, SB203580 and SB202190, 10 µM each) to investigate the potential contribution of phosphorylated Hsp27 to neurite growth.

I limitally dotumined whether the inhibitors were effective in preventing Hug27 phosphorylation. Using larger scale enhances, means were plated on LN-conted 2-well plates and the 7.5 htt scale scale

Having determined that the inhibitors had the expected effects on pHsp27, I then plated the neurons on laminin-context slides as for the previous experiments, and treated the cultures with SB 3 h after plating, fixed the cells 24 h later and carried out immonstaining for Plat27. Hzb27, action and thublin as before.

Network treated with SB displayed durity applied another growth observed, as with presented are representative of the various patterns of neurity growth observed, as with the CyO treatment, where was no discereable distinction between different size of neurons in their response to SB, small, medium and large sized neurons displayed abornary process formation. In the neuron shown in Figure 23 AC, the neuritic energies abornary more set of the strength or the distinction of the strength or the more strength or the strength or the distinction of the strength or the strength of the dist of the strength or the distinction of the strength or the strength or the strength or the strength or the distinction of the strength or the strength or the strength or the strength or the distinction of the strength or the

Figure 2.7: p3M MAFK aithlifeline blocks phosphoryfation of Hug27. Neurons pland on laminis were exposed to p38 MAFK inhibitors, \$12025503 and \$12027190 (101 mM eds.). CHU were sampled a 24 h port \$18 addition, using cellular auditationation (ardescribed in the Mhodosh). The resulting protein from cytosic, membrane, nuclear and cytokitetion functions was electrophorecal and the bloc aubraparetty probed for pHug27 and Hug27, hubbition of p38 MAFR activity (laminis-\$30) results in attenuation of the Hug27 phosphorytoxino.



undergo appropriate extension. Another common observation was the appearance of relatively short but filteneed and expanded processes and growth cones. The example in figure 20.05 is statisfic for hublin (0), growth and Hig2T (0), req.), where warmped image (P) showing the discognized nature of the cytoxidetial elements (arrows). In this example, note that tabelin closes not have complete everlap with hgc2T staining, methodolarity at the trans.

In haddion, some neuron diploped extensive neuritir growth, although this was again generally characterized by flattmod and expanded processes and growth cores. Figure 2.9 presents only an exangle. This structure has it test 7.4 preserves extending from the cell body, all of which show process expansion. In panels A-C, Hay27 (red) can clearly be denoved colocalized with tubulin (growt) in the processes emerging from the cell body (growthad). In Figure 220(2), tagger magnification of the area governly world by the arearcheads in A-C is shown. Here the gelaying of the growth cores (carrows) and loss of systocheadla hundling is more apparent (growthad); compare processes observed in Figure 2.4 et 2.5 which as Figure 2.000.

Theoremults suggest that attonuation of the phosphorylation of Hyd72 on how adverse effects on the nearlise cycludelaton, similar to those observed with Cy LD. Ablondy on assumption function of previous reports in the literatury is that the SD compounds block p38 MAPK activity, its downstream effects on MAPKAP-K2 and the subsequent hibbition of Hyd72 phosphorylation, it is possible that there compounds may nee or due rability similarizes, or that they may be infimationing be excludeded

Figure 23: Alterrant service growth following labilitions of Hig27 phosphorylation. Nonrow plated on laminin were treated with p38 MAPK inhibitons (SR20358) and SR20209, 10, 104 Area (Andel 3 J. http://altingia.utf.fma/24.b. http://alter.Representative results are presented. Some means showed advariate extension, with meanies werpping around the cell body, such as the example in patch A-C prevehends, A, tubulin, B, Hig27, C, mergal image). In another example, innumcous processes were observed, hare these terminated in large, filteristical and uplayed growth creates, an showing inpatch D-F (ho ubulin, E, Hig27, F, mergal image). The filterial and the filter SR27 (E, arrows) and tubulin (D, arrows). In oridizer and the tims of cohealization with tubulin are also apprent (F, arrows). Also note that there is not a complete overlap of Hig27 and tubulin at the first of the growth core (F, arrowslead), Stab – 20 am.



Figure 2.5: Educated growth enses and processes show co-localization of tachalia and Hop2.7. This figure shows another example of a sensors instand with the p3N AMPA inhibitors in outlined in Figure 8. Colocalization of Hop2 (0, red) with hadrain (A, growt) in apprent in the outerging processor (c), reaves), and the fittering and a played growth enset (A, C, arrawhealth); such ther =50 µm. At a higher magnification (D-F), loss of micrombulk hundling in observed queroshoad along with the fittering name of Hup27 and colocalization with hundling involves, starts have -50 µm.



elements through actions not involving Hsp27. While our data show that the SB compounds do inhibit phosphorylation of Hsp27.1, tannot completely rule out effects on other signalling components, although at the concentrations I have used, the effects are protored to be specific for 398 AMPK habition, nother than worther additional kineses.

#### 2.4 Discussion

I donn'he entry events in adult DRG neuron presens formation in response to stimulation with the extracellular matrix protein luminia. Our data show that Hp221 appears to associate und hasti and hubblinis instructures found and lategos of neurite initiation. Lamellopodia, filopodia, microspikes and focal contacts all displayed a colocalization of Hp272 and action to thublin. The filamentous nature of the Hp270 was quite close in insurities and governing the hypothesis that Hp271 is associing with typothedial elements.

Our results are similar to those described provisoly for neutrine growth initiation and process extension in embryonic cultured CNS meanses. Culture mates of a early neutringennia verse in hypocampin lawares may neutrino a strateging of the among different end the initiation culture and the strateging of the among different end types and labeled events in meanses are very similar to hose in impartly firebolasm, the disk and LNM, injpes a disk based DNA, 2005, DDMenter et al., 2003). The cells attach and are any any disk based and disk by Dometer and 2003). The cells attach and are any endowed by a thin lanellapodam from which small externions upper. These extension of them here growth consean diskiply dynamic backs.

others remain stationary or retract. All the stages described by DaSilva and Dotti (2002) and Dehmelt and Halpain (2005) could be identified in our cultures of adult DRG neurons, suggesting that this process is intrinsic to all neurons.

Nemeria promusion requires the action systakation, with humelhopduk heing filled with an actin meshwok necessary for the appropriate sub-the install file-odds having actin humelhow with the project grant grant of the systam of the systam state shown that actin polymetrizes at the loading edge of the lamethopdia, 2004. Cality and Lebrane and exceedes from the peripheral area (Mohent and Halpain, 2004; Cality and Lebrane 1003). This photenomes influences graves those absence and could heigh play a role in neurise initiation as well. Microtabules may play a mechanical role in this since they imrade the actin systakations in Manfilopolia of various cell projec (ds SNn and Deti). 2007; Pethodes and Historia, 2004; Calit and Lebranes, 2004; China and Detti, 2007; Pethodes and Historia, 2004; Calita and Lebranes, 2004; China and Detti, 2007; Pethodes and Historia, 2004; Calita and Lebranes, 2004; China and Detti, 2007; Pethodes and Historia, 2004; Calita and Lebranes, 2004; China and Detti, 2007; Pethodes and Historia, 2004; Calita and Lebranes, 2004; China and Detti, 2007; Pethodes and Historia, 2004; Calita and Lebranes, 2004; China and Detti, 2007; Pethodes and Historia, 2004; Calita and Lebranes, 2004; China and Lebra, 2004; Petholes and Historia, 2004; Calita and Lebranes, 2004; China and Lebranes,

In end free navey systems, Hey27 can act as an actic capting protein which prevents the polymerization of actin and the assembly of F-actin (Remderf et al., 1944; Monor at.), 1949). Pseuphorylation of Hig27 leads to the loss of a lability to inhibit actin polymerization, and thus increases the rate and extert of actin polymerization and the formation of F-actin (Remderf et al., 1994; Landy and Hoat, 1996; Jupyel et al., 1995; Miron et al., 1991). In addition to mobilizing the actin-cycloadeston, Hig27 minutes: which the seconditionests and microtubels in a phosphorylation-deepender manner (Der Perng and Quinlan, 2004; Perng et al., 1994). Hig27 has been inferred to stabilize net only actin, but also neurofilament and microtubele (Mounier and Arrigo, 2002).

Phophopylation of Hipd? promises the polymerization of actin and arters filter formation (Benndorf et al., 1994; Gauy et al., 1997; Hoot et al., 1998); Hog? In phophopylated on 3 resists in the human Hipd? (SLS, SLS, SLS, SL) and Line the other Hipd? (SLS and SLS in mose or 590 in humater Hipd?). Hipd? In untreased cells exists as large olignmers, while upon phophopylation Hipd? alsocietas in smaller species, including dimension of mosoners (Lambert et al., 1999; Rose et al., 1994). In cell free surges, the unphophopylation momosers of Higd? Mocked and molyburstican, while the unphosphorplated olignmers and the phophopylated monomeric from were ineffective. While the evidence based primatly on structural tables supports a role for phophopylation of Higd? In stabilization of the actin cytokeletts, a recent study has provided their functioneric levices that the structure of study in a structural tables to a 2004).

High27 shoupherplation in equilated by activity of the p3MAMK pathway, whereby p3K MAPK activation of MAPK kinne-activated proteins kinnes 22 (MAPKAP-KAPKAP-KAPKAP- activation of MAPKAP- kinne-activated proteins kinnes 22 (MAPKAP-KAPKAP-High27 in smooth muscle (Butt et al., 2001; Maliels et al., 1998), Buble the clussical stress-activated signalling gathway activation of p3M MAPK regulates High27 after bacardistress activation of PAM valid to activate the stress activation of p3M MAPK is downstream of the C&e42 and Ras activation of PAM Valid to activate the clussical exactly langer that the stress of PAM valid to activate the stress activation of PAM Valid KapKaPK activation and High27 after bacarperioxinaly repeated for Schwamz end (Lingragoo et al., 2003), and thin is High2y in CAearpreviously repeated for Schwamz end (Lingragoo et al., 2003), and thin is High2y in CAearpreviously repeated for Schwamz end (Lingragoo et al., 2003), and thin is High2y in CAeArtips, 2020, Given the role of Rac and Rio in regulating actin dynamics in growth comes and the observation that hishhilton of Rao presentes around growth on ishibitory biothetics (Elizameri al. 2020; Lehramor et al. 1999), the interactions of Hap72 with Rio observed in smooth muscle cells (Puil et al., 2004; Puil et al., 2004; Wang and Bian; 1998) suggests an intriguing impraya among these components. Whether a similar interaction cere run resource or atom in its theorem.

Treatment of neurons with agents that disrupt the actin cysoladeten result in absents treated in bilation and growth. Neurons treated with Cy1 D, which cape existing a distribution of the comparison of the comparison of the comparison of the comparison of a discognition of the comparison of a discognition of the comparison of the comp

Since CyD tasks to cap harder datin filaments and non-pilophorytated Hig27 has here suggested to do the same, I reasoned that if pilog27 was important for normal neurise initiations and exemsion, (II inhibited the phosphorytation of Hig27 I might observe similar effects on normalic initiation, As aboves in our results, attenuation of Hig27 phosphorytation using the p3MAAPK inhibitore, does indeed result in stypical growth patterns. At the early stages, results were similar to what I had observed with Cyt D (data not shown), and at later stages, neurine growth was again quite clearly abernal (Fig2.2.2.9.). Since more showed neurist instead to varga amount the cell source are

extend in a discrimente dinkion. Another comisiner characteristic of the relatively short precesses that did extend was the fluttened and splicyed nature of the neurines and growth oncess. There appeared to be a lick of the appropriate actin and microtabulte hundling that would result in mercand neurine extension and growth core dynamics (e.g., compare Fig 2.4, 2.5 with Fig 2.6 and 2.8) (Dehmet and Halpain, 2004; Callo and Leisurneau, 2006). Have inferred that effects of 758 MAPK hibbition on neurine growth were due to the inhibition of H1p07 photopulstion. A similar inhibition of neurine infinition by 58 has been reproted in FC21 cells (Kasse et al., 2005), interestingly, in this study induction of H1p27 by heat shock promoted neuringenesis. However, there may be effects on other cytoskettal elements. Acketey et al. (2004) have reproted that p18 MAPK, also phosphorylates neurofilaments in transfered COS cells, although they dd not find any effect of p3 MAPK habition mound/machines.

There are relatively few reports of the interaction of Hup27 with cytoskeletal elements other than actin. Hup27 associances with microbables in He1a cells (for et al., 2000) and in CHO cells (Hargie et al., 2004), in the hatter report, overeapression of Hup27 protects microbables from heat shock and pH-induced collapse, although the contribution of pH2p27 to this effect was not reported Hargies (res.) 2003).

pHsp27 also appears to be required for the migration of several cell types (Hedges et al., 1999; Pichnet et al., 2006; Fistowskiez et al., 1998; Rossenau et al., 1997). A recent study concluded that p38MAPK iscinstion and Hsp27 phosphorylation played a key role in the regulation of actin polymerization, possibly by regularing the spatial organization of the lamdibeodie by promoting banch formation at the leading dege and stability at the
base (Pickon et al., 2004). They suggest that at the dynamic leading edge of lamellopodia, Hip27 might premote branching by its actin-capping activity, while at the base p33MAPK remains active and Hip27 is phosphorylated and might stabilize actin filaments.

Matteriors of the small He (1922) and 1923/227 (1984) Series have been liked: to scored Charcot Mario Tooh discuss and disal herediary motor nearopathy (dBMN) (Ggmbor et al., 2004), bible et al., 2004). This appears to be related to discinguist of the neurofilament networks by the aggregation of neurofilament proteins and collapse of neurofilament networks (bypath et al., 2004). This study and recent commutation (top memory and Quidina, 2004; E and La 2004), Dipoint to the importance of the small best shock proteins like Hep71 in replating or modulating the function of cytosketal determin of the material scenarily end waves in meana (eds).

Our results suggest that Hup27 is necessary for the initiation of neurite outgrowth in DRG neurons. The data also suggest that phosphorylation of Hup27 plays a key role in modulating the dynamic interactions of Hup27 with cytoskeletal elements such as actin and tabulin to regulate the response of DRG neurons to environmental cues that mediate growth.

#### 2.5 Conclusion

Using immunocytochemistry, I observed colocalization of the phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated forms of Hsp27 with actin and tubulin in both very early and later stages of neuring growth from caltured adult DRG memores. The colocalization of Hyp27 and pHp27 with actin in lumellopedia and fixed contacts at early neurine initiation stages, and in processes. These hypothese and fixed contacts at early neurine initiation of this growth. While the mechanisms of action require further investigation, it is possible that one role of Hip27 is to is stabilizer the cytotacketom is photerial tails on for-achieving or photos provides the stabilizer the cytotacketom is modulating actin cytotacketal dynamics as an actio-capping protein in non-neuronal cells and cor results suggest that this may also be the case in mecune. Neurons treated with cytotachatian I baseed alternant neuring growth patterns. Neurons treated with cytotachatian I baseed alternant neuring growth patterns. Neurons treated with cytotachatian I baseed alternant neuring growth patterns. Neurons treated with cytotachatian I baseed alternant neuring growth patterns. Neurons treated with cytotachatian I baseed alternant neuring proteophysision of H427, and onlappoint effect heak of neuring growth or fullers of appropriate neuring extension. The similar results from the CytD and inhibition to (Hyt27) brophosylation may be protein the for H427 in neurine angrowth via its photophorylation starts and with neuring.

#### 2.6 Methods

#### 2.6.1 Neuronal cultures

Dorsal root ganglia (DRG) from young adult (5-6 wk) Sprague-Dawley rats (Memorial University of Newfoundland Vivarium and Charles River Canada, Montreal, OC) were dissected and dissociated using modifications to techniques described previously (Jones et al., 2003; Mearow et al., 2002). Briefly, ganglia from all spinal levels were removed and the roots trimmed, and subsequently incubated in 0.25% collagenase for 45 min. followed by 0.25% trypsin for 20 min (Invitrogen/ Gibco BRL, Burlington, Ont). Dissociated neurons were suspended in serum-free Neurobasal medium (NB, Invitrogen) supplemented with 100 U penicillin/streptomycin, B27 supplement (Invitrogen), and 20 µM cytosine arabinoside (modified NB). This suspension was then lavered on top of a 28% Percoll solution (Amersham Bioscience, Baie d'Urfe, OC) in 15 ml conical tubes, centrifuged at 400 g for 20 min at room temperature. Pellets were then carefully extracted with a sterile pasture pipette, placed in a fresh tube, washed with the previous suspension media and centrifuged to remove any remaining Percoll, Neurons were plated in Lab-Tek 16-well chamber slides (Nunc International, Naperville, NC) for neurite growth assessment or 12-well plates for Western blotting and incubated at 37°C, 95% Os and 5% COs. Slides and culture plates were coated with poly-lysine (PL 1 us/ml, BD Bioscience, Bedford, MA) or laminin, (LN, 20-40 ug/ml, Invitrogen) where appropriate. The neurons were cultured in modified serum-free NB alone with no added growth factors.

#### 2.6.2 Immunocytochemistry

Nerrow were fixed in the grandemaldabyle (plf 1-7,4) in PIBS for 20 minutes, premembilized with 0.1%; Tritow-X-100 and blocked with 2% nerround gust serum in PIBS. Altholides: used were a follows: High? (2% AVA). Bersumpt Crop, Versierin, BC) and photphe-High?<sup>271</sup> (PA-101, Affinity BioReagents, Golden, CO), total tabulin (Signa-Aldrich, Sc. Lonis, MO), actin (Signa-Aldrich). It should be noted that the High? Attabuly recognizes both the non-photphorphoralized and photphoryteal High??, while the pHigh? antibody recognizes the photphoryhand form. I have also totated two other pHigh? antibodue [101 and Static Crus, see (Measure et al., 2023), but have found the Alfrikhy Bioreagnizes that both we have four for humonocalization.

Cells were included with the primary authodies at 4°C for 16–20 h, followed by Q2 or Q5-stagged secondary antibodies (Jakokan Immunoreasth Lub, Wea Corres, PA), howene preferences, cells were another obtain chadming and antibody incubation (Sigma Akkrish). The cells were coveral/paped with a dycerol and imaged with confocal larse rearring microscopy using z-stags seaming and image stacking. Stacked digital images were imported into Adobe Photoshop for compliation in the fund compute figures.

### 2.6.3 Laminin stimulation and neurite growth initiation

Neurite initiation was assessed in two ways. The first series of experiments employed neurons plated on laminin-coated slides, with the cells being fixed and analyzed for outgrowth parameters (lamellopodia, filopodia and neurite initiation and extension) at 24 h after plating. In a second series of experiments, the neurons were first plated on polyphine coards differs and allowed to stabilize overnight prior to being stimulated with soluble luminin (20 µginl in huan medium). Following the addition of the luminin solution, cells were then fixed at 5, 15, 30 min, 1 k, 6 k, and 24 h. After fixeds, eith sever immunostation and analyzed as described above.  $\sim$ 

#### 2.6.4 Inhibitor experiments

SB 201940 and SB 202190 (10 Adv. Calischem/MDB Biosciences, San Diego, CA) were used to isshibi p3B AdvPK activity, in order to assess the contribution of hypothepoteptical Biographics were added 2-3 h after plating the erth on laminine-control alclos and retained in the molitam for the extern of the experiment (assaulty 24 h), Cystochasian D (2 d)A. Signation was also used in longer term experiment, and was added 3 h after patient and molitam for the molitam for the sets of the experiment (2 h).

### 2.6.5 Immunoblotting

For Western analyses, neurons were planed in 12-well planes that had been could with polyhysine alone or with laminis, depending on which experimental paradigm was used (or en dows), Neurons were indexequently proceed according to oratal distribution of the state of the state of the state of the state of the procedures (hones et al., 2003; Mearow et al., 2003). Cellular fractionation was carried out ming a subscribtlar protein extraction kit (ProtoceLanet, CalischernHMD) Brockenerses, San Derson, Chi is indire constantis, membrane, meter and extoad-tent

134

fractions: This protocol involves suspectial indication of these fractions using specific hulfer systems (prepricture), as applied by the manufactures to lyse cells in suita in the time calture place. Subsequently, protion constraintions were detormined for the fractions using the BCA protein assay (Pierze Chemicata, Rockford, IL.). Expiratem annount of protein (40 gg protein) were loaded in each Inac. Following transfer to intercellulue, the block were first statules with Potwarea. Red to assess protein loading, and subsequently protoed with the fullowing antibodies: phospha-ling/2<sup>2711</sup> (PAA)66, Altitisy Binesquencia) and 14p27 (29A)401, Strengench, BAA's were cut and reprobed sequentially, and visualized with ECL reagents (PAS2, Bonton, MA) and exposers to Xplin (Crosen-MEP Carbanies, AgiC acq, Generaville, SC). Developed films were undersquently digitized and deminemerically analyzed with a cyclone Chemilhager and AlphaBare otherare. Digital images of the block were and male composite figures (A) addeb Photohoger (A).

#### 2.7 Acknowledgements

Funding for this work was through an NSERC Discovery grant (KMM). The authors thank Dr. Daniel MacPhee, Elaine Dodge, Sherri Rankin and Budd Tucker for their invaluable assistance and discussion.

#### Chapter 3

# Heat Shock Protein 27 Is Involved in Neurite Extension and Branching of Dorsal Root Ganglion Neurons *In vitro*

(Published in Journal of Neuroscience Research 2006, 84:716-723)

## 3.1 Abstract:

Alternion of the cyclokelene in response to growth factors and extracellular matrix proteins in necessary for nearing proved. The cycloakeled components such an extra and bubbles mere solution of the cycloakeled components and the including the small heat shock protein. High27, Orit previous work suggested that High27 influences such growth, potentially via its phosphorylation take interactions with and compared to the High27 and to ever expressed exagences High27. Downserghetic endergrowth High27 and over expressed exagences High27. Downserghetic endergrowth High27 and over expressed exagences High27. Downserghetic endergrowth High27 and over expressed exagences High27 in these resulted in an interaction excession of ecogenous High27 in these senses resulted in an interaction in contract, expression and ecogenous High27 in these senses resulted in an interaction in the relative has the matching. Collectively these results demonstrate that High27 may play a sole in neutritic growth via modulation of the acit excludences.

#### 3.2 Introduction

Neurite growth can be elicited through growth factors and extracellular matrix molecules acting via cell surface receptors to activate convergent signaling nathways that result in modulation of cytoskeletal elements (Giancotti and Tarone, 2003: Tonge et al., 1997: Tucker et al., 2005). Regulation of the microtubule and microfilament cytoskeleton is involved in neurite initiation and erowth, with stability regulated via control of binding and capping proteins that affect polymerization and depolymerization rates, as well as filament bundling (Dehmelt and Halpain, 2004, 2005; Lebrand et al., 2004). By altering the polymerization and bundling of microtubules and microfilaments, these proteins can play key roles in neurite initiation, extension, and branching, Heat Shock Protein 27 (Hsp27) is a member of the small heat shock protein family (sHup), and plays a role in protecting cells from environmental stresses by populating apoptosis and protein folding. Hup?7 interacts with different extendeletal elements (Charette et al., 2000; Guay et al., 1997; Huot et al., 1996; Lavoie et al., 1993a; Lavoie et al., 1995) and its protective role in stressed cells has been attributed to its actions as an actin capping protein (Benndorf et al., 1994; Miron et al., 1991), although its exact role in this process has not been elucidated. The role of Hur27 in modulating the actincytoskeleton has been extensively studied in non-neuronal cells, where monomeric and non-phosphorylated Hsp27 can act as an actin-capping protein, preventing the polymerization of actin filaments. Phosphorylated oligomeric and dimeric Hsp27 appear to protect and stabilize actin filaments, although whether this is via direct binding is unclear (Guay et al., 1997; Huot et al., 1998; Mounier and Arrigo, 2002; Sun and

137

MoBile, 2005. Htp27 cm also interact with hublin, tur and several species of intermediate filaments including glial flerillary acide protein (GTAPs, vincenta, and toobly neorofilament light chill (PH). Updates and the protein (GTAPs, Vincenta, and 1999a). Furthermore, missense mutations in sHaps including Hop27 (*HSPB*) and Hop22 (*HSPB*) and Hop22 (*HSPB*) are anoticated with perplanate anotypicate, in particular the acoust from of Charace-Marcie Tooth disease and distal herediary motors encompatibly (Ergarbic et al., 2005), bobit et al., 2004a). Interestingly, matations in both the secondiment light chain game (*HSPE*) and Hop27 result in similar phenotypes. Expression of the matant NEFL causes a dimpted near-Offinent network with hubsqueet atherisis in somal transport (Perez Offic et al., 2004). Thereace Offic et al., 2005b, while expression of two of the missione Brog27 mutations results in the formation of modulo aggregates, desubilization and disruption of neurofilmenets, and disturbances in axunal transport (Ackerby et al., 2006); Exprained et al., 2004b, Thas, Hog27 has been inferred to stabilize not only actin, but also morefilament and disturbances.

Prior reports and our own observations have suggested a nole for 11927 in axoual growth or regeneration, in addition to in role in promoting neuronal survival (Bron et al., 2002; Contigno et al., 1098; Mantahov et al., 2001b). Specifically larve suggested a role of 16927 in neurice origoned with in interaction with actin (William et al., 2005), with the halance between actin stability and depolymerization being important for neurite growth. Third ymorization, and therefore microfilament extension, necessary for the actin polymerization, and therefore microfilament extension, necessary for extendeduil est impaired (reference) and you of polymorphy days that the stability of the

138

Heg27 was present and colocilited with actin and hadrain at the carflext stages of neurise initiation in immellipollum, folgedia and focal outsets as well as in matter neurins argueding that Hig27 pays a neits neuring encode. One objective for the present analy was to investigate how the knockdown of Hig27 protein itself by RNA interference (0040), and conversely the expension of log27, would quantitatively intense neurine regueration.

### 3.3 Materials and Methods

#### 3.3.1 Neuronal Cultures

Venum shah Spragae-Dawley ratis (3-6 weeks of agi) davial not ganglia (DBG) were dissected, disocicited at previously described and the maximum sever plated in secture for Nonrhank (UN) suppresentest with AnG-and BU? (Dakker et al., 2003). After being dissociated the nearons were transfected and then plated as polythine (H<sub>1</sub>, 1 ppl/m, ID Dissociates), Bedford, MJ context Lab-Ta (i f-welf damber dialeo, Daine International, Naperville NC) for nearing mewsh assessment or laminin conted (LN 25 pully) 13-well place (Western Moting and incohand at JTC, and SF-COs, The nearons were cultured in senars free ND with no added growth factors. For transfection experiments, nearons, were transfected using the AdAXXA nucleoporation protocol and then plated as noted news.

#### 3.3.2 DNA constructs, siRNA constructs and transfection

The plannial g6V1k27 codes for humster wild type HP47 (Hz77, and vasi obtained from Dr. J. Landy (Universite Land). The plannial gHRS3-GGF1427 was made by first addeding HB4972 from g9H271 are a Hidfall (Wrobingon Baquett into pEGFPC2 (Clottech), and further subcloning H927 into pHRS3-EGFF (Clottech) as an EG841 (University) HB4973 (HB4974) and its orientation in the construct was verified by DKA sequencing. The H927 iBKNAs were synthesized commercisity (DMmars, Clothad). CSA 100 eV124 (HS474) and S7 GAGCIGGUULI CAGLUGGUUCA 37. CdB1 (1 x 10<sup>4</sup>) were transferred with plannial DNAG 19 ggt or alRXAs empression were: STCA CUG GCA AGC AGG AAG A 3<sup>2</sup> and 5<sup>2</sup> GAGCIGGUULI CAGLUGGUUCA 37. CdB1 (1 x 10<sup>4</sup>) were transferred with plannial DNAG 19 ggt or alRXAs empression were: STCA CUG GCA AGC AGG AAG A 3<sup>2</sup> and 5<sup>2</sup> Transferred protocol (Dat Neuron Nicolonderic H2, program G-13). After transferred neurophater protocol (Dat Neuron Nicolonderic H2, program G-13). After transferred or di 24 Ad Aca FPH transferred and and the draft or term transferred many defection of alRXA Neuron Nicolonderic H3NA Name or than 40<sup>4</sup> has a second by transferred or 24 Ad Aca FPH transferred by a mere than 40<sup>4</sup> has

#### 3.3.3 Laminin Stimulation

Transfected neurons were first plated on PL coated dides and allowed to stabilize for 12 or 95 h before being stimulated with solubble LN (40 µg/ml in NB modium) (Williams et al., 2005). Following the addition of the solubble LN, cells were returned to the incubator and fixed at 6, 12, and 24 h after stimulation for immunocytochemistry and growth analyses.

#### 3.3.4 Immunocytochemistry

Neurons were fixed in 4% formaldehyde (pH 7-7.4) in PBS for 20 minutes. permeabilized with 0.1% Triton-X-100, and blocked with 10% goat serum in PBS. Antibodies used were as follows: Hsp27 (SPA-801, Stressgen Corp, Victoria, BC), total tubulin (T9026, Sigma-Aldrich), and actin (A2066, Sigma-Aldrich). Cells were incubated with the primary antibody at 4°C for 16-24 h. followed by Cv2 or Cv5-taeeed secondary antibodies (Jackson Immunoresearch Labs, West Grove, PA). In the case of staining with two polyclonal rabbit antibodies, cells were incubated with the first antibody for 16-24 h, followed by Cy3- tagged secondary antibodies, then blocked again with 10% goat serum in PBS followed by incubation with the second antibody for 16-24 h followed by a Cv2 or Cv5 tagged antibody. Controls used included those in which only the secondary antibodies were used without the addition of primary antibodies and those where secondary antibodies directed against species other than that of the primary antibody were employed. The cells were coverslipped with glycerol and imaged with confocal laser scanning microscopy using z-stage scanning and image stacking. Stacked digital images were incorporated into Adobe Photoshop for compilation into the final composite figures.

#### 3.3.5 Measurements of neurite growth

Note that all the measurements of growth were obtained using images of tubulinstained neurons. Hsp27 staining was carried out on some parallel culture wells to follow the effectiveness of the knockdown compared to controls. Individual tracings of neurons fluorescently stained for tubulin were carried out using the Neurolucida (MicroBrightField, VT) tracing program as previously described (Jones et al., 2003; Tucker et al., 2005).

Only memory for which I was able to sumahigneously identify the associated associates or matrik entroweds were chosen for trading analysis. Approximately 15% cells were excluded from tweing because their neutrine cold and the distinguished from the processes of nearby memory and nonnecessed cells. Data analyses were carried out with the Nonrecepturer software package, here data of total neurise length, branch point and Shoff mulysis of interaction points were cellected. Shoff analysis measures the number of interaction point of zones crossing 20 µm concentric circles radiating from the cell body to give a measure of the culturative length of neurities modes. Funch point data are a measure of the cumulative length of neurities produced, branch point data are measure of the number (length per branch point has the hearing of a cell possesses, and the measure of the number (length per branch point point gata statistical analysis onlineare programe (Priori, 4, Cargalhad Carga) for further analyses. Significance (P-0.05) was determined using an impaired Tease, For each condition canning, 4, 543 means were programe (Priori, 4, Cargalhad Carga) for further analyses. Significance (P-0.05) was determined using an impaired Tease, For each condition to analised, 4, 543 means were impaired trace-analyses. Significance (P-0.05) was determined using an impaired Tease, For each condition to analised, 4, 543 means were and the single state of the low good for further analyses. Significance (P-0.05) was determined using an impaired Tease, For each condition to analised, 4, 543 means were and the single state of the low good for further analyses. Significance (P-0.05) was determined using an impaired Tease, For each condition to analised and the significance and the cell being good for further analyses. Significance (P-0.05) was determined to the low good for further analyses. Significance (P-0.05) was determined to the low good for form the afficence table occenterinter.

#### 3.3.6 Immunoblotting

Neurons were plated in 12-well LN-coated plates, and subsequently processed according to our established procedures (Jones et al., 2003). After cell lysis and

centrifugation (10,000 rpm, 5 min), the supernatants were used to determine protein concentration using the BCA protein assay (Pierce Chemicals, Rockford, IL). Equivalent amounts of protein (35 µg) were subjected to SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (10% acrylamide). Fractionated proteins were subsequently transferred to nitrocellulose membranes and stained with Ponceau red as an indicator of protein loading. Immunodetection of the protein of interest was performed by blocking the membrane in 3% powdered milk in TBS-T for 1 h and then incubated overnight with primary antibodies directed toward Hsp27 (SPA-801, Stressgen), mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK, Santa Cruz Biotech Victoria BC), actin (A2066, Sigma-Aldrich), total tubulin (T9026, Sigma-Aldrich) or neurofilament light chain (NF-L, N5139 Sigma-Aldrich). The nitrocellulose membranes were then probed with HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies (AP307P, AP308P; Chemicon, Temecula, CA) for 1 h at room temperature, followed by visualization using an ECL method. Each experiment was repeated three times, subjected to densitometry and normalized to (MAPK) to ensure equal protein for comparison. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 4 with significance (P<0.05) being determined using one-way ANOVA testing.

#### 3.4 Results

# 3.4.1 Hsp27 siRNA results in a decrease in Hsp27 protein expression in DRG neurons.

I previously showed that Hsp27 was present colocalized with actin and tubulin at the earliest stages of neurite growth in lamellipodium, filopodia, focal contacts as well as

in mature neurites, suggesting that it plays a role in neurite growth. To assess the functions of Hsp27 in neurite growth and branching I silenced its expression by RNAi. I found that short interfering siRNA directed against two regions of Hsp27 efficiently depressed protein levels of Hsp27 24 h after transfection relative to control. Levels of an unrelated protein, MAPK, as well as actin, tubulin and NF-L, were unaffected. A time course experiment was conducted to determine the optimal time of Hsp27 depression after siRNA treatment. Hsp27 levels were found to be significantly (P< 0.05) decreased 12 h after transfection with Hsp27 siRNA and remained decreased over the 72 h time course. Hsp27 levels in cells transfected with control scrambled siRNA increased over the time course. The increase in Hsp27 under control conditions over the 72 h time course is presumably in response to the cells being in culture (Fig. 3.1), and it is possible that Hsp27 protein levels initially rise as an injury response and subsequently further increase as growth increases. The Hsp27 siRNA is able to repress the induction of Hsp27 that occurs after plating and continues to suppress this for up to 72 h. In cell types that I have examined, increasing Hsp27 often results in the detection of 2 bands, with the bottom band potentially representing a small amount of non-phosphorylated Hsp27 or ... non-posttranslationally modified form of Hsp27. I chose to commence neurite growth experiments 12 h after the siRNA treatment in order to ensure that Hsp27 expression had been decreased prior to LN stimulation. Of interest is the observation that actin, tubulin and NF-L are also upregulated by 24 h (Fig. 3.1), a time I know corresponds to significant neurite outgrowth, suggesting that Hsp27 induction is not simply due to an

144

Figure 3.1: RNA infliciently silicent Big2T protein expression. Disociated DBG neurons were transfected with siRNA trapeting two different sequences in Hqs27 or control semandial State A. Protein from the disc low sub-rested at 2, 2, 5, 6, 6, 40 and 72 h after plating, and immandolisted for Hqs27, MAPK(stading control), actin, tubdin, and NF-L. D. Deministrutive quantitation of weeters bloc data. Values expressed represent the neural Hqs27 protein, relative to MAPK of 3 experiments i-5 S.E.M.  $+p^{-0.05}$ ,  $+p^{-0.00}$ . Note that lates 3 and 9 had an increased amount of stal protein equativation of weeters bloc data for sacris, abuldin, and NF-L relative to MAPK showed no significant ( $p^{>}$  0.05) differences in the lowed of these proteins between Hqs27 site. Name 2 and 2 a



injury response. Also note that the Hsp27 siRNA has no significant effect on actin, tubulin or NF-L levels.

# 3.4.2 Silencing of Hsp27 expression via RNAi results in decreased neurite growth, and branching.

Knowing that the Hsp27 siRNA suppressed Hsp27 expression 12 h after transfection, I sought to determine whether this decrease in expression would influence neurite growth and branching. Transfected neurons were plated on PL-coated slides, and 12 h later stimulated with soluble LN. The cells were fixed at either 6 or 24 h following stimulation and subsequently immunostained for Hsp27 and/or tubulin prior to analysis of neurite growth. Neurite growth and branching were assessed as outlined in the methods: briefly tubulin stained neurons were individually traced using the Neurolucida tracing program. The Neuroexplorer software package was used for data analyses to collect data for total neurite length, branching points and Sholl analysis of intersection points. Neurons treated with Hsp27 siRNA displayed decreased neurite growth as observed in the representative images in Figure 3.2, where control and treated cells immunostained for tubulin are shown. The control scrambled siRNA-treated cells shown in Figure 3.2 (A, C) display a greater amount of growth following LN stimulation for 6 and 24 h than the Hsp27 siRNA-treated cells at the same time points (Fig. 3.2B, D). Quantitative analysis of neurite length and branching (Fig. 3.3) demonstrate that both are affected by Hsp27 siRNA. Although there is only a minor difference 6 h after LN stimulation, the Hsp27 siRNA treatment results in significantly (P< 0.05) decreased total

147

### Figure 3.2: Decreases in Hsp27 expression result in decreased neurite growth.

Neurites were transferted with either control siRNA (A, C) or Hipp27 siRNA (B, D) and subsequently fixed and immunostained for tubulin expression at 6 h (A, B) or 24 h (C, D) after transferction. Control transfercted wells display relatively higher levels of neurite growth compared to the Higp27 siRNA transfer class class bar  $\sim$  50 µm.



Figure 3.3: Solancing Hug2T protein expression by siRNA results in a decrease in searcing growth and branching. Neurons were transfered with either control or Hug2T sub3Va and focat at one 21 had net X initiation. Neuring worth sementers were analyzed by tracing eelh initiation 24 had net X initiation. Neuring worth sementers were analyzed by tracing eelh initiation of 24 had net X initiation. Neuring worth sementice and the pht have control conditions. It. The neuroge length of neuronic per bandhing point in significantly growt for Hug2T siRNA-treated eelh net significantly lower is all neuring to the pht have control conditions. It. The neuroge length of neuronic per bandhing point in LN simulation. Neuring growth data is presented as the manner of 5 different plating experiments +/- SiRM+\*0.85, \*\*\*>0.0001, \*\*\*P>-0.0001, CD: the number of siRNA-have forcer intersections with Sholl radii indicating less branched structure relative to enstite. Data are presented as the manner of the number of intersection indicating on the data by the single of intersection plates and an area per single as the manner of the number of intersection plates and an area per single as the manner of the number of intersection points in 20 and malf intersection the cell babs.



neutrie long/m at 24h compared to courted (Fig. 3.3.N). Decause of previous data which suggested a potential nole for Hig-27 in neurine branching (Williams et al., 2005) 1 analyzed the relationsho befores total and use long long and the number of transphonite. As shown in Figure 3.3, analysis of the ratio of statal neurine length to the total number of branching point demonstrated that Hig-27 aiRNA transfected cells have significantly greater length between tranching points (Fig. 3.318). This indicates that the resurface of hig-1977 aiRNA transfected cells are to structed cells via course of the (Fig. 3.310) and that branching rather than total length is more significantly (0< 0.65) affected at the early time point than total neurite length. These results are further supported by the Sholl analyses, which show that Hig-27. AlXNA transmet resulted in decreased complexity of moring around partner (Fig. 3.3. C. (D).

# 3.4.3 Hsp27 siRNA affects the colocalization of Hsp27 and actin in neurite shafts and growth cones.

Our previous study (Williams et al., 2000) demonstrated that Hog27 appended to colocalize with actin and hubilin in accoss shafts, brenching points and growth coress at all stages of neurine growth. Consequently, Linvestigated the effects of siRNA induced back-down of Hog27 on sytokaletal artenuiter. As before, transfered neurons were plated on PL-coated silders, and simulated with soluble LN 12 h Inter. The cells were fixed 24 h following LN stimulation and immunotationed for Hp27, actin and tabdini. Figure 3.4 shows representative examples of both coattor (Fig. 3A A+F) and Hp37 (2004) fright A=0.1 or a scin Figure 3.4: Hog23 silkNA affects colocalization of Hog23 and actin in neuritic shafts and growth conso 2.1 h after 1.N3 millionations. ( $\lambda$ -b) show representative control scramble silkNA-transfected neurons and (G-L) show Hug23 silkNA-transfected neurons, which have been statistic for Hug27 ( $\lambda$ , D, G, J), actin ( $\theta$ , L), K J, Sa and argong a langus (C, F, L). Images ( $\lambda$ , F, F and J, K, L) are enlargements of the areas bested in ( $\Lambda$ , B, C and G, H). Prospectively. Under Hug27 silkNA conditions, Hug27 attaining is punctum, and these punctum are often colocalized with actin (arrows Fig. 4 K-L). (Acc and G-1 scale bars 22 sins, D-24 and J-4, welle bars - 0 and 32.



 $(F_{12} \rightarrow 3.4 \text{ g}, L, R, D)$  along with hemped images. Figure 3.2 provides similar examples of control (Fig. 3.5 A-7) and Hup27 iiRNA (Fig. 3.5 G-1), animed for Hup27 (Fig. 3.5 A, D, C, J) and to half using expression (Fig. 3.5 G, L). L, R) and Hu Pel mergod images. Hup27 staining in control secambled siRNA transfected cells colocalizes with actin (Fig. 3.5 A, C, J) and table (Fig. 3.5 C, F). If the sensitive half and growth conse. In contrast Hup27 staining in Hup27-RiRNA transfe ded (Fig. 3.4 L, L) and Fig. 3.5 L, L). L, Sha (Fig. 3.5 C, F), and table (Fig. 3.5 C, F) and Fig. 3.5 C, F) and table (Fig. 3.5 C, F) and Fig. 3.5 C,

# 3.4.4 Overexpression of Hsp27 protein levels by transfection with pIRES2-EGFP-Ha27 results in increased neurite growth and branching.

Having determined that the decrease of Hsp27 protein levels negatively affected neurite growth and branching. It then wished to determine if expression of ecogenous Hsp27 might result in increased growth. Therefore I expressed ecogenous Hsp27 in DRG neurons by transfection with pRESS-EGFP-Hs27 in order to look at the effect of increased Hsp27 on these growth parameters. The plantiat pRESSE-EGFP-Hs27 prime Figure 3.5: Hop? siRVA treatment influences Hop? and Hublin obcalization in merrite and realth in punctule Hup?? (zerowheads FigS K-L), which does not conclustive with hublin, Representative controls realled siRVA transfered ensems (A-F) and Hup?? siRVA transfered neurons (G-L) all have been stained and imaged for Hup?? (A, D, G, J) and thublin (REJLK). Mergel images are down in (C,F,L), Images (D, E, F ad J, K, L) are enlargements of the areas boose in (A, B, C ad G, H, J) mercentry, (A, C ad G, C) and A. Sing (A) and (J) and



both Hsp27 and enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) to be translated from a single bicistronic mRNA and thereby allows visual detection of plasmid expression while circumventing any problems that could potentially arise from the production of a tagged Hsp27 fusion protein. The cells were plated for 36 h after transfection, to allow significant time for Hsp27 levels to increase before being stimulated with soluble LN for 12 h. Figure 3.6 illustrates that neurons transfected with pIRES2-EGFP-Ha27 display increased Hsp27 expression (Fig. 3.6A) and robust EGFP expression (Fig. 3.6 B arrows). Transfected cells (indicated by arrows) also exhibit increased neurite growth and process initiation relative to non-transfected cells (Fig. 3.6 arrowheads). In these representative images five out of six EGFP expressing cells show significant (P< 0.05) neurite growth or stages of neurite initiation, such as lamellipodium and filopodia, while only one of the five non-transfected cells (Fig. 3.6 arrowheads) display any growth or initiation. The observed increase in growth from Hsp27 overexpression in Figure 3.6 was confirmed by quantitative tracing analyses of cells stained with tubulin and expressing EGFP (note cells were not stained with Hsn27 for tracine). Cells transfected with nIRES2-EGFP-Ha27, and stimulated with LN for 12 h showed a significant (P< 0.05) increase in total neurite length as well as a decrease in the ratio of neurite length per branch point relative to cells transfected with control vector pIRES2-EGFP (Fig. 3.7 A, B). These data indicate that the overexpression of Hsp27 resulted in increased neurite growth as well as a more branched neuritic tree. The results of the Sholl analyses further supported these findings indicating that expression of exogenous Hsp27 results in an increased complexity of neurite growth patterns (Fig. 3.7 C).

Figure 3.6: Expression of exogenous Hsp27 enhances neurite growth in pIRES2-EGFP-Ha27 transfected neurons, 12 h after transfection. A. Hsp27 staining, B.

EGFP fluorescence C, merged images. Cells indicated by white arrows display increased Hog27 levels (A) and robust EGPP labeling (B). Cells with low or no EGFP expression are indicated by arrowheads, and show correspondingly lower levels of Hsq27 expression. Called har ~50 µm)



.

Figure 3.7: Expression of ecogenous Hip327 in DRG neurons significantly affects growth. A. Nourons were fixed and immunostitude for biding in a 12-b following LN stimulation. Tobulin tained cells that were also positive for EGFP were analyzed in both termoral pRESS-EGFP veries roly and pRESS-EGFPL-12.7 materies of motion pRESS-EGFP-Ha27 transfetch neurons had a significant increase in total neurite length relative to control, B. The wernge length of neurite per branching point is significantly decreased for pRESS-EGFP-Ha27 transfetch neurons relative to control at 2 h after LN simulation, +p-0.05. C. Celle seprensing esogenon Hig27 have increased interactions with SMDI rafii indicating more branching and growth erative to control.



#### 3.5 Discussion

This tasks highlights the importance of High27 predicts in the regulation of growth patterning of the neutric trees. [Indey via influence over polymerizations of systek-lead observations, inter the neutricolling caperasion of these elements. I both that High27 siRNA decreases endogenous High27 levels, as well as the induction that in semanly seen after neurons are placed in eachine. While most studies of the induction that in semanly seen after neurons are placed in eachine. While most studies of the induction that in semanly seen after neurons are placed in eachine. While most studies of the induction that in semanly seen studies provide new evidence that points to similar interactions of High27 and other small batt tasks proteins with systek-lead elements in neuronal cells (Exparisor et al., 2005). Time et al., 2005).

Our previous data slowed that 1942? Was present at all tages of neurite initiation and growth and colocalized during these stages of growth with actin and tabolin in limitleoidoum, flopodia and namice science (UMIII one et al., 2005). These results led us to investigate the role of Hug27 in non-train calculations and Panachiles by mainplating the protein expression levels of Hug27, and examining resultant atherations of growth protein expression levels of Hug27, and examining resultant atherations of growth trainment effectively document endogenous Hug27 expression compared to scrambed atH2A trainment effectively document endogenous Hug27 expression compared to scrambed with the stage of the scramber of the stage of Hug27 protein level and or results staggest that Hug27 is likely not involved in the regulation of actin, total turbuline of H-L, protein expression per ac, it does not rule out the possibility that Hug27 is likely in curvation of microtholane and instructionment enservances are observed by involved in the regulation of actin, total turbuline scramber of the scramber of the scramber and instructionment enservances of the scramber of the scramber of the scramber and instructionment enservances of the scramber of the scramber of the scramber and instructionment enservances of

neurite growth and branching in DRG neurons in a manner similar to that reported for other cell types (Benndorf et al., 1994; Evgrafov et al., 2004). In cell-free systems, Hsp27 can act as an actin-capping protein that prevents the polymerization of actin and the assembly of F-actin (Benndorf et al., 1994; Miron et al., 1991). Phosphorylation of Hsp27 leads to the loss of its ability to inhibit actin polymerization, and thus increases the rate and extent of actin polymerization and the formation of F-actin (Benndorf et al., 1994; Guay et al., 1997; Landry and Huot, 1999; Lavoie et al., 1995; Miron et al., 1991). A peptide sequence in Hsp27 (192-N106) was identified as a region critical to the interaction with actin and a site that is responsible for the inhibition of actin polymerization; when added to solutions of G-actin in the presence of an actin nucleating factor, this peptide prevented the polymerization into F-actin (Wieske et al., 2001). Interestingly these authors also noted that this peptide was more effective than the F-actin binding and depolymerizing factor cofilin. The unphosphorylated peptide inhibited polymerization, whereas the phosphopeptide had reduced activity similar to the behavior of wild type Hsp27 (Wieske et al., 2001). Protein phosphatases inhibitors and heat preconditioning have also prevents Hsp27 dephosphorylation and F-actin disruption (Loktionova and Kabakov, 1998), and the amount of membrane associated F-actin and cellular migration depends on the presence of phosphorylatable Hsp27 (Piotrowicz et al., 1998). Thus it appears that both the presence and phosphorylation of Hsp27 are prerequisites for rapid modulation of the actin cytoskeleton,

The role that the amount of Hsp27 present plays in neurite growth via control of the polymerization of cytoskeletal elements is supported further by the expression of exogenous Hipp27 in DRG memore. Analysis of the nearing growth of cells transferted with pRRS25 EGF74L027 showed increased nearing growth and branching, indicating that not only in Hipp27 protein expression required for nearing growth, but also suggests that there exists a temporal relationship between the amount of Hipp37 present and the resulting amount of nearing growth.

Immospecidening of Hip27 alkXA netted cells showed an altered localization of Hip27 and actin, with no apparent effect on tubulin. This specific alternation of actin localization further support to incoherence of an interaction of Hip27 with actin in the alternation of neurine extension and branch patterning. The parenter, elocalized attaining of Hip27 and actin in Hip27-altXA trendet cells may, in part, be related to recent in wiro stables implying that part of the protocitic effect of Hip27 is to present the aggregation of draumed act (Neuroux et al. 2005). Another Disp27 is to present the aggregation of locatured act (Neuroux et al. 2005). Another may be present in the neuron under normal confilions, where they remain unseen due to the normally high endogrous loceled [Hip27] in the cell. Non-flamentous actin has be possibility in that these decreases in Hip27 possible locel and 2005, decling to the be possibility in that these decreases in Hip27 possible locel and 2005, decling to the localizing in an increase in non-flamentous actin. Further biochemical studies of the endicident to correspond on them patternet of hip27 altra constability in the exclusive to endocode on the present.

In conclusion, our results support our hypothesis that Hsp27 plays a role in neurite extension and branching. The exact mechanism underlying this role remains to be
elucidated though it is likely that modulation of the actin cytoskeleton dynamics is important for these processes.

## 3.6 Acknowledgements:

The authors would like to thank Dr. J. Lundry (PUniversite Laval) for providing the plasmid pSVH227, and Ekine Dodge, Sherri Rankin, and Budd Tucker for their invaluble assistance and discussion. Funding for this work was through an Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Coursel (NSERC) Discover Grant (15290, RMM).

## Chapter 4

# Hsp27 Phosphorylation is involved in neurite growth in adult sensory neurons *in vitro*

#### 4.1 Introduction

Neurite initiation and growth during development, as well as regeneration after injury, is controlled by specific factors and extracellular matrix proteins (da Silva and Dotti. 2002: Tene and Tane. 2006: Tonge et al., 1997: Tucker et al., 2008). Active regions of the cell body and neurite use cell surface recentors to recognize extracellular cues and transduce them, via intracellular signaling cascades, into physical rearrangement of extoskeletal elements responsible for initiating and maintaining the structure of the growing neurite (Giancotti, 2003; Huber et al., 2003; Lilienbaum et al., 1995). Actin, tubulin and intermediate filaments all play a role in the growth process (da Silva and Dotti, 2002; Dehmelt and Halpain, 2004; Dehmelt et al., 2003). The morphology and dynamics of the microtubule and actin filament cytoskeletons are regulated via control of actin binding proteins and microtubule associated proteins that affect filament initiation. polymerization, depolymerization, stability, as well as association with other filaments and structures within the cell (Bear et al. 2002; Belmont et al. 1996; Bennett and Baines 2001: Chen et al., 1992: Cooper and Sept. 2008: Dedoya et al., 2006: Huang et al., 2006: Jawhari et al., 2003: Komaroya et al., 2002: Landbergen and Akhmanoya, 2006: Manna et al., 2006: Ono, 2007: Ono and Ono, 2002: Pantaloni et al., 2001: Tseng et al., 2004: Volkmann et al., 2001). Cytoskeletal binding proteins play key roles in neurite initiation,

extension and branching, and a change in structure of the neurite may result from effecting the operation or presence of a single binding protein (Dehmelt and Halpain, 2005; Ikegami et al., 2007; Korobova and Svitkina, 2008; Lebrand et al., 2004; Song and Poo, 1999).

Here thesk protein 27 (Fug)2 is a number of the class of small heat shock proteins (e)(SSP)) and has been shown to interact with different cytochecked adments as well as to protein start and in the face of environmental atreas memory mechanisms, including by sublicing the actin filament cytochecketon (Hoot et al., 1997). Previllet e14, 1998, Viglienze e14, 2008). Hig72 interacts with actin, hubding tural seven1 species of interactioner filaments, including guld fibrillary acide protein (GFAP), viscenti, neutral and IV-4. (Beendorf and Welch, 2004; Jac e14, 2009; Penge e14, 1999b). Matations in Hig27 are associated with peripheral nearopathies (Everytor e1 al, 2004; Holé e14, 2006b). Furthermore Hig27 may play key nels in GGNN induced metric ourgoards (Doeg e14, 2007).

The interractions between Hig-27 and actin have been exemisively studied, Hig-27 plays a role in regulating the actin filament systektion, in non-menned cells, bough file circlarections with actin, so well as by moduling the activities of each holding protein though signaling pathways (Bopby et al., 1994), Jog et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2008; Foirenvice et al., 1998; Schwidze et al., 1998). Monometer emphosphoryland Hig-27 any directly interact with actin preventing the polymerization of axin filaments.

The activity of Higt72 depends upon its phosphorphrafts matter as well as its oligomerization, which is affected by interactions between its domains. Higt73 is phosphorphrafted on two series in the rodent Higt72 (Ser15, and Ser66 in na, Ser06 in humatter, Ser02 in musue) through the p3MA/MCM, MAPA/4 kinase-2 (MAK2) pathway (that et al., 1995; Landty et al., 1992; Mehlen and Arrigo, 1994). Additionally, Higt72 contains three domains: ad WDFFP molf in the N-terminal ragion, a common C-terminal n-crystallin domain, and a non-conserved Reable C-terminal tail (Arrigo, 2007; Chavez Zode et al., 2005; Horke et al., 2005; Thornatte et al., 2004).

Hig97 is present in vitro an monomers, dimers and lurge oligomers considing of approximately 24 monomers (Lambert et al., 1999). Deletion studies and matation of phosphosphation sites have above that the VDF domina, say well as the phosphosphation state of the protein, me involved in the stability of the oligomeric structure (Kim et al., 1998; Lambert et al., 1999; Rogalla et al., 1999; van Montfort et al., 2001b). Interactions between the WDFF domina and the a-crystallin domain are required in order for the protein to form oligomers larger than dimens (Lambert et al., 1999; Toriada et al., 2001b). Phosphosylation of the series B6 site dimense this interaction resulting in the oligomer dissociating into dimense. Prosphysylation of the series 15 site disropt the interaction between the dimense realing in the dimense.

Non-phosphorylated Hsp27 monomers have been demonstrated to be the only form of Hsp27 that is able to bind actin. Reports differ on the method of action of Hsp27 binding to actin. Hsp27 was originally characterized as a burble end capping protein, albudges more record that Hsp27 impairs actin filament assembly by

sequestering actin monomers, rather than by capping (During et al., 2007; Miron et al., 1991; Fichon et al., 2004). Both of these models for Hyg27-based inhibition of actin filament assembly support the finding that only monomeric nonphosphorylated HipQ7 is able to inhibit actin filament polymerical (Remote Veta).

Prior reports and observations in the Mearow lab have suppested a role for Hsp27 in exon growth or regeneration in addition to its role in promoting neuronal survival. Specifically I have suggested a role for Hsp27 in neurite outgrowth via its interaction with actin with its role in regulating actin dynamics being important for neurite growth. My previous studies showed that Har/27 was present and colocalized with actin and tubulin in lamellipodium, filopodia and focal contacts at the earliest stages of neurite prowth as well as in mature neurites and prowth cones (Williams et al., 2005). Knock down of endogenous Hsp27 protein by small interfering RNA (siRNA) resulted in decreased neurite arouth while overexpression of exonemous Hap27 protein resulted in increased growth. Use of unstream pharmacelogical inhibitors that inhibit the activity of p38 MAPK resulted in decreased Hsp27 phosphorylation and aberrant neurite growth. These studies support a role for Hsp27 in neurite growth with the protein level and phosphorylation state playing a role. Our objective in the present study was to investigate how the phosphorylation and oligomerization state of Hsp27 quantitatively affected neurite growth by knocking down the endogenous rat Hsp27 in the cell and at the same time overexpressing hamster Hsp27 with mutations to its phosphorylation sites and WDPF domain.

## 4.2 Materials and methods

#### 4.2.1 Neuronal Cultures

Dorsal root ganglia (DRG) from young adult (5-6 weeks of age) Sprague-Dawley rats (Memorial University of Newfoundland Vivarium) were dissected and dissociated using modifications to techniques described previously (Tucker et al., 2005). Briefly, in accordance with University Animal Care guidelines, animals were decapitated, ganglia were extracted from all spinal cord levels and incubated in 0.25% collagenase type II (Invitrogen, Burlington, Canada) for 45 min at 37°C and then incubated with 0.25% trypsin (Invitrogen) for 20 min at 37°C, and then incubated with 0.2% sovbean trypsin inhibitor (Sigma Chemicals) for 5 min at 37°C. The ganglia were dissociated by a series of manual titrations using polished Pasteur ninettes. The cell suspension was washed with serum free Neurobasal medium (NB, Invitrogen) and centrifuged at 500 g, before being lavered on top of a 30% Percoll solution (GE healthcare, Baie d'Urfe, OC) in 15 mL conical tubes and centrifuged at 400 g for 20 min at room temperature. Pellets were then carefully extracted with a sterile pasture pipette, placed in a fresh tube and transfected using the AMAXA nucleoporation protocol (Lonza, Cologne Germany), Transfected cells were suspended in serum free modified NB, supplemented with 100 U penicillin/streptomycin, B27 supplement (Invitrogen), and 20 uM cytosine arabinoside (Sigma, St. Louis MO, USA) and plated on polylysine (PL; 1 ug/mL; BD Bioscience, Bedford MA) - coated Lab-Tek 16-well chamber slides (Nunc International, Naperville, IL) for neurite growth assessment or PL coated 12-well plates for Western blotting and

incubated at 37 °C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The neurons were cultured in serum-free NB with no added growth factors.

#### 4.2.2 DNA Constructs, siRNA Constructs and Cotransfection

The plannish pSVHk27, 9SVHk27, AA, PSVH27-ZA, PSVH27-ZA

The Hsp27 siRNA was synthesized commercially (Dharmacon) and used at 2aM. The target sequence for silencing rat Hsp27 protein expression was 5° GAG UGG UCU CAG UGG UUC A-3°. All cells (1 x 10<sup>3</sup>) were cotramfected with plasmid DNA (3 ug) and Hup27. siRNA, using the AMAXA mechopention system according to the manufacturers protocol (Rat Neuron Naclorefere Kr2; reogram (3-1)), and will be identified in this chapter by the manne of the plasmid that was transfected. After transfection the cells were wadded with N Bat destifigated to remove any remaining transfection agent.

### 4.2.3 Laminin Stimulation

Transfected neurons were first plated on PL-coated slides or plates and allowed to stabilize overnight (16 h) before being stimulated with volable LN (40 uptmL in NB (Williams et al., 2005)). After the addition of the soluble LN, eith were returned to the incubator and 24 h after stimulation, the cells werecollected for western blotting or the cells were fixed for immunocytochemistry and growth malrixis.

## 4.2.4 Immunocytochemistry and imaging

Neurons were flow in effe paraffermaldelsyde (pdf 7:7,4) in PHS for 15 min, permeabilized with 0.1% Triton-X-100 and blocked with 10% normal post serion in PHS. Anthedies used were as follows: total nubsin (1:1000; 1900; Sigma), Hop27 (1:500; SPA-401; Streageng Corp, Victoria, Jirichi Columbia). Cell twee inclustual with the primary antibody at CC for 16-214, followed by Cy2 or Cy5-tagged secondary antibodies (lackown Immunorsenert), Wett Corre, PA). Pulaidoid cooplet to Alexa 568 (Molecular Phobeal Invitangen, Carrhand, CA)) was used to ladel actin filamenti, and was included along with the secondary antibodies. Constru suc Intelacted loss in thick only the secondary antibodies were used without the addition of primary antibodies, and those in which secondary antibodies directed against species other than that of the primary bandbody were employed. The secility secondary directed and image taking conficed later scanning microscopy using a stage seaming and image taking. Stacked digital images were incorporated link Adobe Photoshop for complation into the final composite figures.

## 4.2.5 Measurement of Neurite Growth

Analysis plag-in was used to measure the mean number of intersection points of neurities crossing 2 pair micks concentric circles nationing from the cell body every 10 pm to give a measure of bodh calorention and extension of the neurines. Data was imported into a papping and statistical complexity operations of the concentration of the neurines. Significance (P<0.05) was for taid neurine length was determined using one way ANOVA with a Daunet post text, and significance (P<0.05) was determined at intersection points of the Shall analysis using a non-stalled T-text. For each condition 100-250 means were completely traced with cells being pooled from 3 different plants experiments.

#### 4.2.6 Immunoblotting

Transfered neurons were planel in 12-well plates and homogeneity proceeded according to our entablished protocols (Jones et al., 2003). After cell Jyia and according to contenditional protocols (Jones et al., 2003). After cell Jyia and protocols and the strength of t

Sigma), phospho-Hap2<sup>2413</sup> (PAI-016; Affinity Bioreagents), and phospho-Hap2<sup>2423</sup> (E118, Abcam), phospho-Hap2<sup>2342</sup> reasts with phosphorylated S823 in humans, 590 in humiter, and S86 in mrt. The nitrocelluloses mentheness were then probed with horsenafilo providance (IRP) conjugated secondary antibodies (AP307); AP308P; Chemicon, Temercula, CA) for 1 h at room temperature, followed by visualization via the ECL method.

#### 4.3 Results

In order to investigate the net of Higs27 phosphosphosphosm and signamentation in neuring provide a constanticical model where adult at DRG nearows and matteristical with an operating higher adult and any and the second while having no effect on the exogenous haHsp27. This permitted expression of exogenous haHsp27 while removing the effects of the endogenous rat Hsp27.

If near that siRNA directed application energies of ent Plag27 officiency dependent end Hug27 proteins levels in PC12 cells and DRGs relative to somed while on affecting hug27 percession Econoce human energy (EUE) cells data and solvels). When the ent specific Hug27-aitSiXA was contamificated with constructs coding for matant and wild type halfsg27 are encloserons ent Hug27 protein levels were supersed while the encogenous halfsg27 are encloserons of Hug27 protein levels were supersed to first of the specuring congenous default hug27, dx, 23), where the band for the encogenous type supersed (Figs. 14). This is most evideate in the seatern block of encogenously expressed Hug27 was observed below that of wild type Hug27, endogenous Hug27 in this sample was markedly reduced compared to construct. The antibulies specific photophoryland Hug27 (Hug27 Hug27 estimates do not have equal transferction efficiencies; in particular, the ET matant dd not appear to be expressed transfer efficiencies; in particular, the EE matant dd not appear to be expressed as well as any of the other single or dates manates.

Transfetch neurons were plated on polyhysine coated 16-well slides and allowed to adhere overnight (approx 18 h). Subsequently the plating medium was removed and medium containing soluble laminin (40 ug/ml.) was added to the cells for 24 h, after which slides were fixed and processed for detection of Hop/27, F-actin, and beta-shabulin.

#### Figure 4.1: Cotransfection of rat Hsp27 siRNA and exorenous hamster Hsp27,

depletes endogenous rat Hsp27 while expressing hamster Hsp27.

siRNA specific to ret Hsp27 silence endogenous Hsp27 protein expression while not affecting the over expression of wild type and mutuat hamster Hsp27. Protein from the neurons was collected and immunoblented for Hsp27, Hsp27 <sup>881</sup>, and Hsp27 <sup>982</sup> (recognizes S85 in rat and S90 in hamster), and Actin (loading control).



#### 4.3.1 The phosphorylation state of Hsp27 affects neurite growth

We have previously shown that the amount of neurite growth varies with the level of Hsp27 present in the cell. When endogenous Hsp27 was depleted by siRNA, cells displayed decreased neurite growth relative to control conditions, and conversely when exogenous Hsp27 was over expressed cells displayed increased neurite growth relative to control (Williams et al., 2006). We sought to determine what affect the mutation of Hsp27 phosphorylation sites and deletion of the WDPF domain would have on neurite growth. Using the co-transfection system described above, all conditions have the endogenous Hsp27 decreased by siRNA permitting us to look at the effects of the haHsp27 mutations on neurite growth. Representative examples of cells transfected with each of the constructs are presented in Figure 4.2. Consistent with our previous observations, neurons treated with siRNA alone displayed decreased neurite erowth compared to cells cotransfected with haHsp27. Cells transfected with phosphorylation mutants Hsp27-EE, and Hsp27-EA displayed less growth than wild type Hsp27, but growth similar to the siRNA alone condition (Fig. 4.2A, E, F). Cells transfected with Hup27-AA and Hup27-A(5-23) displayed erowth more similar to the wild type haHup27 than to siRNA (Fig 4.2 A. B. C.G), and cells transfected with Hsp27-AE displayed growth somewhere in between that of the haHsp27 and siRNA conditions (Fig 4.2 E).

Quantitative analysis of neurite length is presented in Figure 4.3. When total neurite length was enumerated, the results showed that cells expressing halfsp27, Hsp27-AA, Hsp27 AE and Hsp27-ds/5-23) had neurite growth significantly (P<0.05) greater than that of cells with SRAA shows (Fig. 4.3A). Additionally cells expressing Hsp27-EE,

Figure 4.2: The phosphorylation state of Hsp27 plays a role in neurite growth, while the WDPF domain is not required for rescue of Hsp27-siRNA induced decreased growth.

Neurons were extramified with all RNA complementary to 10472 and vectors coding (or GPP and eds), or GPP and half upp27 (B), 10927-AA(C), 10927-AE(D), 10927-AE(D)



#### Figure 4.3: The phosphorylation state of Hsp27 affects neurite growth.

Neurons were cotransfected with Hsp27-siRNA and constructs containing wild type haHsp27 or mutated Hsp27. Neurite growth parameters were analyzed by tracing cells immunostained with tubulin as outlined in the Materials and Methods.

A. Compared to cells transfected with siRNA alone, cells cotransfected with haHsp27, Hsp27-AA, Hsp27-AE, or Hsp27-A(5-23) display significantly greater amounts of growth (one way ANOVA, Dunnet post test with siRNA as control: \*P<.05, \*\* P<.01). B-F: Number of intersections indicating neurite branching and complexity. Data are presented as the mean of the number of intersection points in 10 um radial increments from the cell body. B. Cells expressing Hsp27-AA display significantly less intersections points, indicating less branching or extension, relative to haHsn27 at radial increments from 30 um -70 um from the cell body, and significantly increased intersection points relative to baHsn27 at radial increments 360 um and 410-440 um from the cell body. indicating that cells expressing Hsp27-AA have a less branched neurite structure close to the soma, and a more highly branched or extensions farther away from the soma relative to cells expressing haHsn27. C. Cells expressing Hsn27-AE display significantly less intersections points, indicating less branching or extension relative to haHsp27 at radial increments from 160-170 µm from the cell body. D. Cells expressing Hsp27-EE display significantly less intersections points, indicating less branching or extension relative to haHsn27 at radial increments from 100-120 um, and 150-160 um from the cell body. E. Cells expressing Hsp27-EA display significantly less intersections points, indicating less branching or extension relative to halden27 at radial increments from 30.250 um from the cell body. F. Cells expressing Hsp27-Δ(5-23) do not have Sholl intersection values that are significantly different from haHsp27. (Significance was determined at intersection points of the Sholl analysis using a two-tailed T-test, \*P<0.05). Neurite growth and intersection data presented are the mean of 3 different plating experiments +SEM



Hsp27-EA and Hsp27-AE had neurite growth significantly (P < 0.05) less than cells expressing haHsp27. The effect of Hsp27 mutations on neurite growth patterning was examined further through Sholl analysis, which measures the branching / complexity of neurite growth. Although the total neurite length of cells transfected with Hsp27-AA and haHsp27 were similar, Sholl analysis showed that their growth patterns differ. Relative to haHsp27, cells expressing Hsp27-AA had significantly (P < 0.05) less intersections with Sholl radii close to the soma, and significantly(P < 0.05) more intersections with Sholl radii farther from the soma, indicating that neurites from cells expressing Hsn27-AA, extend farther from the cell and are less branched near the cell than neurites from cells expressing haHsp27 (Fig 4.3B). Hsp27-AE expressing cells had fewer intersections and therefore a less branched structure than haHp27 transfected cells (Fig 4.3C). Cells expressing either Hsp27-EE or Hsp27-EA, showed growth patterning and branching that was significantly (P < 0.05) decreased relative to haHsp27 (Fig 4.3 D, E). Cells expressing Hsp27-Δ(5-23) showed growth patterning not significantly (P < 0.05) different than that of cells expressing haHsp27 (Fig 4.3F). These results suggest that the expression and phosphorylation state of Hsp27 plays a role in neurite extension and growth patterning. The following section investigates this further.

## 4.3.2 The phosphorylation state of Hsp27 alters F-actin in structures of the growing neurite.

We previously reported a potential role for Hsp27 in actin localization (Williams et al., 2006) and were interested in what role the phosphorylation state or presence of the WDPF domain in 15p27 plays in this process. In order to elucidate the effect of the 15p27 mutants on actin localization we examined actin location in the neurites under control conditions and compared this localization to cells transfected with mutant and wild type halfsq27.

#### 4.3.2.1 Endogenous Hsp27 and F-actin

In needer to observe the localization of F-actin with the presence of endogenous Htp22 (control continion) DRG merrors were dissociated, and plated on polyhysine contol f west illufox-conting the (-16). The mest day the cells were imitated with soluble laminin and fixed 24 h later, labeled with Alexa Flave 555-Phalloidin, and images of F-actin at various stages of neutring growth were obtained uning control an intercompy. Due to the fact that neutring growth is net synchronous we were able to solect an activity of approx of neutring growth from one cell plating. F-actin stating in DRG memory at various stages of neutring growth is presented in Figure 4.4. F-actin was present in various interimes of the DRG neuron including memory presences, matter mearing, growth capses, and the cell body. Condensite regions of F-actin various approximation of the DRG neuron including measure processes, matter in cell body, and possibly represent into fibral ablesions (inclusted by small yellow arrow (Fig 4.4.A.C, E.J.). F-actin was also observed in fibro-dia (inclusted by small yellow arrow, Fig 4.4.D.), and at the leading edge of lamellipodium (large enange arrow, Fig 4.5.

## Figure 4.4: F-actin is present in structures of the growing neurite

DBG marom were plated on polylysine, allowed to attach oversight and were then stimulated with soluble luminin for 24 k. Following fraction, macrons were labeled with Alexa Flave 555-Phalistidin, and images were obtained with confectal microacepy. The cell shown represent rules on early stage of nonzing growth and are all shown at the same magnification. (Scale bars – 20 µm), F-actin is present in the condemost in the cell body, indicated by a small yellow arrow, at possible sites focal affections. F-actin is also present in the filopodia (green arrowlead) and at the edge of Lamellipodiam (Large coarge arrow) in growing meets.



#### 4.3.2.2 Overexpression of haHsp27

Having determined the location of F-action in the various stages of neurine proved we used the cotransferician model described above and Hap27 matant constructs to determine whether the phosphorplation state of Hap27 or the presence of the WDPF domain hand are offset on F-actin localization and its colocalization with Hap27. We choose to examine cells that were both in the carely stages of more the growth (Fig 4.2) as we dia to less white developes matter neuristic (Fig 4.6). And features the Hap27 transferctions were performed in the same experiment, and cells from each transferction were placed in different wells on the same side where they were stateed and processed together.

Expression of halfp27 append to colocalize with Facility in the early stages of neurite growth (Fig 4.5 Ac), as well as in matter neurites (Fig 4.6 Ac). In the growth cone, halfp27 and Faction colocalized in the detail tips of Elipsofian anscent processes, as well as in the cortex region of the nascent shuft. In contrast, in the central region of the growth cone, halfp27 areas present at high levels and Faction was detectable at two views(Fig 4.7 Ac).

#### 4.3.2.3 Overexpression of Hsp27-AA

The nonphospharylathle Hip27-AA was present at high levels and strongly overlaped with F-settin in the filopodia and focal contacts is nelected cells that were in the early stages of neurine growth (Fig. 4.5. D-F) as evidenced by strong yellow regions in the merged conficial image demonstrating regions of co-localization. Additionally there was

## Figure 4.5: The effect of Hsp27 phosphorylation and the WDPF domain on Hsp27 and F-actin colocalization during early stages of growth

Coranaford DRG neurons were plated on polyhysise, altered to attach versinglet and were then stimulated with soluble lamining for 24 h. Following fluction, neurons were theled with Alexa Hern's ST-Shruhikoff (groups  $B_{\rm c}$ ,  $B_$ 



## Figure 4.6: The effect of Hsp27 phosphorylation and the WDPF domain on Hsp27 and F-actin colocalization in mature neurites.

Transfered DRG isocoros were plated on polybyine allword los attach oversigit and were then stimulated with soluble laminin fir 24 h. Following fraction, neurons were bloded with Aral Profession Schematika (Brogens B, E, L, K, N, Q), and immunistated with autholice directed against Hip97 (red – A, D, G, J, M, P). Images were obtained with confided indirected against Hip97 (red – A, D, G, J, M, P). Images were obtained with confided indirected against Hip97 (red – A, D, G, J, M, P). Images were obtained indige channel images. (Casels hear  $\ge$  20) mp).



Figure 4.7: The phosphorylation state of Hsp27 alters the location of F-actin in the growth cone.

Norms were plated an ophlysine, allowed to stack overnight and were then stimulated with soluble luminin for 24 h. Following fraction, neuronsmoothed with methodes directed against Hig27 (red – A, D, G, J, M, P). Images of growth cores were obtained with higher magnification than the earlier images via confield microscopy. Panch C, F, I, L, O, R reported the mergin image of single durated images. Such kars = 10 µm.



colocalization in growth comes of mature searches (Fig. 4.6 D.F., and Fig. 4.7 D.F.). Allbrudy dominimentry was not performed on these confocal images, all images within one figure were visualized at the same PMTs and magnification. Cells expressing 18/927-AA dishtyde targer pression of 5/960 imiliarities colocalizations of reast and 18/927 within the growth cones, and early growth processes that saw of seen under other conditions (Fig. 4.5 (D-F), Fig. 4.4 (D-F), Fig. 4.7 (D-F)). This is consistent with nonphospherylated Hp27 lawing a direct interaction with actin possibly to stabilize the actin crossletom (Figs. 4.2, D-F).

## 4.3.2.4 Overexpression of Hsp27-AE

DBRG nanoma expressing Hug27-AE. displayed robust Hug27 stating in the early stages of months inhibition as well as into the nature searches and growth ocose (Fig. 45 G, Fig. 46 G, Fig. 47 G). Although, an stord above, dominanetry of these images was an opticrimed, flow observing the images taken at the same FMT level, taken parend hat the level of F-actin stating was lower for cells expressing Hug27-AE: than for cells snaker all other conditions (Fig. 45 S), Fig. 45 AI, Fig. 47 H). This suggests that the decreme in F-actin may be responsible for the altered growth pattern (less headeling) seen in cells expressing Hug27-AE.

### 4.3.2.5 Overexpression of Hsp27-EE or Hsp27-EA

Cells expressing Hsp27-EE or Hsp27-EA displayed similar morphology in the structure of their processes and their F-actin localization [Fig 4.5 (J-O), Fig 4.6 (J-O), Fig 4.7 (C-0)). H1027-EA coll h027-EE cells displayed large mumbers of filopoda and nancest presenses stained for H027 and contained F-sectin in the early stages of neuritie growth file (4.5.2.0) and an oliopological game more of filopodia and presenses in growth structures and neurite shafts of mature neurines [Fig. 4.6.(-D), Fig. 4.7 (O-0)]. Throughouth structures of neuritie growth and extension, cells expressing either H027-EE or H027-EEA present at higher levels of protonion (filopodia and matcent precesses) or H027-EEA present at higher levels of protonion (filopodia and matcent precesses) diretters to all other constitus. The presence of filogram most of protonions, and decremed neurite extension, suggests that there is increased uncordinated filament growth and may explain why H027-EE1 and H027-EA expressing cells have lower more interimeters.

#### 4.3.2.6 Overexpression of Hsp27-A(5-23)

Cdth expressing http:72-65-23.3 displayed Http?T and F-actin colocalized in flippedia and the leading edge of lanceflippedium in the early stagges of security growth as well as in the memicra entropy of  $F_{10}$  (46, 67–68). The localization of Http?T and F-actin in cells expressing [Http?T-62-623) was somewhat insilize to that in hittp?T expressing edds. Under both conditions Http?T was present at high-levels in the contral engines of the growth come, while F-actin was spectra to High-levels in the contral ergs of the growth come, while F-actin was spectra to High-levels in the problem of the growth core in the flippedia and lanceflippediam as well as in the cortex of the neerine shaft (Fig 46 A/C, FiR), Fig 4.7 (A/C, FiR). However on motishe difference between the conditions was the promote of the lyte vector (Hergy 2 at the data) growth flippediam data. nascent processes in the growth cone in cells expressing haHsp27 [Fig 4.7(A-C)] that was not present in cells expressing Hsp27-Δ(5-23) [Fig 4.7 (P-R)].

Additionally cells expressing Hip27-4/5-23) displayed panets of Hip27 in approximately 40% of cells (Fig 4.3); these panets ranged from minute to "ninged" aggregates up to 4 µm in diameter. Neurite length and Sholl analysis on cells with visible aggregates compared to cells without showed no difference in growth and growth patterning between the two populations (Fig 4.3).

#### 4.4 Discussion

This study highlights the importance of Hsp27 phosphorylation in the regulation of neurite extension and growth patterning, likely via influence over polymerization of cytoskeletal elements such as actin.

To investigate the effects of 19827 phosphorplation on contric initiation and growth we used 19827 constructs with matations in the phosphorplation sites, either minicing contributes phosphorplate 1182 (1982-634)) as preventing hosphorplatiant at the site (59-A). Five matant constructs were employed in this study. Hog27-A(5-2)) matant has the WDPF domain as well as the SerT 5 phosphorplation site decised, allowing ne to look at whether the presence of this domain and phosphory lations in are involved in norther growth. High7-AA is unable to be phosphory lations in an involved pormitting investigation of what effect preventing phosphorylations Hog27 phosphorylation has on marking growth. High7-2E contains regaritively charged gamma and or indexing the interaction of the anti-field preventing phosphorylations Hog27 phosphorylation has on marking growth. Figure 4.8: When expressed in DRG neurons Hsp27-A(5-23) forms aggregates in 40% of cells

Neurons were o-termforder with AIDA complementary to Hug27 and textens coding for GFP and Hug27- My-22) and were plated on polyhysine, allowed to anach overaight and were then simulated for 24.1s. Following fractation meanures were hidden with Alexa Fluor 555-Phallodin (reds Tr, 1) and immunostationed with antibodies directed against Hug27 (A-C; green - D, P). Pand F represents the merged images of aingle channel images D and E. Hug27 is present in ring-like aggregates in the cell body, neurine and growth once (reflew work). Geals han - 20 ann).



Hsp27-∆5-23 with aggregates

Hsp27-∆5-23 without aggregates constitutive phosphorytation, permitting investigation of what mell constitutive phosphorytation plays in nearing provide. It 1927-EA have one of their serine phosphorytation sites mutated to a hatmine (A) much that it a sums of the phosphorytation, and the other series phosphorytation site mutated to platminic said (2) minicklarg constitutive phosphorytation. The Hup27-EA and Hup27-AE constructs allow us to look at the role that the individual phosphorytation sites are pipeing in nearing provide hy comparing constitutions in the constructs to those expressing halfup27, Hup27-AA, and Hup27-EE.

The phosphorylation state of [Hig27 affects the of-glorentration state of the pretoin in the cell. Bit-chemical studies analysing the mattar proteins have suggested that hep opolypochical months have an effect on 1bg27 aff-glorencications (Threindt et al., 2004). It has been reported that 1bg27-tE and 1bg27-tE are present solely as monomers and are unable to form dimers and larger ofigurents, while 1bg27-tE is present as monomers and dimers and a table for form large of ignorest, 2004). 1bg27-dE(5-23) is snahls to form ofigurence larger than dimers, and 1bg27-AE is found is all the ofigurence is tates, showph is preferentially forms large ofigurence its currence listenian et al., 2005).

Expression of the different Hip27 mutants have distinct effects on their ability to reasone Hip27-alRNA docreased mutrite growth. Cells expressing Hip27-AA, where phosphorylation at the amino acidis 15 and 90 is prevented and Hip27 is able to form large ofgenerers, show similar neurite extension to that of halfsp27 that prevently can be phosphorylated. However, the neurite arbitration patterns of halfsp27 and Hip27-
As are difference, possibly indicating aberrang provide patterning due to the matution. A difference in the growth patterning of cells expressing Hap27-AA is not surprising given providence with showing that aberrant neutric growth results from the use of a pharmacological appreximation in the Hap27 phosphorylation (Williams et al., 2005). Cells expressing Hap27-AA also showed an abered localization of Hap27 and F-actin compared to efficiency and the Hap27 expressing cells, those expressing Hap27-AA displayed high levels of robusting and F-actin in nancent processes and filopodia in early stages of growth and also is the central region of growth concer. This possibly progresses high levels of Hap27-AA, some of which would be from in momencie form and able to bita to F-actin which is consistent with momentie surplesphered Hap27 branching in (Fedore et al., 2004).

CdBn expressing Hug7-34,5213, where the WDPF domain and the S15 phosphorylation site of Hug73 have been defauld, display neurine extension and growth proteining smither in hole 1927-362,5213 (so where the second second

Cells expressing Hsp27-EE or Hsp27-EA, where the Hsp27 S15 site has been mutated to mimic constitutive phosphorylation, resulted in significantly (P < 0.05) less growth then cells expressing halfsp27, and similar growth to cells wish 18;927-3830X alone. Additionally, Shoil analysis of Hug27EE or Hug27EA expressing cells also displayed decreased ensite absolution is an initial to Hug27-3830X. Cells transfered with Hug27EE or Hug27EA (hug4ped high levels of protension (flopodia and nascert processes) at early stages of neurite initiation and growth, and also in growth comes and acon shafts of mature meetres. The mechanism for this excess of protensions is unknown and it is possible that phospherylation at the S15 site of Hug27 may play a role in malification of Hug04, or that is dephospherylation is regardler discussion of protrenisms. As the only two conditions that failed to result in growth greater than Hug27-3820X alones, it is of interest that these matatas are also the only two of the free constructs used that are unable to form formes or of algomers, and are thus expected to be completely in a monomicer it atte.

Cells expressing Hip57-AE fell in herenem the wild type conditions (hallsp27) and siRNA alone, as they had significantly (P < 0.05) here nearthe growth and arborization than hallsp27, but significantly (P < 0.05) more growth and arborization than Hip57-siRNA alone. Cells transformed with Hip57-AE fails an appear to have lower treels of F-actin than cells expressing hallsp27 and aboth Hip57-matations.

These results suggest that the role that Hsp27 plays in neuring growth can be affected by Biospherytation, ofigomerization, or a combination of both (Table 1). The Hsp27 mutants that are able to dimensize and/or form large ofigomers [Hsp27-AA, Hsp27-AF, Hsp27-4(5-23)] all displayed neuring growth that was significantly greater than that of Flap27-aBKA allow, shile Hsp27 mutants that were unable to fem dimens or

	Oligomeric Size	Amount of Neurite Growth	Description of Neurite Growth
HaHsp27	Monomers, dimers and oligomers (Lambert et al., 1999)	+++++	Neurite growth significantly increased relative to siRNA
Hsp27-AA	large oligomers (Lambert et al., 1999)	+++++	Neurite growth similar to haHsp27
Hsp27-AE	Dimers and monomers (Theriault et al., 2004)	+++	Signifigantly less neurite growth than cells transfected with haHsp27, similar growth to siRNA
Hsp27-EE	Monomers (Theriault et al., 2004)	+	Significantly less neurite growth than cells transfected with haHsp27, similar growth to siRNA
Hsp27-EA	Monomers (Theriault et al., 2004)	+	Neurite growth significantly less than hallsp27 and significantly greater than siRNA
Hsp27-4(5-23)	Dimers and monomers (Theriault et al., 2004)	+++++	Neurite growth similar to haHsp27

# Table 4.1: The effect of Hsp27 phosphorylation mutants on neurite growth

# Table 4.2: The effect of Hsp27 phosphorylation mutants on the localization of Hsp27

# and F-actin

Mutant	Oligomeric Size	Observations	Possible Explanations
HaHsp27	Monomers, dimers and oligomers	Hsp27 present in the central region of the growth cone, and at filopdia tips, F-actin present in periphery	
Hsp27-AA	large oligomers	Strong colocalization of F-actin and Hsp27 in filopodia	Consistent with non phosphorylated Hsp27 having a direct interaction with actin
Hsp27-AE	Dimers and monomers	Appears to have low F-actin levels	Suggests a decrease in F-actin may be responsible for the altered growth pattern
Hsp27-EE	Monomers	High levels of filopodia and nascent processes with F-actin	<ul> <li>S15 phosphorylation may stabilize filopodia, or</li> </ul>
Hsp27-EA	Monomers	High levels of filopodia and nascent processes with F-actin	<ul> <li>Dephosphorylation is required for retraction?</li> </ul>
Hsp27-Δ(5-23)	Dimers and monomers	Hsp27 present in the central region of the growth cone, F-actin present in periphery	Suggests WDPF domain does not affect actin localization (Hsp27 not at distal tips)

oligomers (Hsp27-EE and Hsp27-EA) displayed growth similar to Hsp27-siRNA alone. Additionally the differences in growth between the dimer-forming mutants may be accounted for due to the difference in their phosphorylation states.

Psephopylation of the S15 and 390 titles appears not the required for Hig27 multiated mavine entgrowth as seen in the Hig27-AA and Hig27-AGS-23) conditions. However, constitutive entosch-pothopylation of the S15 and 590 total these are appeare effect on the involvement of Hig27 in neurine growth, with phosphorylation of the S15 site (as evidenced through cells equery sensing Hig27.EE and Hig27-EA) appearing to have a stronger inhibitory effect than phosphorylation of the S90 and 990 total (Hig27-EA). One provide equation for the effects in the phosphorylation at S16 total (Hig27-EA) stabilizing the actio cytokeleton, possibly through promoting actin filament proveds and stabilizing the actin cytokeleton, possibly through promoting actin filament proveds and the 202-EA (Table 4.2), while phosphorylation at the S19 to there years involved in detabilizing the cytokeleton (accounting for the sceningly lower F-actin levels with Hig27-EA). A shall in the dynamic balance thereese polynomization and depolynomization in the cell in either direction will affect the control of neurite extension and growth patterning that may account for the differences in growth seen in this shady with use of the Hig27-EA).

These results are the first to show that differences between the phosphorytation sites have an influence on neurite growth parameters. Although many studies (in nonneuronal cells) support phosphorytation dependant direct and indirect mechanisms for Heg? regulation of the F-actin systukciens, the specific phosphorytation site involved

in each of these mechanisms has not been clusidited. With respect to the finding that constitutive phosphory-fields has an sequence angument, under normal conditions Hup?1 is hopesphory-fields in this suphosphory-fated state and is rapidly phosphory-fated state dependent/stated threaves clein signaling authways in response to stimilia changing environments. So while these results support the involvement of Hup?2 in scorite growth and suggest differential involvement of the phosphory-fation sites in this process, it is also possible that the effect of Hup?2 phosphory-fation depends on its localized activation and descivation. Through being dynamically regulated hetf, Hup?2 is able to play a role in mobiling the dynamic of action.

## Chapter 5

# Inhibition of p38 MAPK activity attenuates Hsp27 phosphorylation and increases the F-actin/G-actin ratio in DRG neurons

#### 5.1 Introduction:

Attent is a component of the neuronal systekations and its responsible for many of the structures that determine the shape of the neurons. Due to the ability of actins to form dynamic structures it hyposes flexibility to detail ability and the to respond to varying conditions. Within the cell, actin citatis in two states: actin momeners, also known as globaltar actin (Gastati) and actin filtamenta, action transmosters, also charal(colcon and Har), 1978. Actin thioling proteins can regulate actin filtament dynamics via regulation of polymerization, ababilization, and attachment of actinits to other structures (Dost and Genler, 2003). Matilia and Lapabainen, 2005.

Here thesk protein 77 (Hgr2) is a non-there of the class of small base shock proteins and has been shown to interact with different cytotacketal elements, as well as to protein and the lense of the constraints with the start of the start of the including by stabilizing the actin filament cytotacketon (Hoot et al., 1997; Preville et al., 1998; Vigilanca et al., 2008). The interactions between Hgr27 and actin have been extensively unided. Hgr27 Jplys a noise in regulating the actin filament cytotacketon studends free interactions what etias as well as no modulating the activities of actin

binding proteins through signaling pathways. The interactions of Flqs27 and actin are important for many cell finacions, including anoth mucke contraction, neutrophil chemotaxis and exceptosis, cell division, cell survival, cell migration, and cell attachment is focal adhesitons, and recently in GDNF indicated marine growth (https/hg) et al., 1998; Hong et al., 2009; Jog et al., 2007; Loc et al., 2007; Loc et al., 2008; Fotowsice et al., 1998; Schedieker et al., 1999; Additionally, Hog27 colocalizes with actin filaments in cardiac (Latche et al., 1997), Adektal (Denndor et al., 1994), and smooth muscle (Sitar et al., 1997; Shevica (a., 1997).

The note that [18,92] Jays in regulating the action systekation through both direct and indirect mechanisms depends upon the photophotian state of [18,927. 18,927 in photophotipation of our two sciences in the robust http://science.int.science.int.acs/both in humater, Sciel2 in mouse) by MAPKAP kinnee 2 (MSK2) at both sites in many cell types: MKC6: in agenceally thought to be activated by p38 MMAY. (Bluot et al., 1995; Landry et al., 1992; Meilten and Arrige, 1994). In smooth muscle and other cell types, direct kinness such and MX3 (McLaughlin et al., 1995; MK3 (Slove et al., 1996; MK2) (Maizek et al., 1998), and PKD (Deepler et al., 2005; have been implicated in the photophotyticino of Hig27, although the specific size photophotytized have not been dotermined.

Previous studies have suggested a role for Hsp27 in neurite growth via regulation of the scitt extended the studies of the studies of the studies of the scitter of the studies of the stu

growth owner (Williams et al., 2005). Knock down of endogenous Hsp27 protein by small instrufering RAAs (siRNA) resulted in decreased neutric growth as well as an adment backariation of Hsp27 and sain (Williams et al., 2006). Additionally see observed that the phosphorylation state of Hsp27 was important for neurine growth (see Ch 4). Use of optimum pharmacological inhibitor that ishibit the activity of p38 MAPK resulted in decrement Hsp27 Floxphorylation and adversant neutric growth similar to chell neural with syncholatisa ID (tilliams et al., 2005). Transfection of mearons with mutant Hsp27 contracts containing Hsp27-EE which minisc constraintively phosphorylation Hsp27, methods in decrement growth retrairs to costnol conditions, as well as high levels of protrainion (filospodia and nancer processes) at early stages of monite initiation and growth as well as in growth occus and acon shuth of mears exertise (Williams, 2009). These males support a nels for Hsp27 heigaling actin dynamics, with the phosphorylation state of Hsp27 heiga important. Our objective in the present study sus in investigative whether optimum pharmacological hishbition of Hsp27 phosphorylation stifteed at ant means to the oth.

## 5.2 Materials and Methods

## 5.2.1 Neuronal Cultures

Donal root ganglia (DRG) from young adult (5-6 weeks of age) Spragae-Dawley rats (Memorial University of NewKoundlind Vivariam) were dissociated and dissociated using the procedure described in previous chapters sections 2.6.1, 3.3, and 4.2. Brietly, in accordance with University Animal Care guidelines, animats were decapitated, ganglia

were extracted from all spinal cord levels and incubated in 0.25% collagenase type II (Invitrogen, Burlington, Canada) for 45 min at 37°C and then incubated with 0.25% trypsin (Invitrogen) for 20 min at 37°C, and then incubated with 0.2% soybean trypsin inhibitor for 5 min at 37°C. The ganglia were dissociated by a series of manual titrations using polished Pasteur pipettes. The cell suspension was washed with serum free Neurobasal medium (NB, Invitrogen) and centrifuged at 5 G, before being lavered on top of a 30% Percoll solution (GE healthcare, Baie d'Urfe, QC) in 15 mL conical tubes and centrifuged at 400 g for 20 min at room temperature. Pellets were then carefully extracted with a sterile pasture pipette, placed in a fresh tube and transfected using the AMAXA nucleoporation protocol (AMAXA/LONZA, Cologne, Germany). Transfected cells were suspended in serum free modified NB, containing supplemented 100 U penicillin/ streptomycin, B27 supplement (Invitrogen), and 20 uM cytosine arabinoside (Sigma, St. Louis MO, USA) and plated on laminin (LN: 40 up/mL) - coated Lab-Tek 16-well chamber slides (Nunc International, Naperville, IL) for neurite growth assessment or PL coated 12-well plates for Western blotting and G-actin/F-actin in vivo assay kit, and incubated at 37 °C with 5% COs. The neurons were cultured in serum-free NB with no added growth factors.

#### 5.2.2 Inhibitor Experiments

SB 203580 and SB 202190 (10 uM Calbiochem/ EMD Biosciences, San Diego, CA) were used to inhibit p38 MAPK activity, in order to assess the contribution of phosphorylated Hsp27. Inhibitors were added 2 h after the cells were plated on LN coated slides and retained in the medium for the extent of the experiment.

# 5.2.3 Immunoblotting

Transfected neurons were plated in 12-well plates and subsequently processed according to our established protocols (Jones et al., 2003), and as previously described. After cell lysis and centrifugation (10.000 rpm, 5 min), the supernatants were used to determine protein concentration by using the BCA protein assay (Pierce Chemicals, Rockford, IL). Equivalent amounts of protein (50 up) were subjected to sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)-poly-acrylamide gel electrophoresis (10% acrylamide). Fractionated proteins were subsequently transferred to nitrocellulose membranes and stained with ponceau red as an indicator of protein loading. Immunodetection of the protein of interest was performed by blocking the membrane in 3% powdered milk in TBS-T for 1 h and incubated overnight with primary antibodies directed towards Hsp27 (SPA-801, Stressgen), mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, CA), actin (A2066: Siema) and phospho. Hup 27515 (PAL016: Affinity Bioreagents), and phospho-Hsp27582 (E118, Abcam), phospho-Hsp27582 reacts with phosphorylated S82 in human and S86 in rat. The nitrocellulose membranes were then probed with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated secondary antibodies (AP307P; AP308P; Chemicon, Temecula, CA) for 1 h at room temperature, followed by visualization via the ECL method.

#### 5.2.4 G-actin / F-actin In vivo Assay Kit

The F-actin (// G-actin mole with the cells was determined using the G-actin // S-actin wire anary kit (Cytotaletten), Denver CO). The F and G-actin populations are looked from cell poster by differential centrifugation to separate the insoluble F-actin from soluble G-actin. The cellular F-actin to G-actin ratio is maintained by performing cell collections and centrifugation at J/27C. The separatel F-actin and G-actin levels are analyzed by immubicing and deally deriver.

## 5.2.5 Cell labeling and imaging

Notions were fixed in the paraformholdsylds (pl 17:7-16) in PES fet 15 min, permethilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 and blocket with 10% sourcal guita terms in PEIS. Cells were includated for 2.1 with Alexa 365 Phallubidin (blockedar Photole Invitorgen) to label actin fillmenter (f-actin), and Decoy Ribonachiene) (Alexa Tare 488 (D1227), Molecular Photoe's Invitorgen) to label G-actin. The cells were cover tilpped with gyneeria and image with concellar law reasoning invitorous yuing reasoning and image stacking. Stocked digital images were incorporated into Adole Photohop for complication in the final compute figures. 20 eefls were imaged for each of 3 replicas of each outfilter.

#### 5.2.6 Mean Grey Values of Labeled Cells

Confocal images of F-actin and G-actin stained cells were converted to inverted grayscale till's using Adobe Photoshop, and imported into Image J (version 1.38x; NIH, USA). The ImageJ measurement function was used to determine the mean grey values for the image. Mean grey values for F-actin stained cells were divided by mean grey values for G-actin stained cells, and these values were expressed as the mean density of F-actin/ Gactin.

#### 5.3 Results

Due to numerous reports aggesting a nels for High? phosphorylation is modularing the actin cytosledon (Heundorf et al., 1994; Hatt et al., 2004; Guay et al., 1997; Lawie et al., 2005; Schafter et al., 1999; Vallanze et al., 2008; Julianz et al., 2008; phosphorylation, on the actin cytosledonton, 1918 MAPK, and thus inhibiting High? phosphorylation and activation of MSICA; that acts as an High? Jianue (Hoat et al., 1995). These previously above that inhibition of pSISMAPK activity, using a combination of pSI MAPK, inhibitions (SII 203580 and SI2021190), blocks the phosphorylation of High? at the Ser15 site, and results in hierrant growth (Williams et al., 2005).

I initially determined whether the inhibitors were effective in preventing Hug27 phosphorylation at both the S15 and S46 situs. DRG neurons were plated on LN coated 2 used proce and after 2 h to S21 inhibitors were adod; 24 h after S21 addition, cell lystars were immunobletted in described in the Methods. The immunoblets were probled with pHug27<sup>201</sup> pHug27<sup>202</sup> promptises net S460, and total Hug27 antibodies. The results presented in Figure 5.1 show that treatments with S10 resulted Hug27 antibodies. The results appropring the S11 and S461 sets and S462 sets and S462 sets and presented in the S11 and S462 sets.

Figure 51, p39 MAPK ishibitin blocks phosphorytation of Hpp71 at the 515 and 580 sins. Adub DRG neurons were plated on laminin coated places, allowed to mitch for 2 hand were transition (510 MAPK ishibitions, SIG33506 and SIG200 (61 puriensh). Cells were sampled at 24 h post 501 addition, and protein was analyzed by weaten hotning (AA). Ishibition of p34 MAPK astricity remains in significantly decreased levelor (b hot 515 00 pail s366 (2) poshport-plation rule to correct. Capaba represent the mean-# SIM of relative deminometric data of 4 hots from 2 experiments (data are expensed an prerentages with the correct value for each experiment taken at 1. Significance was total using Test, 97 e0.05.



Its aring determined that the inhibitors had the expected affects on the phophorylation of Hyd77, we sought to determine their effect on actin filament phophorylation. The Hydre experiments, we used a sommercishly validable protocol on isolate the F-actin and G-actin populations within the cells. Neurons were plated on LNcound 12 evel plates as for the previous experiment, and were treated with SR 2.b after plating, and cell yates are collected 2.1 hater and prepared as described in the Methods for the G-actin F-actin area, the Collowing centrophores in the resulting blots were pooled with actin and loading control MAPK attibudies. The Hosties display increased F-actin levels in acculations that the F-actin f G-actin article s2.A.). Demonstration from some system has the control (HTG s2.0 h.).

Its ring determined that inhibition of p38 MMVR results in an alteration of the F1 actin // Gastin ranko in the nextons, we sought to confirm these results with cell staining. Normew were placed to cool of 16 will differ and were tracted with 8.7 h that plating, and were fixed 21 h later and labeled for F-actin and G-actin as outlined in the Methods. The neurons were imaged using confical microscopy for visualization of Factin and G-actin (Fig 5.2 C). All images were obtained at the same PMSTs o permit a comparison of the images. These images were converted into inverted pryscale images using Addre Photohog and imported into Image Its determine the mean grey values / dentilies of the images. Mean demities of the images were expressed as a rate of the F1.

Figure 5.2: p38 MAPK inhibition alters the F-actin to G-actin ratio within the DRG neuron, resulting in increased F-actin and decreased G-actin. Adult DRG neurons were plated on laminin coated plates or slides, allowed to attach for 2 h and were treated with p38 MAPK inhibitors, SB203580 and SB 202190 (10 um each). 24 h after SB addition cells were either collected for analysis of their G-actin/F-actin using an in vivo assay kit (See Methods) (A, B), or fixed, permeabilized and treated with Alexa 568-Phalloidin to label F-actin, and DeoxyRiboNuclease1 (DNAse I) coupled to Alexa Fluor 488 to label G-actin (C). A: Treatment with SB resulted in an increase in F-actin levels. B. Densitometric analysis of the F-actin/G-actin blots showed that treatment with SB resulted in a significantly increased F-actin/ G-actin ratio relative to loading control MAPK (where individual F-actin and G-actin levels were normalized to MAPK levels). Graphs represent the mean ± SEM of relative densitometric data of 5 blots from 5 experiments: data are expressed as percentages with the control value for each experiment taken as 1. C. Confocal images of cells with and without SB treatment, and treated with Phalloidin-Alexa 568 and DNAse-Alexa Fluor 488 for visualization of Factin and G-actin, were obtained at the same PMTs and magnification. D. Confocal images of F-actin and G-actin stained cells were converted to inverted gravacale using Adobe Photoshon, and imported into ImageJ. The ImageJ measurement function was used to determine the mean grey values for the image. Mean grey values for F-actin stained cells were divided by mean grey values for G-actin stained cells, and these values were expressed as the mean density of F-actin/ G-actin. Cells treated with SB had a significantly increased F-actin/ G-actin ratio than control cells. Inhibition of p38 MAPK activity results in significantly increased F-actin/ G-actin within DRG neurons. Graphs represent the mean ± SEM of mean grey values (F-actin/ G-actin) of 12 cells from 2 plating experiments. Significance was tested using T-test, \* p<0.05.



assay kit, as cells treated with SB had a significantly increased F-actin/ G-actin ratio of mean grey values relative to control cells.

# 5.4 Discussion

This study signifies the importance of p38 MAPK scivity, possibly via its apaream regulation of 119c27 shopherylation, in regulating the neuronal actin cycloxleton. Results suggest that ishibition of 119c27 phosphorylation alters the balance of scivits / Scivits in the neuron. This is based on the assumption that the effects on the actin cytoxleton are due to the SB compounds acting as an opticaroan ishibitor of 119c27 phosphorylation, via ishibition of p38 MAPK. Although the concentration of the ishibitor was chosen empirically and is within the range of predictival-toric effects on p38 MAPK, it is possible that it may have other ishibitory affineers, or that it may be influencing the actic scividente though actions on isochicy: [127].

FNMARK control of the actin cytotalettons via the regulation of Hsp27 phosphosylatism is supported by manerous studied denominating that Hsp27 plays a role in regulating the actin filament cytotaletton through direct interaction with acting, as well by modulating the actin filament cytotaletton through direct interaction with acting as well of a producting the actin filament cytotaletton through direct interaction with acting as well of the action filament cytotaletton through direct interaction with acting as well of the action of the action of the action of the actin cytotaletton (Williams, 2009; William et al., 2009; William et

To mechanism for direct 18qc7-based inhibitor of ratin filmment assembly have been proposed. Hug77 was originally characterized as a harbed end capping profestion, ablowy there reports suggest that Hug77 impairs actin filmment assembly by sequenting actin moreners rather than by capping (Daring et al., 2007; Mienn et al., 1991): Pichon et al., 2004). Both of these mechanisms support a phosphory lation dependent interaction (FH27 with actin, suggesting that only mapping). Hug77 moreners are able to bind to actin to inhibit actin filament polymerization (Bennderf et al., 1994; During et al., 2007; Garg et al., 1997; Landry and Hoot, 1999; Lawier et al., 1998; During et al., 2007; Garg et al., 1997; Landry and Hoot, 1999; Lawier et al., 1998; During et al., 2007; Garg et al., 1997; Landry and Hoot, 1999;

Theoremains suggest the Hig-27 regulates the actine systuktions in a mechanism that is dependent on its phospharylarison mate, however unike models for direct initiated one of Hig-27 actions that the observed of Sarah (Mone of Lay01), our results show that the p31 MAPK inhibitor S12020580 treatment led to decreased Hig-27 phosphorylarism, along with increased 15 actiss. These results could be explained by the rule Hig-27 physis in regulating the actini filament cytosketesis independent of its ability to directly bird to active its regularizing active biologic profiles through his insolvement in cell signaling pathways. Hig-27 his been suggested to interact with 14-3-3 prestin and RhoA, bord of which are involved in regulation of the actine cytoskeletion dynamics (Cellier et al. 2004; Lendon et al. 2006).

Phosphorylated Hsp27 binds 14-3-3 protein in fibroblasts, and inhibition of Hsp27 phosphorylation with the p38 MAPK inhibitor SB203580 blocks this interaction (Vertii et al., 2006). It has been hypothesized that the interaction of pHsp27 and 14-3-3

protein prevents the binding of 14-3-3 and pCofflin, binding of pHip27 to 14-3-3 results in the dephosphorylation and activation of cofflin, and thereby promotes actin filament depolymerization (Gaestel, 2006). This possible indirect role for Hip27 affecting actin polymerization mappets our findings that SB treatment results in stabilization of the crossletion and increased F-actin levels.

An indirect role of they? To singularing actin filterment dynamics is further supported by the finding that the Hoge? phospherylation matant, Huge?EE, is highly actin physicalization in Head. 2 with the act with the increases. Huge?EE, is highly act effects of Huge? on actin polymerication depending on the cell type suggests the presence of cell type specific actin binding proteins and significant intermediates that could influence actin themese physicartainet.

These results show that upstream pharmacological inhibition of Hsp27 phosphorylation alters the actin dynamic in the cells resulting in an increase in F-actin.

# Chapter 6

#### Discussion and Summary

#### 6.1 Research outcomes

The main goal of my research was to determine what role Hsp27 played in neurite growth of the sensory DRG neurons. This investigation stemmed from previous work in the Mearow lab looking at the role of Hsp27 in survival of DRG neurons. It is clear that Hsp27 can play a protective role in neurons and that its effects may be unique from those of Hsp70 and other HSPs (Reviewed in Franklin et al., 2005; Latchman, 2005; Stetler et al., 2008). The protective effects of Hsp27 have been attributed to its actions as a chaperone, its ability to inhibit apoptosis, and its ability to stabilize the actin cytoskeleton (Huot et al., 1997; Mounier and Arriso, 2002; Perns et al., 1999a; San and MacRae 2005; Theriault et al., 2004). The role of Hsp27 in modulating the actin cytoskeleton has been extensively studied in non-neuronal cells and interactions of Hsp27 and actin have been determined to be important for many cell functions, including smooth muscle contraction, neutrophil chemotaxis and exocytosis, cell division, cell survival, cell migration, and cell attachment via focal adhesions (Brophy et al., 1998: Jog et al., 2007: Lee et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2008; Piotrowicz et al., 1998; Schneider et al., 1998). In cultures of dissociated adult DRG neurons I observed robust expression of Hsp27 in the neurites and growth cones. The combination of the location of Hsp27 in neurites and growth cones along with the reported role of Hsp27 in modulating the cytoskeleton, led

me to examine whether Hsp27 was involved in neurite growth via regulation of the actin evtoskeleton.

Besides its interactions with actin, it is also clear that Hsp27 can interact with tubulin, tau and several species of intermediate filaments including GFAP, vimentin, nestin and neurofilaments (NF) (Benndorf and Welsh, 2004; Jia et al., 2009; Perng et al., 1999a: Shimura et al. 2004). Furthermore, recent studies have shown that missense mutations in sHSPs including Hsn27, Hsn22, and Hsn8 are associated with perinheral neuropathies in particular the axonal form of Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease and distal hereditary motor neuropathy (Evgrafov et al., 2004; Irobi et al., 2004b; Zhai et al., 2007). Interestingly, mutations in both NF-L and Hsp27 result in similar phenotypes. Expression of the mutant NF-L causes a disrupted neurofilament network with subsequent alteration in axonal transport (Perez-Olle et al., 2004; Perez-Olle et al., 2005) while expression of two of the missense Hsp27 mutations results in the formation of insoluble aggregates and destabilization and disruption of NFs and disturbances in axonal transport (Ackerley et al., 2006; Evgrafov et al., 2004; Zhai et al., 2007). Thus Hsp27 has been inferred to stabilize not only actin but also neurofilament and microtubules, which we hypothesize indicate possible mechanisms for the involvement of Hsp27 in neurite growth. As obvious from previous chapters, a variety of different experiments were performed in order to test these hypotheses. To summarize my results I have placed my findings in 3 separate categories: (1) The effects of the presence or absence of Hsp27 in neurite initiation and growth; (2) The role that phosphorylation of Hsp27 plays in neurite growth. (3) The effect of Hsp27 on the cytoskeleton.

# 6.1.1 The Effects of the presence or absence of Hsp27 in neurite initiation and growth.

Exposure of DRG neurons to LN, either through plating on LN or stimulation with soluble LN enhances process formation and neurite outgrowth, compared to neurons plated on a non-permissive substrate alone (Tucker et al., 2006). By stimulating cells with LN for short time periods we were able to observe various distinctive states in neuronal membrane expansion and neurite growth. Initially a membranous expansion, referred to as a lamellipodium, appears either around the whole soma or a portion thereof. The lamellinodium is filled with an actin meshwork and its formation is driven by actin polymerization: I observed the lamellipodium to stain positive for actin. Small sprouts are then seen to extend from the lamellae as filopodia or nascent processes. These processes appear to either elongate into neurites with the lamellipodium and filopodia remaining as leading growth cones, or retract. Based on the hypothesis that Hsp27 may play a role in process initiation or neurite growth we examined the localization of Hsp27 in various stages of process formation using immunocytochemistry and confocal microscopy. My data shows that Hsn27 and pHsn27815 appear to colocalize with actin and tubulin in structures found at all stages of neurite initiation including lamellipodium. filopodia, focal contacts, neurite shafts, branch points and growth cones (Note that I will be discussing the possible role for phosphorylation of Hsp27 in more detail in section 6.1.2 below). The filamentous nature of Hsp27 was clear in the neurites and growth cones supporting the hypothesis that Hsp27 is associating with cytoskeletal elements. Given the vast literature suggesting a role for Hsp27 in stabilizing the non-neuronal

cytoskeleton, it is possible that one role of Hsp27 is to stabilize the neuronal cytoskeleton at potential sites of branching or sprouting,

The remain showed that Hg-P2 colocalized with actin and tabulat during various stages of neurite growth, and suggested that Hq-27 was present in a location where it could be ploting at role in nourite growth is regulating at rimensing with the neuronal systembedient (William et al., 2005). To assess farther the role of Hq-27 in this process we decreased its expression using iRINA. sRNA directed against a region of Hq-27 effectively depressed Hq-27 protein levels while the level of actin, hadbin, and NF-L, were unaffected. Dipletion of Hq-27 protein levels while the level of actin, hadbin, and control sRNA, indicating that the presence of Hq-27 plays a positive role in sensite growth and extension (Williams et al., 2006). After see publicable these results, we were append with the generics of Hq-27 plays a positive role in sensite growth and extension (Williams et al., 2006). After see publicable these results, we were does with the generics of else with and wildow growth under each condition and were able to show that, not eavily did the siRNA-indiced decrease in Hq-27 protein levels results.

Having determined that the decrease of Htp22 protein levels negatively affected neurite growth and branching we transferted the neurons with a construct to express exogenosa Htp27 to look at the effect of increased Htp22 on these growth parameters. Data from these experiments indicated that the overexpression of Htp27 resulted in increased neurite growth as well as a more branched neuritie tere. Together these tables

Figure 6.1: Slatesing Htp27 expression by alRNA results in a decrease is neurite initiation. Recores were transfered with either control or Htp27 siRNA, plated in 16 well slides could with Ht\_1 allowed to fix oversight and stimulated with XL-2 to 16 the stimulation cells were fixed and immensionation with Htp27 and theffit. The percentage of cells with growth was analyzed by counting the number of cells immunotinged with theffit, with and without neurites. Cells treated with siRNA had less cells with neurite growth than control conditions (1000 cells analyzed from the condition).



indicate that Hsp27 plays a role in neurite initiation, extension and branching in a manner that is dependent on the level of Hsp27 present in the neuron.

As described earlier the DRG is made up of a heterogeneous population of cells, which can be crudely classified based on cell body diameter, and on their ability to bind the IB4 lectin. Recent studies from the Mearow lab (Tucker et al., 2008) have shown that the different populations of neurons respond to LN on different timescales to initiate neurite growth, with small diameter peptidergic neurons taking longer to put out extensive neuritic networks than large and medium diameter neurons. In order to address the question of whether population diversity was having an impact on my experiments I first looked at whether Hsn27 levels differed between cell nonulations. Using slices of DRG's I observed that although Hsn27 levels vary from neuron to neuron, there is no specific correlation with neurons from a particular population having higher or lower Hsp27 than the others (Figure 6.2). I next used Image J to determine the size of cell soma used in neurite prowth analysis, and determined that the percentage of small cells in each condition was approximately 20%, and that when neurite length was analyzed by size, the small cells (diameter less than 21 µm) displayed less growth than larger cells in the same condition (Figure 6.3). These results correspond to previous data, given that cells were stimulated for 24 h with LN and at that time period there is a difference in growth between small and large cells in the absence of added neurotrophins (e.g., Tucker et al, 2005, 2006, 2008; Tucker and Mearow, 2008). This data suggests that Hsp27 is not having a cell population-specific effect.

Figure 42: Expression of High? in adult IBRG represention. DRGs were extracted from adult rats, frozen in liquid nitrogen and sectioned into 10 µm thick sections. DRG normers can be extraported on the basis of their size and the proteins they expressed bind to. Large neurons anis positive for WE300 (AD), while small cells bind the IB4 kerin (B). High?2 expression is not aniform throughout all cells of the DRG (1-7), however the level of expression is not adjorned to the size of the cell, and therefore the category which the cell fails into, both large and multir cells have high and low levels of High?7 (D); S Sate 3 9 m.



Figure 6.3: Neurite growth is affected by different populations of DRG neurons The DRG is made up a hetereoseneous population of cells that can be classified on the basis of cell body diameter and the ability of the cell to bind the lectin IB4. Nonpeptadergic neurons bind the lectin IB4 and have cell bodies with a small diameter and unmyelinated axons (Averill et al., 1995; Ishikawa et al., 2005; Priestley et al., 2002). In order to classify cells that were stained with Hsn27 and Tubulin as small IB4 positive cells the cell bodies of DRG neurons were stained with IB4 and NF200 were traced. It was found that IB4 positive cells all had a smaller diameter than 21µm, and so the traced cells were separated into two populations: cells with a diameter under 21µm and cells with a diameter greater than 21 um. DRG neurons were transfected with Hsp27-siRNA or a control scramble-siRNA, plated on polylysine, allowed to attach overnight then stimulated with soluble laminin for 24 h. Following fixation, neurons were immunostained with antibodies directed against Hsp27 and Tubulin and imaged using confocal microscopy. Neurite initiation and growth were assessed by the tubulin stained cells being individually traced using Image J to obtain cell body size and the length of neurites. Under both control and siRNA conditions the small cells have decreased neurite length compared to that of the large transfected cells. Additionally the large siRNA cells have less growth than large control cells, and the small siRNA cells have less growth than the control small cells. Signifigance was tested using T-test \*p<0.05.



# Figure 6.4: ClustalW alignment of rat and hamster Hsp27

CloatelW alignment of net Heg2T (accession number NM, 0319703.) and humater Heg2T (accession mather X51747). The Hug2T nRNA construct have here individually aligned against the humater and net Hug2T aspectres and an artix indicates the medication that are not complementary between the nRNA construct and the humater sequence. Hug2T domains and phosphorytation sizes have been identified within the sequences, the WDFF domain in catification arrange, the alpha-cystallin in blue and the phosphorytatable seriests indicated in arrow.

## 6.1.2 The role that phosphorylation of Hsp27 plays in neurite growth

I employed nos difficie emotion to exhicit me her ich util Hig27 phonohospitation plays in neutring growth. Initially through phasmacological inhibition of opteneous p31 MANC two aiks the transmittent the phonphosphoritation of relation and a failuration of MMSK2, which acts an an Hig27 kines (kinet et al., 1995; Larene et al., This was howed on the relationshe that p31 MANK activity heats to the phonphospharion and activation of MMSK2, which acts an an Hig27 kines (kinet et al., 1995; Larene et al., 1997). In addition to matumization of Hig27 phonphorpharins, are of 2014 MANK inhibitors resulted in aberrant neurite growth through regulation of the action cytochectma.

To backdate further the noise of 19427 theophysylation in nonzite growth, specifically the mole of individual photophysylation sites in 116927, 1 used matuat 115927 contentists and a constantication model where and fut a DRG successors were transforded with mit specifical 16927-26038-0. In other two investigates the role of phonical constaining either wild type or matated Hammer 116927 proteins levels, as well as a phonoid constaining either wild type or matated Hammer 116927 proteins levels, as well as a specific photophorylation sites 1 used humates 116927 constructs that had the S15 and S00 (corresponds to the S166 nine in religned/hepsthep/lation nines matated to either Alasine (A) or photophorylation sites 1 used humates 116927 constructs that had the S15 and S00 (corresponds to the S166 nine is constructively unprodoporhapted or constructively photophorylation sites request to \$2,531 (start), \$2,532 (start), \$2,552 (start)

ratHsp27	ATGACOASCOLOGISCOLTECTOS TACTOS SASCOLASCISSASCOLATICOS	60
HamsterHsp27	ATGACOSASCOLOGISCOLTECTOS TACTOS SASCOLASCITOS SASCATICOS	60
ratHsp27	GACTGGTACOCTGCCCACAGCOGCCTCTTCGATCAAGCTTTCGGGGTGCCTCGGTTTCCC	120
HansterHsp27	GACTGGTACOCGGCCCACAGCOGCCTCTTCGACCAAGCCTTCGGGGTGCCCCGGCTTGCCG	120
ratEsp27 EassterEsp27 siRSA	GATGAGTGGTCTCAGTGGTTCAGCTCCGCTGGTTGGCCCGGCTATGTGCCCCCTCTGCCC GATGAGTGGTCGCAGTGGTTCAGCGCCGCTGGTTGGCCCCGGCTACGTCGCCCCACTGCCC GAGTGGTCGCAGTGGTTCA	180 180
ratHsp27	GCC0C54CC0CC4605CCC0C465C4CT64CCCT66CC-C05CC6	225
HansterHsp27	GCC0C54CC0CC460554CC0C6555C6CT69CCC769CC769CC6C6CCCC	240
ratHsp27	TTCASCOSSSCCTCAACOSSCAACTCASCASCOSTGTGTCASAGATOOGACAGAOOOC	285
HansterHsp27	TTCCACOSTGOSCTCAACOSSCASCTGASCASCOSGAGTCTOSGAGATOOSSCAGAOOOC	300
ratHsp27 HansterHsp27	CATOSCI DE CONTROLO DE LA CLACITA DE LA CLACITA DE LA CLACITA CALENDA DE LA CLACITA DE	345 360
ratHsp27	ACCAROGAROCOTOGTOGAGETCE/CTOCCAROCE/GARGARAOSCAOGATGARCETOSC	405
HansterHsp27	ACCAROGAROSOCOTOGTOGRAFICE/COSOCAROCE/GARGARAOSCAOGACATGOC	420
ratHsp27 HansterHsp27		465
ratHsp27	GTOTOCTOTTOCOTOTOCOCTOBOGGE ACTOR/COGTOGA/OSCTOCOCTOCOCALA/SCA	525
HansterHsp27	GTOTOCTOTTOCOTOTOCOCTOBOGGE ACTTACOGTOGA/OSCTOCOCTOCOCALA/SCA	540
ratHmp27 HamsterHsp27		585 600
ratHsp27 HamsterHsp27	GOCCAGAGTCOGAACAGTCTGGAGCCAAGTAG 618 GOCCAGGAAGCTGGGAACTCGGAACAGTCTGGAGCCAAGTAG 642	

Figure 45: Blageran of wild type, phosphoryletion mattant, and definite matual hannet Hup27. The WDPF domain is outlined in orange, the alpha exyathin in blage and the phosphoryletable selection indication in green. For the Hup27 phosphorylation matuats, where the series silve has been matted to a suppleophorylatiole alastice, the sile is allow in hows, and shee the series sile has been matted to a galaxing and it is down in hows, and shee the series sile has been matted to a galaxing and ministing constitution subporthering the sile is down in high.
Line Witchest	WDPF domain		alpha-crystallin domain	C-terminal tail
Hsp27 (rat)	Ser 15	Ser 86		
HaHsp27 (hamster)	WDFF domain N Ser 15	Ser 90	alpha-crystallin domain	C-terminal tail
Hsp27-AA	WDPF domain N Ala 15	Ala 90	alpha-crystallin domain	C-terminal tail
Hsp27-EE	WDPF domain N Glu 15	64,90	alpha-crystallin domain	C-terminal tail
Hsp27-AE	WDPF domain N Ala 15	GL 90	alpha-crystallin domain	C-terminal tail
Hsp27-EA	WDPF domain N-Glu 15	Ala 90	alpha-crystallin domain	C-terminal tail
Hsp27-∆(5-23)	N	Ser 90	alpha-crystallin domain	C-terminal tail

as well as the phosphorylation state of the protein, have been shown to be involved in the stability of the uligamentic structure. As previously described and illustrated in Figure 6.6. the phosphorylation states of the Hig-27 mmatt constructs have been reported to influence the oligamentic structure such that now phosphorylated Hig-27 coists preferentially an oligament, but alow of sufficience and monoments, phosphorylation to the 590 site results in the dimensionloss of oligament into dimension and disorder phosphorylation on the 590 site results in the dimensionloss of oligament into dimension and dimension moments (Figure 6.0.).

Typothesized that expression of the constitutively supplexplexipation [14] (3)(9):73-A3) would read in alternary growth similar to transmer with SE02330. The 29-7A-A4 direst alter an alternary drow planning relative to control condition. although this patterning was not as dratically alternart as eshall previously although with SE023500 transmers, and was alter to rease neutric extension to the level of wall by B1492-TA difference in growth patterning between cells to reast with SE0235000 and those expressing Plane27-A4 more that exceeding the level of and and hose expressing Plane27-A4 more that exceeding the level of and althouse personing Plane27-A4 more that exceeding the level of althouse the B1492-TA-A5 variable exceeding the neutric extension and growth planeting to the exact of which types Plane27, fadicating than one way is planetpolycolistion of the S16 size or required for exercise that the physical presence of the phospholycolistion and ADDPF domain is also not required. This also suggests that the ability of H2927 or house the form the oligomere in more required. This also suggests that the ability of H2927 house may be also to form large orders that the more required for exercise proved, but strengt we have a billy of H2927 to reduine the required for exercise proved, but strengt we have a billy of H2927 to reduine the required for exercise proved, but strengt we have a billy of H2927 to reduine the required for exercise proved, but strengt we have a billy of H2927 to reduine the required for exercise proved, but strengt we have a billy of H2927 to reduine the required for the polytic exercise mergen we have a billy of H2927 to reduine the required for the polytic exercise mergen we have a billy of H2927 to reduine the required for the polytic exercise mergen we have a billy of H2927 to reduine the required for the polytic exercise mergen we have a billy of H2927 to reduine the required for the polytic exercise mergen we have a billy of H2927 to reduine the required for the polytic exercise mergen

Figure 6.6: Hsp27 phosphorylation mutants affect oliromerizaton. A. Hsp27 is phosphorylated through the classical stress activated P38MAPK, MAPKap Kinase 2 (MKK2) pathway. In its unphosphorylated state Hsp27 is found as monomers, dimers and additionally is able to form large oligomers. Hsp27 oligomers dissociate into dimers upon phosphorylation of the serine 86 site(serine 90 in hamster) and into monomers upon phosphorylation of the serine 15 site. B. The Hsp27-AA mutant, cannot be phosphorylated, and therefore is preferentially found as large oligomers, and is unable to dissociate into dimers and monomers via phosphorylation in response to MKK2 signaling. C. The Hsp27-EE mutant, contains elutamic acid amino acids in place of its phosphorylatable serines. Glutamic acid has a large negative charge and mimics phosphorylation resulting in Hsp27-EE being preferentially found as monomers. D. Hsn27-AE - mimics Hsn27 that is phsophoylated only on its serine 90 site and forms dimers. E. Hsp27-EA mimics Hsp27 that is phosphorylated at its serine 15 site and is preferentially found as monomers. F. Hsp27-A(5-23) is missing the entire WDPF domain including the serine 15 site. Interactions between the WDPF domain and the acrystallin domain are required for the association of Hsp27 dimers into oligomers, and therefore the deletion mutant will be found as dimers and monomers.



Combining biophophophiation at the S15 site (Hgr2-TEE): Hgr2-TEA) proceeded recease of the siRXA decreased growth. Additionally expression of Hgr2-TW in combinative phophophophiant and the S00 site (Hgr2-TA) such as also resource growth that was significantly genere than that of siRXA show, but significantly less that wild type Hgr2T. These studies indicate that phophophation of either the S15 set S00 sing is inhibitory to require extension, which S15 site having an atom related hubble relatively.

## 6.1.3 The effect of Hsp27 on the cytoskeleton.

As was outlined earlier Hips27 has been found to interact with different cytokeletel elements (Benndorf and Wehh, 2006; Charretter et al., 2000; Evgrafov et al., 2004; Guay et al., 1997; Huot et al., 1996; Lavoie et al., 1993; Lavoie et al., 1995; Perng et al., 1999a). It was primarily interested in its interactions with actin, tubulin and memoflament due to their potential nels in nortie growth.

High? Its been shown to play a role in regulating the actin you's detected of nonmemoral cells through both direct bindings to ucin and indirect signaling encodes brading to ucin binding potential because a strategies and a strategies of the strate and a strategies of the et al., 2006; Mirron et al., 1991; Fichon et al., 2006; Mirrot et al., 2006; Mirrot et al., 2006; Mirrot et al., 2006; Werli et al., 2006; Mirrot et al., 1991; Fichon et al., 2004; Verli et al., 2006; Mirrot et al., 1991; Fichon et al., 2004; Verli et al., 2006; Mirrot et al., 20

Knowing that phosphorylation of Hsp27 had an effect on neurite growth I investigated what affect this had on the actin cytoskeleton. I initially observed that attenuation of Hsp27 phosphorylation via upstream pharmacological inhibition of p38

MAPK resulted in shortnet growth similar to growth sees with cyclochalmin D teratinese. Using a commercially available kit and protocol, I lockand F-sectin and G-sectin fractions from the cells, and advect that the "-section" casting and the section of the sect

These stugiets to determine the effect of the Hey27 Polymbrylation mutaturs on the actin sytukcients. However due to the two transferring efficiency of the mattat constructs it was any productional studies in order to showever any effects on protein signaling or changes in the F-actine G-actin ratio. It was, however, able to observe the colocalization of 7-actin and Hgy27 in the effect merged mumorscychendmings and ell labeling. In these experiments 1-downer that nonphosphosylatable Hgy27 (Hgy27-Ac), displayed a strong colocalization with F-actin in Hispofin and focal contacts in early strages of neurise initiation and growth conso of matter neurines; these results potentially support a faces binding mechanism for action and Hgy27 neurons encosphenologo-topical Hgy27 hists to action to app 6 (Laroic et al., 1993); Fedora et al., 2004). Additionally Hgy27 with a comstitutively phosphosylated \$15 site (Hgy27-EE or Hgy27-EG) diaphysed hage amounts of mumbane proterosismic musclambi highes/EE mounts and the strage amounts of mumbane proterosismic straining highes/Hgy27 (Hgy27-Ac) Additionally Hgy27 with a comstitutively phosphosylated \$15 site (Hgy27-EE or Hgy27-EG) diaphysed hage amounts of mumbane proterosismic straining highes/Hgy27 (Hgy26-Ac) Additionally Hgy27 with a comstitutively phosphosylated \$15 site (Hgy27-EE or Hgy27-EG) diaphysed hage amounts of mumbane proterosismic straining highes/Hgy27 (Hgy26-Ac) Additionally Hgy27 with a comstitutively phosphosylated \$15 site (Hgy27-EE or Hgy27-EG) diaphysed hage amounts of mumbane proterosismic straining highes/Hgy27 (Hgy26-Ac) Additionally Hgy27 with a comstitutively phosphosylated \$15 site (Hgy27-EE or Hgy27-EG) diaphysed hage amounts of mumbane proterosismic straining highes/Hgy27 (Hgy27-Ac) highes/Hgy27 with a comstitutively phosphosylated \$15 site (Hgy27-EE or Hgy27-EG) diaphysed hage amounts of mumbane highes/Hgy27 with a comstitutively phosphosylated \$15 site (Hgy27-EE or Hgy27-EG) diaphysed hage amounts of mumbane highes/Hgy27 with

shafts of mature neurites. Although the amount of protrusion was not quantified, its presence may explain why Hsp27-EE and Hsp27-EA expressing cells have lower neurite extension than cells expressing HaHsp27. Cells transfected with Hsp27-AE display lower amounts of F-actin than cells expressing Hsp27 wild type and or the other mutants. One possible explanation is that phosphorylation of S15 may be involved in stabilizing the actin cytoskeleton (nossibly by increasing filament levels and preventing their degradation), while phosphorylation at the S90 site may be involved in destabilizing the actin cytoskeleton, and that the involvement of the S15 site overpowers that of the S90 site, such that where there is phosphorylation of both sites (Hsp27-EE) the stabilizing function overpowers the destabilizing function. Stabilization of the F-actin cytoskeleton results in an increase in F-actin and membrane protrusion, that is necessary for neurite initiation and growth. It is possible that the different phosphorylation sites act through different mechanisms, and that this has not yet been observed because the availability of phosphorylation specific antibodies has been poor until recently. However, overall, these results support my hypothesis that Hsp27 is involved in neurite growth via regulation of the actin cytoskeleton.

Although a direct interaction between Hip27 and actin has been reported 1 was unable to observe any direct interaction though biochemical techniques. 1 employed the following techniques without any success: immunoperceptitation of both Hip27 and actin, GST- pull down using a GST\_Hip27 construct, or treatment of cells with gluteralddyde (for preticin corollation) and subsequent immunoperceptitation (data net down). These results might indicate that if there is a direct interaction between Hsp27 and actin in neurons that it is transient and/or not very strong,

I wai koi intervisti in whether Hig2? Interactict with hublin in the resorm, and although initial colocalization studies suggested that Hig2? colocalized with hublin in the resorad processes throughout the stages of owner lisification and growth. We say table to find any further support for the interactions between Hig2? and hublin using the Hig2? protein deduces. When Hig2? Location was altered by Hig2? altXA induced Hig2? protein deduces within the cell appendix or norms instanting. Additionally depletion of Hig2? protein keels did not affect the level of post-transmission and additionally depletion of Hig2? protein keels did not affect the level of post-transmission. Additionally depletion of Hig2? protein keels did not affect the level of post-transmission. Additionally depletion of Hig2? protein keels did not affect the level of post-transmission. Additionally depletion of Hig2? protein keels did not affect the level of post-transmission. Additionally depletion tabilin its cellization of the Hig2? as an attee tabiling and hummergeneiphation to Hig2? as sum alter balar theorem hub mutical data to ensol.

Studies have above interactions between High? and NF-4, with recent developments suggesting a role for High? in NF-4, stabilization (Ackerby et al., 2006; Uprafror et al., 2007; Barl et al., 2007). All prafrom a strangesting of the praprotein by uiRNA did not significantly also YR-1, protein expression with the DRG nervors, and additionally did not atter he ability of NR-1, to blad to itself or NR-200 (Figure 6.2). These results suggest that High? in a treparding for formation of the monthlaneut structures in sensetis initiation and growth in DRG cancers.

## Figure 6.7: Immunoprecipitation of Hsp27, NF-L and NF-200.

Neurons were transfected with either control or Hsp27 siRNA, plated in 12 well plates coated with PL, allowed to fix overnight and stimulated with soluble LN, 24 h after LN stimulation protein was collected and protein levels were quantified by BCA protein assay, and subjected to Immunoprecipitation. Briefly, 100 ug of protein were pre-cleared by being incubated with 30 µL of agarose A and G beads. The supernatant was washed with pre-lysis buffer and incubated with 5 uL of antibody for 6 h. Three antibodies were used Hsp27, NF+L, and NF+200. After 6 h. 30 µL of agarose A/G heads was added and the mix was rotated at 4°C overnight (~16 h). The supernatant was removed and discarded and the pellets were washed with lysis buffer. The remaining pellet was boiled with loading buffer and subjected to SDS PAGE, and immunoblotting along with a samples of the protein used for the immunoprecipitation. The control protein showed that Hsp27 protein levels were decreased under the Hsp27-siRNA condition, and that NE-L and NF-200 protein levels were unaffected by the Hsp27-siRNA. Immunoprecipitation with the Hsp27 antibody was unable to pull down any visible amount of Hsp27 under siRNA conditions, but was able to pull down Hsp27 in control conditions. The Hsp27 antibody was unable to co-immunoprecipitate NF-L or NF-200. Under both the siRNA and control conditions the NF+L antibody, pulled down NF+L and NF+200 protein. Conversely the NF-200 antibody pulled down the NF-200 and NF-L protein under both siRNA and control conditions as well. This indicates that Hsp27 does not have strong interactions with NE-L or NE-200. Additionally depletion of Her/27 protein by siRNA does not affect the ability of NF-L and NF-200 to interact.



## 6.2 Future Directions

Although I have demonstrated that Hsp27 plays a role in neurite initiation and growth, and that this is dependent on the level of Hsp27 and its phosphorylation state, many questions still remain on the mechanisms behind these effects. I will briefly discussifie lines of work that I see as being important to advance this area.

(1) I have shown that Hsp27 plays a role in neurite initiation and growth that appears to be via regulation of the actin cytoskeleton. I have suggested that some of these interactions may be through indirect signaling pathways, as well as though the ability of Hsp27 to bind directly to actin. My data from upstream pharmacological inhibition of Hsp27 phosphorylation suggests that Hsp27 phosphorylation affects actin dynamics through an indirect signaling pathway. In order to understand fully the mechanisms behind the effect of Hsp27 on neurite growth, the signaling pathways that are involved in this process must be elucidated. These pathways may be studied by western blotting of cells transfected with Hsp27 phosphorylation mutants, although in order for this technique to be effective transfection efficiencies of the mutant constructs must be improved. Transfection of the plasmid (pIRES2-EGFP) containing the Hsp27 phosphorylation mutants into DRG neurons using the AMAXA nucleoporation system gives a range of transfection efficiencies, with the majority of the mutants having a transfection efficiency of less than 20%. A recent modification of the AMAXA system which allows for small cell numbers to be transfected, as well as a more robust EGFP-IRES construct appears to result in higher efficiencies. In addition, a more efficient

transfection mechanism, such as use of a lentivirus, would permit the effect of Hsp27 phospherylation on signalling intermediates to be studied. Additionally better transfection efficiencies would permit the use of a commercial kit to identify an impact on F-actin / G actin ratios.

(2) The taskin in obspired 'demonstrate the importance of phosphospharkinon of particular Hpp27 phosphospharkino site in neuring growth. Further analysis of the role that individual sites are ploying in this process could be isolatified with the use of nigher phosphospharkinon site matrixinon (SA, AS, SE, ISA). Such studies would also benefit from the knowledge of whether different signaling pathways are responsible for the phosphospharkinon (Targe and Targe and Targe

(d) Station using the Hp27 photophory lation matatas in chapter 4, suggest that Hp27 photophory lation afters neurine growth via regulation of the next the systekates. If this interaction is take to Hp27 having an effect on the abilitytican of estabilization of the next interesting study would be whether treatment of the cells with comparation to promote or inhibit act in polymerization, ends as a japakiaolise - end photophory lation of the cells in the cell study of the cells of the photophory lation of the cells in the cells of the cells of

(4) Hig-27 is known to interact directly with actin filaments in non-neuronal cells, although 1 was unneccentiful using biochemical pull-down techniques to see an interaction between Hig-27 and acting is in possible that are involuentingue most RFLT could be used to see interactions between Hig-27, actin and possibly other sytualcelatal elements. -Such a technique would allow for the location of such interactions to be maded and would anist in deciding the role of Hig-27 more groups.

(8) Munitom II Hp27 have been identified in CVIT and HBN0, one of which is involved in stabilization of the NFL network (Zhai et al., 2007). Additionally coerepression of which yes (Hp27 and munitat (CVIN DYL Gamistice the arguegation of the mattart NFL. These studies further explain the role for Hp27 with systeakedal proteins other than actin in moring growth processes. The present study clearly demonstrates the importance of Hp27 protein levels and phospherylation state in neuring protth processes. It seems it for study of Hp27 mit his process has only in the kpara and it is hoped that experiments presented in this thesis can provide a basis for familier understanding the strenctions of Hp27 with actin, as well as the process of searche institution and growth.

## References

Ackerley, S., Grierson, A.J., Banner, S., Perkinton, M.S., Brownlees, J., Byers, H.L., Ward, M., Thornhill, P., Hussain, K., Waby, J.S., et al. (2004). p38alpha stress-activated protein kinase phosphorylates neurofilaments and is associated with neurofilament pathology in amyotrophic lateral sciencei. Mol Cell Neurosci 26, 354-364.

Ackerley, S., James, P.A., Kalli, A., French, S., Davies, K.E., and Talbot, K. (2006). A mutation in the small heat-shock protein HSPB1 leading to distal hereditary motor neuronopathy disrupts neurofilament assembly and the axonal transport of specific cellular cargoes. Hum Mol Genet 15, 347-354.

Ackerley, S., Thornhill, P., Grierson, A.J., Brownlees, J., Anderton, B.H., Leigh, P.N., Shaw, C.E., and Miller, C.C. (2003). Neurofilament heavy chain side arm phosphorylation regulates axonal transport of neurofilaments. J Cell Biol 1521. 489-495.

Aletta, J.M., Angeletti, R., Liem, R.K., Purcell, C., Shelanski, M.L., and Greene, L.A. (1988). Relationship between the nerve growth factor-regulated clone 73 gene product and the 58kilodalton neuronal intermediate filument protein (peripherin). J Neurochem 51, 1317-1320.

Aletta, J.M., and Greene, L.A. (1988). Growth cone configuration and advance: a time-lapse study using video-enhanced differential interference contrast microscopy. J Neurosci 8, 1425-1435.

Aletta, J.M., Shelanski, M.L., and Greene, L.A. (1989). Phosphorylation of the peripherin 58-kDa neuronal intermediate filament protein. Regulation by nerve growth factor and other agents. J Biol Chem 264, 64519-627.

Amano, M., Chihara, K., Kimura, K., Fukata, Y., Nakamura, N., Matsuura, Y., and Kaibuchi, K. (1997). Formation of actin stress fibers and focal adhesions enhanced by Rho-kinase. Science 275. 1308-1311.

Amaratunga, A., Morin, P.J., Kosik, K.S., and Fine, R.E. (1993). Inhibition of kinesin synthesis and rapid anterograde axonal transport in vivo by an antisense oligonucleotide. J Biol Chem 268, 17427-17430.

Amos, I.A. (2000). Focusing-in on microtubules. Curr Opin Struct Biol 10, 236-241.

An, S.S., Fabry, B., Mellema, M., Bursac, P., Gerthoffer, W.T., Kayyali, U.S., Gaestel, M., Shore, S.A., and Fredberg, J.J. (2004). Role of heat shock protein 27 in cytoskeletal remodeling of the airway smooth muscle cell. J Appl Physiol 96, 1701-1713.

Aquino, D.A., Padin, C., Perez, J.M., Peng, D., Lyman, W.D., and Chix, F.C. (1996). Analysis of glad fibrillary acidic protein, neurofilament protein, actin and heat shock proteins in human fetal brain during the second trimester. Brain Res Dee Brain Res 9J, 3-10. Arrigo, A.P. (2007). The cellular "networking" of mammalian Hsp27 and its functions in the control of protein folding, redox state and apoptosis. Adv Exp Med Biol 594, 14-26.

Arrigo, A.P., Firdsus, W.J., Mellier, G., Moulin, M., Paul, C., Diaz-Latoud, C., and Kretz-Remy, C. (2005). Cytotoxic effects induced by oxidative stress in cultured mammalian cells and protection provided by Hisp2T expression. Methods 35, 126–138.

Averill, S., McMahon, S.B., Clary, D.O., Reichardt, L.F., and Priestley, J.V. (1995). Immunocytochemical localization of trik receptors in chemically identified subgroups of adult rat sensory neurons. Eur J Neurosci 7, 1486–1494.

Bamburg, J.R., McGough, A., and Ono, S. (1999). Putting a new twist on actin: ADF/cofilins modulate actin dynamics. Trends Cell Biol 9, 364-370.

Bard, L., Boscher, C., Lambert, M., Mege, R.M., Choquet, D., and Thoumine, D. (2008). A molecular clutch between the actin flow and N-cadherin adhesions drives growth cone migration. J Neurosci 28, 5879–5890.

Baum, P.D., and Garriga, G. (1997). Neuronal migrations and axon fasciculation are disrupted in ina-1 integrin mutants. Neuron 19, 51-62.

Bausero, M.A., Bharti, A., Page, D.T., Perez, K.D., Eng, J.W., Ordonez, S.L., Aoea, E.E., Jantschitsch, C., Kindas-Mungge, L, Ciocca, D., and Asea, A. (2006). Silencing the hsp25 gene eliminates migration capability of the highly metastatic murine 4T1 breast adenocarcinoma cell. Tumour Biol 27, 17-26.

Bear, J.E., Svitkina, T.M., Krause, M., Schafer, D.A., Loureiro, J.J., Strasser, G.A., Maly, I.V., Chaga, O.Y., Cooper, J.A., Borioy, G.G., and Gertler, F.B. (2002). Antagonism between Ena/VASP proteins and actin filtment capping regulates fibroblast molility. Cell 205, 509-521.

Belmont, L., Mitchison, T., and Deacon, H.W. (1996). Catastrophic revelations about Op18/stathmin. Trends Biochem Sci 21, 197-198.

Benn, S.C., Perrelet, D., Kato, A.C., Scholz, J., Decosterd, I., Mannion, R.J., Bakowska, J.C., and Woolf, C.J. (2002). Hsp27 upregulation and phosphorylation is required for injured sensory and motor neuron survival. Neuron 35, 45-56.

Benndorf, R., Hayess, K., Ryazantsev, S., Wieske, M., Behike, J., and Lutsch, G. (1994). Phosphorylation and supramolecular organization of murine small heat shock protein HSP25 abolish its action polymerization-inhibiting activity. J Biol Chem 259, 20780.

Benndorf, R., and Welsh, M.J. (2004). Shocking degeneration. Nat Genet 36: 547-548.

Bennett, D.L., Michael, G.J., Ramachandran, N., Munson, J.B., Averill, S., Yan, Q., McMahon, S.B., and Priestley, J.V. (1998). A distinct subgroup of small DRG cells express GDNF recentor components and GDNF is protective for these neurons after nerve injury. J Neurosci 18, 3059-3072.

Bennett, V., and Baines, A.J. (2001). Spectrin and ankyrin-based pathways: metazoan inventions for integrating cells into tissues. Physiol Rev 81, 1353-1392.

Bitar, K.N., Ibitayo, A., and Patil, S.B. (2002). HSP27 modulates agonist-induced association of translocated RhoA and PKC-aloha in muscle cells of the colon. J Apol Physiol 92, 41-49.

Bitar, K.N., Kaminski, M.S., Hailat, N., Cease, K.B., and Strahler, J.R. (1991). Hsp27 is a mediator of sustained smooth muscle contraction in response to bombesin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 181, 1192-1200.

Bohil, A.B., Robertson, B.W., and Cheney, R.E. (2006). Myosin-X is a molecular motor that functions in filopodia formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103, 12411-12416.

Bova, M.P., McHaourab, H.S., Han, Y., and Fung, B.K. (2000). Subunit exchange of small heat shock proteins. Analysis of oligomer formation of alphaA-crystallin and hisp27 br fluorescence resonance energy transfer and iste-directed truncations. I Biol Chem 275, 1035-1042.

Bova, M.P., Yaron, O., Huang, Q., Ding, L., Haley, D.A., Stewart, P.L., and Horwitz, J. (1999). Mutation R120G in alphaBi-crystallin, which is linked to a desmin-related myopathy, results in an irregular structure and defective chaperone-like function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 6137-6142.

Bradke, F., and Dotti, C.G. (1999). The role of local actin instability in axon formation. Science 283, 1931-1934.

Bray, D., and Chapman, K. (1985). Analysis of microspike movements on the neuronal growth cone. J Neurosci 5, 3204-3213.

Brophy, C.M., Woodrum, D., Dickinson, M., and Beall, A. (1998). Thrombin activates MAPKAP2 kinase in vascular smooth muscle. J Vasc Sunz 27, 963-969.

Brose, K., and Tessier-Lavigne, M. (2000). Slit proteins: key regulators of axon guidance, axonal branching, and cell migration. Curr Opin Neurobiol 10, 95-102.

Brown, A., Li, Y., Slaughter, T., and Black, M.M. (1993). Composite microtubules of the axon: quantitative analysis of tyrosinated and acetylated tubulin along individual axonal microtubules. J Cell Sci J 40, Pz 23.339–352.

Bruey, J.M., Ducasse, C., Bonniaud, P., Ravagnan, L., Susin, S.A., Diaz-Latoud, C., Gurbuxani, S., Arrigo, A.P., Kroemer, G., Solary, E., and Garrido, C. (2000a). Hsp27 negatively regulates cell death by interacting with cyclochrome c. Nat Cell Biol 2, 454 552. Bruey, J.M., Paul, C., Fromentin, A., Hilpert, S., Arrigo, A.P., Solary, E., and Garrido, C. (2000b). Differential regulation of HSP27 oligomerization in tumor cells grown in vitro and in vivo. Oncogene 19, 4455-4465.

Bubb, M.R., Senderowicz, A.M., Sausville, E.A., Duncan, K.L., and Korn, E.D. (1994). Jasplakinolide, a cytotoxic natural product, induces actin polymerization and competitively inhibits the binding of phalloidin to F-actin. J Biol Ohem 209, 14869-14871.

Bulinski, J.C. (2007). Microtubule modification: acetylation speeds anterograde traffic flow. Curr Biol J7, R18-20.

Butt, E., Immler, D., Meyer, H.E., Kotlyarov, A., Laass, K., and Gaestel, M. (2001). Heat shock protein 27 is a substrate of cGMP-dependent protein kinase in intact human platelets: phosphorylation-induced actin polymerization caused by HSP27 mutants. J Biol Chem 276, 7108-713.

Cafferty, W.B., Yang, S.H., Duffy, P.J., Li, S., and Strittmatter, S.M. (2007). Functional axonal regeneration through astrocytic scar genetically modified to digest chondroitin sulfate proteoplycans. J Neurosci 27, 2176-2185.

Cai, D., Qiu, J., Cao, Z., McAtee, M., Bregman, B.S., and Filbin, M.T. (2001). Neuronal cyclic AMP controls the developmental loss in ability of axons to regenerate. J Neurosci 21, 4731-4739.

Cajal, S.R.y. (1890). A quelle epoque apparaissent les expansions des cellulas nerveuses de la moelle epiniere du poulet? Anatomomischer Anzeiger 21-22, 609-639.

Caial, S.R.y. (1928). Degeneration and regeneration of the nervous system. Hafner, New York,

Calderwood, S.K., and Ciocca, D.R. (2008). Heat shock proteins: stress proteins with Janus-like properties in cancer. Int J Hyperthermia 24, 31-39.

Cao, Z., Gao, Y., Bryson, J.B., Hou, J., Chaudhry, N., Siddig, M., Martinez, J., Spencer, T., Carmel, J., Hart, R.B., and Filbin, M.T. (2006). The cytokine interflexikin-6 is sufficient but not necessary to iminic the peripheral conditioning lesion effect on axonal growth. J Neurosci 26, 5565-5573.

Carper, S.W., Rocheleau, T.A., Cimino, D., and Storm, F.K. (1997). Heat shock protein 27 stimulates recovery of RNA and protein synthesis following a heat shock. J Cell Biochem 66, 153-164.

Charette, S.J., Lavoie, J.N., Lambert, H., and Landry, J. (2000). Inhibition of Daxx-mediated apoptosis by heat shock protein 27. Mol Cell Biol 20, 7602-7612.

Chavez Zobel, A.T., Lambert, H., Theriault, J.R., and Landry, J. (2005). Structural instability caused by a mutation at a conserved arginine in the alpha-crystallin domain of Chinese hamster heat shock protein 27. Cell Stress Chaperones 10, 157–166. Chavez Zobel, A.T., Loranger, A., Marceau, N., Theriault, J.R., Lambert, H., and Landry, J. (2003). Distinct chaperone mechanisms can delay the formation of aggregomes by the myopathycausing R1200 alphaB-crystalin motant. Hum Mol Genet 22, 1609-1620.

Chen, J., Kanai, Y., Cowan, N.J., and Hirokawa, N. (1992). Projection domains of MAP2 and tau determine spacings between microtubules in dendrites and axons. Nature 360, 674-677.

Chen, M.S., Huber, A.B., van der Haar, M.E., Frank, M., Schnell, L., Spillmann, A.A., Christ, F., and Schwah, M.E. (2000). Nogo-A is a myelin-associated neurite outgrowth inhibitor and an antigen for monocional antibody IN-1. Nature 403, s34-839.

Choo, Q.L., and Bray, D. (1978). Two forms of neuronal actin. J Neurochem 31, 217-224.

Clark, E.A., and Brugge, J.S. [1995]. Integrins and signal transduction pathways: the road taken. Science 268, 233-239.

Cochard, P., and Paulin, D. (1984). Initial expression of neurofilaments and vimentin in the central and peripheral nervous system of the mouse embryo in vivo. J Neurosci 4, 2080-2094.

Cohan, C.S., Welnhofer, E.A., Zhao, L., Matsumura, F., and Yamashiro, S. (2001). Role of the actin bundling protein fascin in growth cone morphogenesis: localization in filopodia and lamellipodia. Cell Moti Cytokeletion 48, 109-120.

Concannon, C.G., Gorman, A.M., and Samali, A. (2003). On the role of Hsp27 in regulating apoptosis. Apoptosis 8, 61-70.

Cooper, J.A. (1987). Effects of cytochalasin and phalloidin on actin. J Cell Biol 205, 1473-1478.

Cooper, J.A., Buhke, E.L., Jr., Walker, S.B., Tsong, T.Y., and Pollard, T.D. (1983). Kinetic evidence for a monomer activation step in actin polymerization. Biochemistry 22, 2193-2202.

Cooper, J.A., and Sept, D. (2008). New insights into mechanism and regulation of actin capping protein. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 267, 183-206.

Costigan, M., Mannion, R.J., Kendall, G., Lewis, S.E., Campagna, J.A., Coggeshall, R.E., Meridith-Middleton, J., Tate, S., and Woolf, C.J. (1998). Heat shock protein 27: developmental regulation and expression after peripheral nerve injury. J Neurosci 38, S891-5900.

Coullard-Despres, S., Zhu, Q., Wong, P.C., Price, D.L., Cleveland, D.W., and Julien, J.P. (1998). Protective effect of neurofilament heavy gene overexpression in motor neuron disease induced by mutant useroxide dismata. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S 45: 9526 9530.

Cuesta, R., Laroia, G., and Schneider, R.J. (2000). Chaperone hsp27 inhibits translation during heat shock by binding elf-4G and facilitating dissociation of cap-initiation complexes. Genes Dev 14. 1460-1470. Cunningham, C.C., Stossel, T.P., and Kwiatkowski, D.J. (1991). Enhanced motility in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts that overexpress gelsolin. Science 251, 1233-1236.

da Silva, J.S., and Dotti, C.G. (2002). Breaking the neuronal sphere: regulation of the actin cytoskeleton in neuritogenesis. Nat Rev Neurosci 3, 694-704.

Dai, C., Whitesell, L., Rogers, A.B., and Lindquist, S. (2007). Heat shock factor 1 is a powerful multifaceted modifier of carcinogenesis. Cell 130, 1005–1018.

Dancker, P., Low, I., Hasselbach, W., and Wieland, T. (1975). Interaction of actin with phalloidin: polymerization and stabilization of F-actin. Biochim Biophys Acta 400, 407-414.

de Grazuw, M., Tijdens, I., Cramer, R., Corless, S., Timms, J.F., and van de Water, B. (2005). Heat shock protein 27 is the major differentially phosphorylated protein involved in renal epithelial cellular stress response and controls focal adhesion organization and apoptosis. J Biol Chem 280, 29885-2989.

de Waegh, S.M., Lee, V.M., and Brady, S.T. (1992). Local modulation of neurofilament phosphorylation, axonal caliber, and slow axonal transport by myelinating Schwann cells. Cell 68, 451-463.

Dedova, I.V., Nikolaeva, O.P., Safer, D., De La Cruz, E.M., and dos Remedios, C.G. (2005). Thymosin beta4 induces a conformational change in actin monomers. Biophys J 90, 985-992.

Dehmelt, L., and Halpain, S. (2004). Actin and microtubules in neurite initiation: are MAPs the missing link? J Neurobiol 58, 18-33.

Dehmelt, L., and Halpain, S. (2005). The MAP2/Tau family of microtubule-associated proteins. Genome Biol 6. 204.

Dehmelt, L., Smart, F.M., Ozer, R.S., and Halpain, S. (2003). The role of microtubule-associated protein 2c in the reorganization of microtubules and lamellipodia during neurite initiation. J Neurosci 23: 3479-9490.

Dent, E.W., and Gertler, F.B. (2003). Cytoskeletal dynamics and transport in growth cone motility and axon guidance. Neuron 40, 209-227.

Dent, E.W., and Kalil, K. (2001). Axon branching requires interactions between dynamic microtubules and actin filaments. J Neurosci 21, 9757-9769.

Dent, E.W., Kwiatkowski, A.V., Mebane, L.M., Philippar, U., Barzik, M., Rubinson, D.A., Gupton, S., Van Veen, J.E., Furman, C., Zhang, J., et al. (2007). Filopodia are required for cortical neurite initiation. Nat Cell Biol 9, 3147-1359.

Dent, E.W., Tang, F., and Kalil, K. (2003). Axon guidance by growth cones and branches: common cytoskeletal and signaling mechanisms. Neuroscientist 9, 343-353. Der Perng, M., and Quinlan, R.A. (2004). Neuronal diseases: small heat shock proteins calm your nerves. Curr Biol 14, R625-626.

Desai, A., and Mitchison, T.J. (1997). Microtubule polymerization dynamics. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 13, 83-117.

Devor, M. (1999). Unexplained peculiarities of the dorsal root ganglion. Pain Suppl 6, S27-35.

Dodge, M.E., Wang, J., Guy, C., Rankin, S., Rahimtula, M., and Mearow, K.M. (2006). Stressinduced heat shock protein 27 expression and its role in dorsal root ganglion neuronal survival. Brain Res 1068, 34-48.

Dompierre, J.P., Godin, J.D., Charrin, B.C., Cordelieres, F.P., King, S.J., Humbert, S., and Saudou, F. (2007). Histone deacetylase 6 inhibition compensates for the transport deficit in Huntington's disease by increasing tubulin acetylation. J Neurosci 22, 3571-3583.

Dong, D.L., Xu, Z.S., Chevrier, M.R., Cotter, R.J., Cleveland, D.W., and Hart, G.W. (1993). Glycosylation of mammalian neurofilaments. Localization of multiple O-linked Nacetylglucosamine moieties on neurofilament polypeptides L and M. J Biol Chem 268, 16679-16687.

Doppler, H., Storz, P., U, J., Comb, M.J., and Toker, A. (2005). A phosphorylation state-specific antibody recognizes Hsp27, a novel substrate of protein kinase D. J Biol Chem 280, 15013-10019.

Doshi, B.M., Hightower, L.E., and Lee, J. (2009). The role of Hsp27 and actin in the regulation of movement in human cancer cells responding to heat shock. Cell Stress Chaperones 14, 445-457.

During, R.L., Gibson, B.G., Li, W., Bishai, E.A., Sidhu, G.S., Landry, J., and Southwick, F.S. (2007). Anthrax lethal toxin paralyzes actin-based motifity by blocking Hsp27 phosphorylation. EMBO J 26, 2260-2250.

Ehrnsperger, M., Graber, S., Gaestel, M., and Buchner, J. (1997). Binding of non-native protein to Hsp25 during heat shock creates a reservoir of folding intermediates for reactivation. EMBO J 16, 221-229.

Ellezam, B., Dubreuil, C., Winton, M., Loy, L., Dergham, P., Selles-Navarro, I., and McKerracher, L. (2002). Inactivation of Intracellular Rho to stimulate axon growth and regeneration. Prog Brain Res 137, 371-380.

Ellis, J. (1987). Proteins as molecular chaperones. Nature 328, 378-379.

Erck, C., Peris, L., Andrieux, A., Meissirel, C., Gruber, A.D., Vernet, M., Schweitzer, A., Saoudi, Y., Pointu, H., Bosc, C., et al. (2005). A vital role of tubulin-tyrosine-ligase for neuronal organization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 7853-7858. Erturk, A., Hellal, F., Enes, J., and Bradke, F. (2007). Disorganized microtubules underlie the formation of retraction bulbs and the failure of axonal rezeneration. J Neurosci 27, 9169-9180.

Etienne-Manneville, S., and Hall, A. (2002). Rho GTPases in cell biology. Nature 420, 629-635.

Etienne-Manneville, S., Manneville, J.B., Nicholis, S., Ferenczi, M.A., and Hall, A. (2005). Cdc42 and Parf-PKCzeta regulate the spatially localized association of Dig1 and APC to control cell polarization. J Cell Biol 170, 895-901.

Evgrafov, O.V., Mersiyanova, I., Irobi, J., Van Den Bosch, L., Dierick, I., Leung, C.L., Schagina, D., Verpoorten, N., Van Impe, K., Fedotov, V., et al. (2004). Mutant small heat-shock protein 27 causes axonal Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease and distal hereditary motor neuropathy. Nat Genet 36, 602-606.

Fenrich, K., and Gordon, T. (2004). Canadian Association of Neuroscience review: axonal regeneration in the peripheral and central nervous systems--current issues and advances. Can J Neurol Sci 32, 142-156.

Firdaus, W.J., Wyttenbach, A., Diaz-Latoud, C., Currie, R.W., and Arrigo, A.P. (2006). Analysis of oxidative events induced by expanded polygistamine huntingtin exon 1 that are differentially restored by expression of heat shock proteins or treatment with an antioxidant. FEBS J 273, 3076-3093.

Fiumelli, H., Riederer, I.M., Martin, J.L., and Riederer, B.M. (2008). Phosphorylation of neurofilament subunit NF-M is regulated by activation of NMDA receptors and modulates cytoskeleton stability and neuronal shape. Cell MotEl Cytoskeleton 65, 405-504.

Fragoso, G., Robertson, J., Ahhan, E., Tam, E., Almazan, G., and Mushynski, W.E. (2003). Inhibition of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase interferes with cell shape changes and gene expression associated with Schwann cell myelination. Exp Neurol 183, 34–46.

Franklin, T.B., Krueger-Naug, A.M., Clarke, D.B., Arrigo, A.P., and Currie, R.W. (2005). The role of heat shock proteins Hsp70 and Hsp27 in cellular protection of the central nervous system. Int J Hyperthermia 21, 379-932.

Frieden, C. (1983). Polymerization of actin: mechanism of the Mg2+-induced process at pH 8 and 20 degrees C. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80, 6513-6517.

Fu, S.Y., and Gordon, T. (1997). The cellular and molecular basis of peripheral nerve regeneration. Mol Neurobiol 14, 67-116.

Gaestel, M. (2006). MAPKAP kinases - MKs - two's company, three's a crowd. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 7, 120-130.

Galbraith, C.G., Yamada, K.M., and Galbraith, J.A. (2007). Polymerizing actin fibers position integrins primed to probe for adhesion sites. Science 315, 992-995. Galjart, N. (2005). CUPs and CLASPs and cellular dynamics. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6, 487-498.

Gallo, G., and Letourneau, P.C. (2004). Regulation of growth cone actin filaments by guidance cues. J Neurobiol 58, 92-102.

Gallo, G., Yee, H.F., Ir., and Letourneau, P.C. (2002). Actin turnover is required to prevent axon retraction driven by endogenous actomyosin contractility. J Cell Biol 158, 1219-1228.

Galtrey, C.M., and Fawcett, J.W. (2007). The role of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans in regeneration and plasticity in the central nervous system. Brain Res Rev 54, 1-18.

Garcia, M.L., Lobsiger, C.S., Shah, S.B., Deerinck, T.J., Crum, J., Young, D., Ward, C.M., Crawford, T.O., Gotow, T., Uchiyama, Y., et al. (2003). NF-M is an essential target for the myelin-directed "outside-in" signaling: acsacced that mediates radial association growth. J. Cell Biol 163, 1011-1020.

Garrido, C., Bruey, J.M., Fromentin, A., Hammann, A., Arrigo, A.P., and Solary, E. (1999). HSP27 inhibits cytochrome c-dependent activation of procaspase-9. FASEB J 13, 2061-2070.

Gavazzi, L, Kumar, R.D., McMahon, S.B., and Cohen, J. (1999). Growth responses of different subpopulations of adult sensory neurons to neurotrophic factors in vitro. Eur J Neurosci 11, 3405-3414.

Gehler, S., Shaw, A.E., Sarmiere, P.D., Bamburg, J.R., and Letourneau, P.C. (2004). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor regulation of retinal growth cone filopodial dynamics is mediated through actin depolymeriting factor/coffin. J Neurosci 24, 10741-10749.

Gerthoffer, W.T., and Gunst, S.J. (2001). Invited review: focal adhesion and small heat shock proteins in the regulation of actin remodeling and contractility in smooth muscle. J Appl Physiol 91, 963-972.

Giancotti, F.G. (2003). A structural view of integrin activation and signaling. Dev Cell 4, 149-151.

Giancotti, F.G., and Ruoslahti, E. (1999). Integrin signaling. Science 285, 1028-1032.

Giancotti, F.G., and Tarone, G. (2003). Positional control of cell fate through joint integrin/receptor protein kinase signaling. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 19, 173-205.

Glass, J.R., DeWitt, R.G., and Cress, A.E. (1985). Rapid loss of stress fibers in Chinese hamster ovary cells after hyperthermia. Cancer Res 45, 258-262.

Godsel, L.M., Hobbs, R.P., and Green, K.J. (2008). Intermediate filament assembly: dynamics to disease. Trends Cell Biol 18, 28-37.

Goldberg, D.J., and Burmeister, D.W. (1986). Stages in axon formation: observations of growth of Aphysia axons in culture using video-enhanced contrast-differential interference contrast microscopy. J Cell Biol 103. 1921-1931. Goode, B.L., and Eck, M.J. (2007). Mechanism and function of formins in the control of actin assembly. Annu Rev Biochem 76, 593-627.

Goold, R.G., and Gordon-Weeks, P.R. (2005). The MAP kinase pathway is upstream of the activation of GSK3beta that enables it to phosphorylate MAP1B and contributes to the stimulation of axon growth. Mol Cell Neurosci 28, 524-534.

Gordon-Weeks, P.R. (2004). Actin dynamics: re-drawing the map. Nat Cell Biol 6, 390-391.

GrandPre, T., Nakamura, F., Vartanian, T., and Strittmatter, S.M. (2000). Identification of the Nogo inhibitor of axon regeneration as a Reticulon protein. Nature 403, 439-444.

Grenklo, S., Johansson, T., Bertilson, L., and Karlsson, R. (2004). Anti-actin antibodies generated against profilm:actin distinguish between non-filamentous and filamentous actin, and label collured cells in a dotted pattern. Eur J Cell Biol 83, 413–423.

Grimpe, B., and Silver, J. (2002). The extracellular matrix in axon regeneration. Prog Brain Res 137, 333-349.

Guay, J., Lambert, H., Gingras-Breton, G., Lavoie, J.N., Huot, J., and Landry, J. (1997). Regulation of actin filament dynamics by p38 map kinase-mediated phosphorylation of heat shock protein 27. J Cell Sci 10 (19.3), 357-368.

Guo, W., and Giancotti, F.G. (2004). Integrin signalling during tumour progression. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5, 816-826.

Guzik, B.W., and Goldstein, L.S. (2004). Microtubule-dependent transport in neurons: steps towards an understanding of regulation, function and dysfunction. Curr Opin Cell Biol 26, 443-450.

Hall, A. (1998). Rho GTPases and the actin cytoskeleton. Science 279, 509-514.

Hammond, J.W., Cal, D., and Verhey, K.J. (2008). Tubulin modifications and their cellular functions. Curr Opin Cell Biol 20, 71-76.

Hargis, M. T., Storck, C.W., Wickstrom, E., Yakubov, L.A., Leeper, D.B., and Coss, R.A. (2004). Hsp27 anti-sense eligonucleotides sensitize the microtubular cytoskeleton of Chinese hamster ovary cells grown at low pH to 42 degrees C-induced reorganization. Int J Hyperthermia 20, 491-502.

Haslbeck, M., Franzmann, T., Weinfurtner, D., and Buchner, J. (2005). Some like it hot: the structure and function of small heat-shock proteins. Nat Struct Mol Biol 12, 842-846.

Hedges, J.C., Dechert, M.A., Yamboliev, I.A., Martin, J.L., Hickey, E., Weber, L.A., and Gerthoffer, W.T. (1999). A role for p38[MAPK]/HSP27 pathway in smooth muscle cell migration. J Biol Chem 274, 24211-24219. Heins, S., and Aebi, U. (1994). Making heads and tails of intermediate filament assembly, dynamics and networks. Curr Opin Cell Biol 6, 25-33.

Helfand, B.T., Mendez, M.G., Pugh, J., Delsert, C., and Goldman, R.D. (2003). A role for intermediate filaments in determining and maintaining the shape of nerve cells. Mol Biol Cell 14, 5069-5081.

Herrmann, H., Strelkov, S.V., Feja, B., Rogers, K.R., Brettel, M., Lustig, A., Haner, M., Parry, D.A., Steinert, P.M., Burkhard, P., and Aebi, U. (2000). The intermediate filament protein consensus motif of helks 28: iss atomic structure and contribution to assembly. J Mol Biol 298, 817–832.

Hightower, L.E. (1991). Heat shock, stress proteins, chaperones, and proteotoxicity. Cell 66, 191-197.

Hino, M., Kurogi, K., Okubo, M.A., Murata-Hori, M., and Hosoya, H. (2000). Small heat shock protein 27 (HSP27) associates with tubulin/microtubules in HeLa cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 272, 164-169.

Hirano, S., Shelden, E.A., and Gilmont, R.R. (2004). HSP27 regulates fibroblast adhesion, motility, and matrix contraction. Cell Stress Chaperones 9, 29-37.

Hirokawa, N., Glicksman, M.A., and Willard, M.B. (1984). Organization of mammalian neurofilament polypeptides within the neuronal cytoskeleton. J Cell Biol 98, 1523-1536.

Hirokawa, N., and Takemura, R. (2004). Molecular motors in neuronal development, intracellular transport and diseases. Curr Opin Neurobiol 24, 564-573.

Hisanaga, S., and Hirokawa, N. (1988). Structure of the peripheral domains of neurofilaments revealed by low angle rotary shadowing. J Mol Biol 202, 297-305.

Hisanaga, S., and Hirokawa, N. (1990). Molecular architecture of the neurofilament. II. Reassembly process of neurofilament L protein in vitro. J Mol Biol 211. 871-882.

Hong, Z., Zhang, Q.Y., Liu, J., Wang, Z.Q., Zhang, Y., Xiao, Q., Lu, J., Zhou, H.Y., and Chen, S.D. (2009). Phosphoproteome study reveals Hsp27 as a novel signaling molecule involved in GDNFinduced neurite outgrowth. J Proteome Res 88, 2768-2787.

Huang, T.Y., DerMardirossian, C., and Bokoch, G.M. [2006]. Cofilin phosphatases and regulation of actin dynamics. Curr Opin Cell Biol 18, 26-31.

Huber, A.B., Kolodkin, A.L., Ginty, D.D., and Cloutier, J.F. (2003). Signaling at the growth cone: ligand-receptor complexes and the control of axon growth and guidance. Annu Rev Neurosci 26, 509-563. Huot, J., Houle, F., Marceau, F., and Landry, J. (1997). Oxidative stress-induced actin reorganization mediated by the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase/heat shock protein 27 pathwas in vascular endothelial cells. Circ Res 80, 383-392.

Huot, J., Houle, F., Rousseau, S., Deschesnes, R.G., Shah, G.M., and Landry, J. (1998). SAPK2/p38dependent F-actin reorganization regulates early membrane blebbing during stress-induced acootosis. J Cell Biol 143: 3165-1373.

Huot, J., Houle, F., Spitz, D.R., and Landry, J. (1996). HSP27 phosphorylation-mediated resistance against actin fragmentation and cell death induced by oxidative stress. Cancer Res 56, 273-279.

Huot, J., Lambert, H., Lavoie, J.N., Guimond, A., Houle, F., and Landry, J. (1995). Characterization of 45-10a/54-10a HSP27 kinase, a stress-sensitive kinase which may activate the phosphorylation-dependent protective function of mammalian 27-kDa heat-shock protein HSP27. Eur J Biochem 227. 416-427.

Ibitayo, A.L, Stadick, J., Totteja, S., Louis-Jacques, O., Yamada, H., Groblewski, G., Welsh, M., and Bitar, K.N. (1999). HSP27 in signal transduction and association with contractile proteins in smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol 277, 6445–454.

Iida, K., Iida, H., and Yahara, I. (1986). Heat shock induction of intranuclear actin rods in cultured mammalian cells. Exo Cell Res 165:207-215.

Ikegami, K., Heier, R.L., Taruishi, M., Takagi, H., Mukai, M., Shimma, S., Taira, S., Hatanaka, K., Morone, N., Yao, I., et al. (2007). Loss of alpha-tubulis polyglutamylation in ROSA22 mice is associated with abnormal targeting of KIF1A and modulated synaptic function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104, 3213-3218.

Ingolia, T.D., and Craig, E.A. (1982). Four small Drosophila heat shock proteins are related to each other and to mammalian aloha-crystallin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 79, 2360-2364.

Irobi, J., Van Impe, K., Seeman, P., Jordanova, A., Dierick, I., Verpoorten, N., Michalik, A., De Vriendt, E., Jacobs, A., Van Gerwen, V., et al. (2004a). Hot-spot residue in small heat-shock protein 22 causes distal motor neurosarbity. Nat General 36: 597-601.

Irobi, J., Van Impe, K., Seeman, P., Jordanova, A., Dierick, I., Verpoorten, N., Michalik, A., De Vriendt, E., Jacobs, A., Van Gerwen, V., et al. (2004b). Hot-spot residue in small heat-shock protein 22 causes distal motor neuropathy. Nat Genet 36, 597-601.

Ishikawa, T., Miyagi, M., Ohtori, S., Aoki, Y., Ozawa, T., Doya, H., Saito, T., Moriya, H., and Takahashi, K. (2005). Characteristics of sensory DRG neurons innervating the lumbar facet joints in rats. Eur Spino 114, 559–564.

Jakob, U., Gaestel, M., Engel, K., and Buchner, J. (1993). Small heat shock proteins are molecular chaperones. J Biol Chem 268, 1517-1520. Jawhari, A.U., Buda, A., Jenkins, M., Shehzad, K., Sarraf, C., Noda, M., Farthing, M.J., Pignatelli, M., and Adams, J.C. (2003). Fascin, an actin-bundling protein, modulates colonic epithelial cell invasiveness and differentiation in vitro. Am J Pathol 125: 69-80.

Jia, Y., Wu, S.L., Isenberg, J.S., Dai, S., Sipes, J.M., Field, L., Zeng, B., Bandle, R.W., Ridnour, I.A., Wink, D.A., et al. (2009). Thiolutin inhibits endothelial cell adhesion by perturbing Hsp27 interactions with components of the actin and intermediate filament cytoskeleton. Cell Stress Chaperones.

Joester, A., and Faissner, A. (2001). The structure and function of tenascins in the nervous system. Matrix Biol 20, 13-22.

Jog, N.R., Jala, V.R., Ward, R.A., Rane, M.J., Haribabu, B., and McLeish, K.R. (2007). Heat shock protein 27 regulates neutrophil chemotaxis and exocytosis through two independent mechanisms. J Immunol 1278, 2421-2428.

Jones, D.M., Tucker, B.A., Rahimtula, M., and Mearow, K.M. (2003). The synergistic effects of NGF and IGF-1 on neurite growth in adult sensory neurons: convergence on the PI 3-kinase signaling pathway. I Neurochem 86, 1116-1128.

Jourdain, L., Curmi, P., Sobel, A., Pantaloni, D., and Carlier, M.F. (1997). Stathmin: a tubulinsequestering protein which forms a ternary T2S complex with two tubulin molecules. Biochemistry 56, 10817-10821.

Jung, C., Lee, S., Ortiz, D., Zhu, Q., Julien, J.P., and Shea, T.B. (2005). The high and middle molecular weight neurofflament subunits regulate the association of neurofflaments with kinesin: inhibition by phosphorylation of the high molecular weight subunit. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 142, 151-155.

Kall, K. (1996). Growth cone behaviors during ason guidance in the developing cerebral cortex. Prog Brain Res 108, 31-40.

Kall, K., and Dent, E.W. (2005). Touch and go: guidance cues signal to the growth cone cytoskeleton. Curr Opin Neurobiol 15, 521-526.

Kamada, M., So, A., Muramaki, M., Rocchi, P., Beraldi, E., and Gleave, M. (2007). Hsp27 knockdown using nucleotide-based therapies inhibit tumor growth and enhance chemotherapy in human bladder canor: cells. Mol Cancer: Ther 6, 299-308.

Kampinga, H.H., Hageman, J., Vos, M.L., Kubota, H., Tanguay, R.M., Bruford, E.A., Cheetham, M.E., Chen, 8., and Hightower, L.E. (2009). Guidelines for the nomenclature of the human heat shock proteins. Cell Stress Chaerones 14, 105–111.

Kano, Y., Nakagiri, S., Nohno, T., Hiragami, F., Kawamura, K., Kadota, M., Numata, K., Koike, Y., and Furuta, T. (2004). Heat shock induces neurite outgrowth in PC12m3 cells via the p38 mitoteen-activated protein kinase osthwas. Brain Res 2005, 3002-306. Kashiba, H., Uchida, Y., and Senba, E. (2001). Difference in binding by isolectin B4 to trkA and cret mRNA-expressing neurons in rat sensory ganglia. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 95, 18-26.

Kato, K., Hasegawa, K., Goto, S., and Inaguma, Y. (1994). Dissociation as a result of phosphorylation of an aggregated form of the small stress protein, hsp27. J Biol Chem 269, 11274-11278.

Khor, T.O., Gul, Y.A., Ithnin, H., and Seow, H.F. (2004). Positive correlation between overxepression of phospho-BAD with phosphorylated Akt at serine 473 but not threonine 308 in colorectal carcinoma. Cancer Lett 210, 139-150.

Kim, K.K., Kim, R., and Kim, S.H. (1998). Crystal structure of a small heat-shock protein. Nature 394, 595-599.

Kindas-Mugge, I., Rieder, C., Frohlich, I., Micksche, M., and Trautinger, F. (2002). Characterization of proteins associated with heat shock protein hsp27 in the squamous cell carcinoma cell line A431. Cell Biol Int 25: 109-115.

Kohno, K., Kawakami, T., and Hiruma, H. (2005). Effects of soluble laminin on organelle transport and neurite growth in cultured mouse dorsal root ganglion neurons: difference between primary neurites and branches. J Cell Physiol 205: 253-262.

Komarova, Y.A., Akhmanova, A.S., Kojima, S., Galjart, N., and Borisy, G.G. (2002). Cytoplasmic linker proteins promote microtubule rescue in vivo. J Cell Biol 159: 589-599.

Konishi, H., Matsuzaki, H., Tanaka, M., Takemura, Y., Kuroda, S., Ono, Y., and Kikkawa, U. (1997). Activation of protein kinase B (Akt/RAC-protein kinase) by cellular stress and its association with heat shock protein His207. FEBS Lett 410, 493–498.

Korn, E.D., Carlier, M.F., and Pantaloni, D. [1987]. Actin polymerization and ATP hydrolysis. Science 238, 638-644.

 Kornack, D.R., and Giger, R.J. (2005). Probing microtubule +TIPs: regulation of axon branching. Curr Opin Neurobiol 15, 58-66.

Korobova, F., and Svitkina, T. (2008). Arp2/3 complex is important for filopodia formation, growth cone motility, and neuritogenesis in neuronal cells. Mol Biol Cell 19, 1561-1574.

Koteiche, H.A., and McHaourab, H.S. (2002). The determinants of the oligomeric structure in Hso16.5 are encoded in the alpha-crystallin domain. FEBS Lett 519. 16-22.

Kubisch, C., Dimagno, M.J., Tietz, A.B., Welch, M.J., Ernst, S.A., Brandt-Nedelev, B., Diebold, J., Wagner, A.C., Goke, B., Williams, J.A., and Schafer, C. (2004). Overexpression of heat shock protein Hsg27 protexts against cerulein-induced pancneatik. Gastroenterology 127, 275-286. Kumar, L.V., Ramakrishna, T., and Rao, C.M. (1999). Structural and functional consequences of the mutation of a conserved arginine residue in alghaA and alphaB crystallins. J Biol Chem 274, 24137-24141.

Labelle, C., and Leclerc, N. (2000). Exogenous BDNF, NT-3 and NT-4 differentially regulate neurite outgrowth in cultured hippocampal neurons. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 123, 1-11.

Lambert, H., Charette, S.J., Bernier, A.F., Guimond, A., and Landry, J. [1999]. HSP27 multimerization mediated by phosphorylation-sensitive intermolecular interactions at the amino terminus. J Biol Chem 274, 9378-9385.

Landry, J., and Huot, J. (1995). Modulation of actin dynamics during stress and physiological stimulation by a signaling pathway involving p38 MAP kinase and heat-shock protein 27. Biochem Cell Biol 73, 703–707.

Landry, J., and Huot, J. (1999). Regulation of actin dynamics by stress-activated protein kinase 2 (SAPK2)-dependent phosphorylation of heat-shock protein of 27 kDa (Hsp27). Biochem Soc Symp 64, 79-89.

Landry, J., Lambert, H., Zhou, M., Lavole, J.N., Hickey, E., Weber, L.A., and Anderson, C.W. (1992). Human HSP27 is phosphorylated at serines 78 and 82 by heat shock and mitogenactivated kinases that recognize the same amino acid motif as 56 kinase II. J Biol Chem 267, 794-803.

Lansbergen, G., and Akhmanova, A. (2006). Microtubule plus end: a hub of cellular activities. Traffic 7, 499-507.

Larsen, J.K., Yamboliev, I.A., Weber, L.A., and Gerthoffer, W.T. (1997). Phosphorylation of the 27-KDa heat shock protein via p38 MAP kinase and MAPKAP kinase in smooth muscle. Am J Physiol 273: 1930-940.

Latchman, D.S. (2005). HSP27 and cell survival in neurones. Int J Hyperthermia 22, 393-402.

Lavoie, J.N., Gingras-Breton, G., Tanguay, R.M., and Landry, J. (1993a). Induction of Chinese hamster HSP27 gene expression in mouse cells confers resistance to heat shock. HSP27 stabilization of the microfilmment organization. J Biol Chem 268, 3420–3429.

Lavoie, J.N., Hickey, E., Weber, L.A., and Landry, J. (1993b). Modulation of actin microfilament dynamics and fluid phase pinocytosis by phosphorylation of heat shock protein 27. J Biol Chem. 268, 24210-24214.

Lavoie, J.N., Lambert, H., Hickey, E., Weber, L.A., and Landry, J. (1995). Modulation of cellular thermoresistance and actin filament stability accompanies phosphorylation-induced changes in the olgomeric structure of heat shock proteine 7.7. Mol Cell Biol J.5, 505-516. Le Clainche, C., and Carlier, M.F. (2008). Regulation of actin assembly associated with protrusion and adhesion in cell migration. Physiol Rev 88, 489-513.

Lebrand, C., Dent, E.W., Strasser, G.A., Lanier, L.M., Krause, M., Svitkina, T.M., Borisy, G.G., and Gertler, F.B. (2004). Critical role of Ena/VASP proteins for filopodia formation in neurons and in function downstream of netrini-1. Neuron 42, 37-49.

Lee, J.H., Sun, D., Cho, K.J., Kim, M.S., Hong, M.H., Kim, I.K., and Lee, J.S. (2007). Overexpression of human 27 KDa heat shock protein in laryngeal cancer cells confers chemoresistance associated with cell growth delay. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 133, 37-66.

Lee, J.S., Zhang, M.H., Yun, E.K., Geum, D., Kim, K., Kim, T.H., Lim, Y.S., and Seo, J.S. (2005). Heat shock protein 27 interacts with vimentin and prevents insolubilization of vimentin subunits induced by cadmium. Exp Mol Med 37, 42–435.

Lee, J.W., Kwak, H.J., Lee, J.J., Kim, Y.N., Park, M.J., Jung, S.E., Hong, S.I., Lee, J.H., and Lee, J.S. (2008). HSP27 regulates cell adhesion and invasion via modulation of focal adhesion kinase and MMP-2 expression. Eur J Cell Biol 87, 377-387.

Lee, S., and Leavitt, B. (2004). Turning up the heat on hereditary neuropathies. Clin. Genetics 66, 294-296.

Lee, V.M., Otvos, L., Jr., Schmidt, M.L., and Trojanowski, J.Q. (1988). Alzheimer disease tangles share immunological similarities with multiphosphorylation repeats in the two large neurofilament proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85, 7384-7388.

Lehmann, M., Fournier, A., Selfus-Navarro, I., Dergham, P., Sebok, A., Leclerc, N., Tigyi, G., and McKerracher, L. (1999). Inactivation of Rho signaling pathway promotes CNS axon regeneration. J Neurosci 19, 7537-7547.

Leonard, D.G., Gorham, J.D., Cole, P., Greene, L.A., and Ziff, E.B. (1988). A nerve growth factorregulated messenger RNA encodes a new intermediate filament protein. J Cell Biol 106, 181-193.

Letourneau, P.C., Shattuck, T.A., and Ressler, A.H. (1987). "Pull" and "push" in neurite elongation: observations on the effects of different concentrations of cytochalasin B and taxol. Cell Motil Cytosketeton 8, 193-209.

Lewis, S.E., Mannion, R.J., White, F.A., Coggeshall, R.E., Beggs, S., Costigan, M., Martin, J.L., Dillmann, W.H., and Woolf, C.J. (1999). A role for HSP27 in sensory neuron survival. J Neurosci 19, 8945-8953.

Liang, P., and MacRae, T.H. [1997]. Molecular chaperones and the cytoskeleton. J Cell Sci 110 ( Pt 13), 1431-1440. Lilienbaum, A., Reszka, A.A., Horwitz, A.F., and Holt, C.E. (1995). Chimeric integrins expressed in retinal ganglion cells impair process outgrowth in vivo. Mol Cell Neurosci 6, 139-152.

Litt, M., Kramer, P., LaMorticella, D.M., Murphey, W., Lovrien, E.W., and Weleber, R.G. (1998). Autosomal dominant congenital cataract associated with a missense mutation in the human alpha crystallin gene (RYA). Hum Mol Genet 7, 471-474.

Liu, B.P., Cafferty, W.B., Budel, S.O., and Strittmatter, S.M. (2006). Extracellular regulators of axonal growth in the adult central nervous system. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 361, 1593-1610.

Liu, Q., Xie, F., Siedlak, S.L., Nunomura, A., Honda, K., Moreira, P.I., Zhua, X., Smith, M.A., and Perry, G. (2004). Neurofilament proteins in neurodegenerative diseases. Cell Mol Life Sci 61, 3057-3075.

Loktionova, S.A., and Kabakov, A.E. (1998). Protein phosphatase inhibitors and heat preconditioning prevent Hsp27 dephosphorylation, F-actin disruption and deterioration of morphology in ATP-depleted endothelial cells. FEBS Lett 432, 294-300.

Loudon, R.P., Silver, L.D., Yee, H.F., Jr., and Gallo, G. (2006). RhoA-kinase and myosin II are required for the maintenance of growth cone polarity and guidance by nerve growth factor. J Neurobiol 66, 847-867.

Luduena, R.F. (1998). Multiple forms of tubulin: different gene products and covalent modifications. Int Rev Cytol 278, 207-275.

Luo, L. (2002). Actin cytoskeleton regulation in neuronal morphogenesis and structural plasticity. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 18, 601-635.

Lutsch, G., Vetter, R., Offhauss, U., Wieske, M., Grone, H.J., Klemenz, R., Schimke, I., Stahl, J., and Benndorf, R. (1997). Abundance and location of the small heat shock proteins HSP25 and alpha8-crystalin in rat and human heart. Circulation 95: 3466-3476.

Mailhos, C., Howard, M.K., and Latchman, D.S. (1993). Heat shock protects neuronal cells from programmed cell death by apoptosis. Neuroscience 55, 671-677.

Maizels, E.T., Peters, C.A., Kline, M., Cutler, R.E., Jr., Shanmugam, M., and Hunzicker-Dunn, M. (1998). Heat-shock protein-25/27 phosphorylation by the delta isoform of protein kinase C. Biochem J 329 (Pr 3), 709-712.

Mallavarapu, A., and Mitchison, T. (1999). Regulated actin cytoskeleton assembly at filopodium tips controls their extension and retraction. J Cell Biol 346: 1097-1106.

Manna, T., Thrower, D., Miller, H.P., Curmi, P., and Wilson, L. (2006). Stathmin strongly increases the mixus end catastrophe frequency and induces rapid treadmilling of bovine brain microtubules at teady state in vitro. J Biol Chem 283, 2027. 2028. Marin-Vinader, L., Shin, C., Onneklink, C., Manley, J.L., and Lubsen, N.H. (2006). Hsp27 enhances recovery of splicing as well as rephosphorylation of SRp38 after heat shock. Mol Biol Cell 17, 886-894.

Marsh, L., and Letourneau, P.C. (1984). Growth of neurites without filopodial or lamelipodial activity in the presence of cytochalasin B. J Cell Biol 99, 2041-2047.

Mattila, P.K., and Lappalainen, P. (2008). Filopodia: molecular architecture and cellular functions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.

McKerracher, L., Chamoux, M., and Arregui, C.O. (1996). Role of laminin and integrin interactions in growth cone guidance. Mol Neurobiol 22, 95-116.

McKerracher, L., David, S., Jackson, D.L., Kottis, V., Dunn, R.J., and Braun, P.E. (1994). Identification of myelin-associated glycoprotein as a major myelin-derived inhibitor of neurite growth. Neuron 13, 805–813.

McLaughlin, M.M., Kumar, S., McDonnell, P.C., Van Horn, S., Lee, J.C., Livi, G.P., and Young, P.R. (1996). identification of mitogen-activated protein (MMP) kinase-activated protein kinase-3, a novel substrate of CSBP p38 MAP kinase. J Biol Chem 272, B488-8492.

Mearow, K.M., Dodge, M.E., Rahimtula, M., and Yegappan, C. (2002). Stress-mediated signaling in PCI2 cells - the role of the small heat shock protein, hig27, and Aki in protecting cells from heat stress and nerve growth factor withdeaval. J Neurotom 82, 852-462.

Mehlen, P., and Arrigo, A.P. (1994). The serum-induced phosphorylation of mammalian hsp27 correlates with changes in its intracellular localization and levels of oligomerization. Eur J Biochem 227, 327-334.

Mehlen, P., Kretz-Remy, C., Preville, X., and Arrigo, A.P. (1996a). Human hsp27, Drosophila hsp27 and human alphafi-crystallin expression-mediated increase in glutathione is essential for the protective activity of these proteins against TNFalpha-induced cell death. EMBO J 15, 2695-2706.

Mehlen, P., Schulze-Osthoff, K., and Arrigo, A.P. (1996b). Small stress proteins as novel regulators of apoptosis. Heat shock protein 27 blocks Fas/APO-1- and staurosporine-induced cell death. J Biol Dem 272. 165510-16514.

Meier, M., King, G.L., Clermont, A., Perez, A., Hayashi, M., and Feener, E.P. (2001). Angiotensin AT(1) receptor stimulates heat shock protein 27 phosphorylation in vitro and in vivo. Hyperension 38, 1260-1265.

Meijering, E., Jacob, M., Sarria, J.C., Steiner, P., Hirling, H., and Unser, M. (2004). Design and validation of a tool for neurite tracing and analysis in fluorescence microscopy images. Cytometry A 58, 167-176. Mejillano, M.R., Kojima, S., Applewhite, D.A., Gertler, F.B., Svitkina, T.M., and Borixy, G.G. (2004). Lamellipodial versus filopodial mode of the actin nanomachinery: pivotal role of the filament barbed end. Cell 128: 363-373.

Miron, T., Vancompernolle, K., Vandekerckhove, J., Witchek, M., and Geiger, B. (1991). A 25-kD inhibitor of actin polymerization is a low molecular mass heat shock protein. J Cell Biol 114, 255-261.

Molliver, D.C., Wright, D.E., Leitner, M.L., Parsadanian, A.S., Doster, K., Wen, D., Yan, Q., and Snider, W.D. (1997). I84-binding DBG neurons switch from NGF to GDNF dependence in early postnatal life. Neuron 19, 849-861.

Moores, C.A., and Milligan, R.A. (2006). Lucky 13-microtubule depolymerisation by kinesin-13 motors. J Cell Sci 119, 3905-3913.

Morton, W.M., Ayscough, K.R., and McLaughlin, P.J. (2000). Latranculin alters the actinmonomer subunit interface to prevent polymerization. Nat Cell Biol 2, 376-378.

Moseley, J.B., Bartolini, F., Okada, K., Wen, Y., Gundersen, G.G., and Goode, B.L. (2007). Regulated binding of adenomatous polyposis coli protein to actin. J Biol Chem 282, 12661-12668.

Mounier, N., and Arrigo, A.P. (2002). Actin cytoskeleton and small heat shock proteins: how do they interact? Cell Stress Chaperones 7, 167-176.

Mullins, R.D., Heuser, J.A., and Pollard, T.D. (1998). The interaction of Arp2/3 complex with actin: nucleation, high affinity pointed end capping, and formation of branching networks of filaments. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95: 6338-6386.

Murashov, A.K., Ul Hao, I., Hill, C., Park, E., Smith, M., Wang, X., Goldberg, D.J., and Wolgemuth, D.J. (2001a). Crosstalk between p38, Hsp25 and Akt in spinal motor neurons after sciatic nerve injury. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 93, 199–208.

Murashov, A.K., Ul Haq, I., Hill, C., Park, E., Smith, M., Wang, X., Wang, X., Goldberg, D.J., and Wolgemuth, D.J. (2001b). Crosstalik between p38, Hsp25 and Aki in spinal motor neurons after solatic nerve injury. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 93, 199-208.

Nakamura, Y., Hashimoto, R., Kashiwagi, Y., Aimoto, S., Fukusho, E., Matsumoto, N., Kudo, T., and Takeda, M. (2000). Major phosphorylation site (Ser53) of neurofilament L by cyclic AMPdependent protein kinase in rat perimary neuronal calture. J Neurochem 74, 949-959.

New, L., Jiang, Y., Zhao, M., Liu, K., Zhu, W., Flood, L.J., Kato, Y., Parry, G.C., and Han, J. (1998). PRAK, a novel protein kinase regulated by the p38 MAP kinase. EMBO J 17, 3372-3384.

Nixon, R.A. (1993). The regulation of neurofilament protein dynamics by phosphorylation: clues to neurofibrillary outhobiology. Reain Pathol 3, 29-38. Nobes, C.D., and Hall, A. (1995). Rho, rac, and cdc42 GTPases regulate the assembly of multimolecular focal complexes associated with actin stress fibers, lamellipodia, and filopodia. Cell 81, 53-62.

Nomura, N., Nomura, M., Sugiyama, K., and Hamada, J. (2007). Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA)-induced migration of globlastoma cells is mediated via p38MAPK/Hsp27 pathway. Biochem Pharmacol 74, 600-701.

O'Connor, T.P., and Bentley, D. (1993). Accumulation of actin in subsets of pioneer growth cone filopodia in response to neural and epithelial guidance cues in situ. J Cell Biol 123, 935-948.

Oblinger, M.M., Wong, J., and Parysek, L.M. (1989). Axotomy-induced changes in the expression of a type III neuronal intermediate filament gene. J Neurosci 9, 3766-3775.

Ono, S. (2007). Mechanism of depolymerization and severing of actin filaments and its significance in cytoskeletal dynamics. Int Rev Cytol 258, 1-82.

Ono, S., and Ono, K. (2002). Tropomyosin inhibits ADF/cofilin-dependent actin filament dynamics. J Cell Biol 256: 1065-1076.

Pak, C.W., Flynn, K.C., and Bamburg, J.R. (2008). Actin-binding proteins take the reins in growth cones. Nat Rev Neurosci 9, 136-147.

Panasenko, O.O., Kim, M.V., Marston, S.B., and Gusev, N.B. (2003). Interaction of the small heat shock protein with molecular mass 25 kDa (hsp25) with actin. Eur J Biochem 270, 892-901.

Pantaloni, D., Clainche, C.L., and Carlier, M.-F. (2001). Mechanism of Actin-Based Motility. Science 292, 1502-1506.

Patil, S.B., and Bitar, K.M. (2006). RhoA- and PKC-alpha-mediated phosphorylation of MYPT and its association with HSP27 in colonic smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 290, GB3-95.

Patil, S.B., Pawar, M.D., and Bitar, K.N. (2004a). Phosphorylated HSP27 essential for acetylcholare-induced association of RhoA with PKCalpha. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 286, G635-644.

Patil, S.B., Tsunoda, Y., Pawar, M.D., and Bitar, K.N. (2004b). Translocation and association of ROCK-II with RhoA and HSP27 during contraction of rabbit colon smooth muscle cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 3129, 95-102.

Paul, C., and Arrigo, A.P. (2000). Comparison of the protective activities generated by two survival proteins: Bci-2 and Hsp27 in 1929 murine fibroblasts exposed to menadione or staurosporine. Exp Geronotta 35, 257-766. Paul, C., Manero, F., Gonin, S., Kretz-Remy, C., Virot, S., and Arrigo, A.P. (2002). Hsp27 as a negative regulator of cytochrome C release. Mol Cell Biol 22, 816-834.

Perez-Olle, R., Jones, S.T., and Liem, R.K. (2004). Phenotypic analysis of neurofilament light gene mutations linked to Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease in cell culture models. Hum Mol Genet 13, 2007-220.

Perez-Olle, R., Lopez-Toledano, M.A., Goryunov, D., Cabrera-Poch, N., Stefanis, L., Brown, K., and Liem, R.K. (2005). Mutations in the neurofilament light gene linked to Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease cause defects in transport. J Neurochem 93. 861-874.

Perng, M.D., Caims, L., van den, I.P., Prescott, A., Hutcheson, A.M., and Quinlan, R.A. (1999a). Intermediate filament interactions can be altered by HSP27 and alpha8-crystallin. J Cell Sci J127 Pr 13J, 2099-2112.

Perng, M.D., Muchowski, P.J., van Den, J.P., Wu, G.J., Hutcheson, A.M., Clark, J.I., and Quinlan, R.A. (1999b). The cardiomyopathy and lens cataract mutation in alpha8-crystallin alters its protein structure, chaperone activity, and interaction with intermediate filaments in vitro. J Biol Chem 274, 3235-33243.

Petruska, J.C., Napaporn, J., Johnson, R.D., Gu, J.G., and Cooper, B.Y. (2000). Subclassified acutely dissociated cells of rat DRG: histochemistry and patterns of capsaicin-, proton-, and ATPactivated currents. J Neurophysiol 84, 2355-2379.

Pichon, S., Bryckaert, M., and Berrou, E. (2004). Control of actin dynamics by p38 MAP kinase -Hsp27 distribution in the lamellipodium of smooth muscle cells. J Cell Sci 117, 2569-2577.

Piotrowicz, R.S., Hickey, E., and Levin, E.G. (1998). Heat shock protein 27 kDa expression and phosphorylation regulates endothelial cell migration. Faseb J 12, 1481-1490.

Pivovarova, A.V., Mikhailova, V.V., Chernik, I.S., Chebotareva, N.A., Levitsky, D.I., and Gusev, N.B. (2005). Effects of small heat shock proteins on the thermal denaturation and aggregation of Factin. Biochem Bioehys Res. Commun. 331, 1548-1553.

Plumier, J.C., Hopkins, D.A., Robertson, H.A., and Currie, R.W. (1997). Constitutive expression of the 27-Aba heat shock protein (Hsp27) in sensory and motor neurons of the rat nervous system. J Comp Neurol 384, 409–428.

Preville, X., Gaestel, M., and Arrigo, A.P. (1998). Phosphorylation is not essential for protection of 1929 cells by Hsp25 against H202-mediated disruption actin cytoskeleton, a protection which appears related to the redox change mediated by Hsp252. Cell Stress Chapterones 3, 177-187.

Preville, X., Salvemini, F., Giraud, S., Chaufour, S., Paul, C., Steplen, G., Ursini, M.V., and Arrigo, A.P. (1999). Mammalian small stress protects portect against oxidative stress through their ability to increase glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase activity and by maintaining optimal collular detoxifing machinem. Exp Cell Res 247, 61-78. Price, L.S., Leng, J., Schwartz, M.A., and Bokoch, G.M. (1998). Activation of Rac and Cdc42 by integrins mediates cell spreading. Mol Biol Cell 9, 1863-1871.

Priestley, J.V., Michael, G.J., Averill, S., Liu, M., and Willmott, N. (2002). Regulation of nociopytive neurons by nerve growth factor and glial cell line derived neurotrophic factor. Can J Physiol Pharmocol 80, 495-505.

Quigney, D.J., Gorman, A.M., and Samali, A. (2003). Heat shock protects PC12 cells against MPP+ toxicity. Brain Res 993, 133-139.

Rane, M.J., Pan, Y., Singh, S., Powell, D.W., Wu, R., Cummins, T., Chen, Q., McLeish, K.R., and Klein, J.B. (2003). Heat shock protein 27 controls apoptosis by regulating Akt activation. J Biol Chem 278, 27288–27355.

Rauvala, H., and Peng, H.B. (1997). HB-GAM (heparin-binding growth-associated molecule) and heparin-type glycans in the development and plasticity of neuron-target contacts. Prog Neurobiol 52: 127-144.

Reed, N.A., Cai, D., Blasius, T.L., Jih, G.T., Meyhofer, E., Gaertig, J., and Verhey, K.J. (2006). Microtubule acetylation promotes kinesin-1 binding and transport. Curr Biol 16, 2166-2172.

Richards, T.A., and Cavalier-Smith, T. (2005). Myosin domain evolution and the primary divergence of eukarvotes. Nature 436. 1113-1118.

Ritossa, F. (1962). A new puffing pattern induced by a temperature shock and DNP in Drosophilia, . Experientia 18, 571-573.

Ritossa, F. (1996). Discovery of the heat shock response. Cell Stress Chaperones 1, 97-98.

Robles, E., and Gomez, T.M. (2006). Focal adhesion kinase signaling at sites of integrin-mediated adhesion controls axon pathfinding. Nat Neurosci 9, 1274-1283.

Rocchi, P., Jugpal, P., So, A., Sinneman, S., Ettinger, S., Fażli, L., Nelson, C., and Gleave, M. (2006). Small interference RNA targeting heat-shock protein 27 inhibits the growth of prostatic cell lines and induces approtosis via cospass-3 activation in vitro. 81U Htt 98, 1002-1008.

Rogalla, T., Ehrnsperger, M., Preville, X., Kotlyarov, A., Lutsch, G., Ducasse, C., Paul, C., Wieske, M., Arrigo, A.P., Buchner, J., and Gaestel, M. (1999). Regulation of Hsp27 oligomerization, chaperone function, and protective activity against oxidative stress/tumor necrosis factor alpha tw ofsoshorvalation. J Biol Chem 274, 18947-18556.

Rouse, J., Cohen, P., Trigon, S., Morange, M., Alono-Liamazares, A., Zamanillo, D., Hunt, T., and Nebreda, A.R. (1994). A novel kinase cascade triggered by stress and heat shock that stimulates MARKAP kinase-2 and phosphorylation of the small heat shock proteins. Cell 78, 1027-1037. Rousseau, S., Houle, F., Landry, J., and Huot, J. (1997). p38 MAP kinase activation by vascular endothelial growth factor mediates actin reorganization and cell migration in human endothelial cells. Oncogene 15, 2169-2177.

Roy, S., Coffee, P., Smith, G., Liem, R.K., Brady, S.T., and Black, M.M. (2000). Neurofilaments are transported rapidly but intermittently in axons: implications for slow axonal transport. J Neurosci 20, 6849-6861.

Saibil, H.R. (2008). Chaperone machines in action. Curr Opin Struct Biol 18, 35-42.

Sanchez, I., Hassinger, L., Paskevich, P.A., Shine, H.D., and Nixon, R.A. (1996). Oligodendroglia regulate the regional expansion of axon caliber and local accumulation of neurofilaments during development independently of myelin formation. J Neurosci 16, 5095-5105.

Sanchez, I., Hassinger, L., Sihag, R.K., Cleveland, D.W., Mohan, P., and Nixon, R.A. (2000). Local control of neurofilament accumulation during radial growth of myelinating axons in vivo. Selective role of site-specific phosphorylation. J Cell Biol 155, 1013-1024.

Sarge, K.D., Murphy, S.P., and Morimoto, R.J. (1993). Activation of heat shock gene transcription by heat shock factor 1 involves oligomerication, acquisition of DNA-binding activity, and nuclear localization and can occur in the absence of stress. Mol Cell Biol 32, 1392–1407.

Schafer, C., Clapp, P., Welsh, M.J., Benndorf, R., and Williams, J.A. (1999). HSP27 expression regulates CCK-induced changes of the actin cytoskeleton in CHO-COC-A cells. Am J Physiol 277, C1032-1043.

Schneider, G.B., Hamano, H., and Cooper, L.F. (1998). In vivo evaluation of htsp27 as an inhibitor of actin polymerization: htsp22 limits actin stress fiber and focal adhesion formation after heat thock. J Cell Physiol 172: 575-584.

Shamovsky, L, and Nudler, E. (2008). New insights into the mechanism of heat shock response activation. Cell Mol Ufe Sci 65, 855-861.

Shea, T.B., Jung, C., and Pant, H.C. (2003). Does neurofilament phosphorylation regulate axonal transport? Trends Neurosci 26, 397-400.

Shi, J., Koteiche, H.A., McHaourab, H.S., and Stewart, P.L. (2006). Cryoelectron microscopy and EPR analysis of engineered symmetric and polydisperse Hsp16.5 assembles reveals determinants of polydispersity and unbirtuite binding. 19(ii) Chem 282. A0420-40428.

Shimura, H., Miura-Shimura, Y., and Kosik, K.S. (2004). Binding of tau to heat shock protein 27 leads to decreased concentration of hyperphosphorylated tau and enhanced cell survival. J Biol Chem 229, 17957-17962.
Sihag, R.K., and Nixon, R.A. (1991). Identification of Ser-55 as a major protein kinase A phosphorylation site on the 70-kDa subunit of neurofilaments. Early turnover during axonal transport. J Biol Chem 266: 18861-18867.

Slaughter, T., Wang, J., and Black, M.M. (1997). Microtubule transport from the cell body into the axons of growing neurons. J Neurosci 17, 5807-5819.

Slep, K.C., and Vale, R.D. (2007). Structural basis of microtubule plus end tracking by XMAP215, CLIP-170, and EB1. Mol Cell 27, 976-991.

Sobel, A. (1991). Stathmin: a relay phosphoprotein for multiple signal transduction? Trends Biochem Sci 16, 301-305.

Song, H.J., and Poo, M.M. (1999). Signal transduction underlying growth cone guidance by diffusible factors. Curr Opin Neurobiol 9, 355-363.

Steffen, A., Rottner, K., Ehinger, J., Innocenti, M., Scita, G., Wehland, J., and Stradal, T.E. (2004). Sra-1 and Nap1 link Rac to actin assembly driving lamellipodia formation. EMBO J 23, 749-759.

Sternberger, L.A., and Sternberger, N.H. (1983). Monoclonal antibodies distinguish phosphorylated and nonphosphorylated forms of neurofilaments in situ. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 40, 6126-6130.

Stetler, R.A., Cao, G., Gao, Y., Zhang, F., Wang, S., Weng, Z., Vosler, P., Zhang, L., Signore, A., Graham, S.H., and Chen, J. (2008). Hsp27 protects against ischemic brain injury via attenuation of a novel stress-response cascade upstream of mitochondrial cell death signaling. J Neurosci 28, 13038-13055.

Stoll, G., Jander, S., and Myers, R.R. (2002). Degeneration and regeneration of the peripheral nervous system: from Augustus Waller's observations to neuroinflammation. J Peripher Nerv Syst 7, 13-27.

Sun, Y., and MacRae, T.H. (2005). The small heat shock proteins and their role in human disease. Febs J 272, 2613-2627.

Suzuki, A., Sugiyama, Y., Hayashi, Y., Nyu-i, N., Yoshida, M., Nonaka, I., Ishiura, S., Arahata, K., and Ohno, S. (1998). MKBP, a novel member of the small heat shock protein family, binds and activates the motonic destroyolv protein linear. J Cell Biol 140, 1113–1124.

Tang, B.S., Zhao, G.H., Luo, W., Xia, K., Cai, F., Pan, Q., Zhang, R.X., Zhang, F.F., Liu, X.M., Chen, B., et al. (2005). Small heat-shock protein 22 mutated in autosomal dominant Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 21. Hum Genet 116. 522-224.

Tang, D., and Goldberg, D.J. (2000). Bundling of microtubules in the growth cone induced by laminin. Mol Cell Neurosci 15, 303-313. Taylor, R.P., and Benjamin, I.J. (2005). Small heat shock proteins: a new classification scheme in mammals. J Mol Cell Cardiol 38, 433–444.

Teng, F.Y., and Tang, B.I. (2006). Axonal regeneration in adult CNS neurons--signaling molecules and pathways. J Neurochem 96. 1501-1508.

Tessier, D.J., Komalavilas, P., Panitch, A., Joshi, L., and Brophy, C.M. (2003). The small heat shock protein (HSP) 20 is dynamically associated with the actin cross-linking protein actinin. J Surg Res 111, 152-157.

Tezel, G.M., Seigel, G.M., and Wax, M.B. (1999). Density-dependent resistance to apoptosis in retinal cells. Curr Eye Res 19, 377-388.

Theriault, J.R., Lambert, H., Chavez-Zobel, A.T., Charest, G., Lavigne, P., and Landry, J. (2004). Essential role of the NH2-terminal WD/PFF modifi in the phosphorylation-activated protective function of mammalian Hsp2.7. Biol Chem 279, 23463-23471.

Theriot, J.A. (1997). Accelerating on a treadmill: ADF/cofilin promotes rapid actin filament turnover in the dynamic cytoskeleton. J Cell Biol 136, 1165-1168.

Tissieres, A., Mitchell, H.K., and Tracy, U.M. (1974). Protein synthesis in salivary glands of Drosophila melanoraster: Relation to chromosome puffs. J Mol Biol 85, 389-398.

Tobacman, L.S., and Korn, E.D. (1983). The kinetics of actin nucleation and polymerization. J Biol Chem 258, 3207-3214.

Tolvola, D.M., Tao, G.Z., Habtezion, A., Liao, J., and Omary, M.B. (2005). Cellular integrity plus: organelle-related and protein-targeting functions of intermediate filaments. Trends Cell Biol 15, 608-617.

Tokuo, H., Mabuchi, K., and Ikebe, M. (2007). The motor activity of myosin-X promotes actin fiber convergence at the cell periphery to initiate filopodia formation. J Cell Biol 179, 229-238.

Tomasovic, S.P., Simonette, R.A., Wolf, D.A., Kelley, K.L., and Updyke, T.V. (1989). Co-isolation of heat stress and cytoskeletal proteins with plasma membrane proteins. Int J Hyperthermia 5, 173-190.

Tonge, D.A., Golding, J.P., Eibladh, M., Kroon, M., Ekstrom, P.E., and Edstrom, A. (1997). Effects of extracellular matrix components on axonal outgrowth from peripheral nerves of adult animals in vitro. Exp Neurol 246, 81-90.

Tonkiss, J., and Calderwood, S.K. (2005). Regulation of heat shock gene transcription in neuronal cells. Int J Hyperthermia 21, 433-444.

Troy, C.M., Brown, K., Greene, L.A., and Shelanski, M.L (1990). Ontogeny of the neuronal intermediate filament protein, peripherin, in the mouse embryo. Neuroscience 36, 217-237. Tseng, Y., An, K.M., Esue, O., and Wirtz, D. (2004). The bimodal role of filamin in controlling the architecture and mechanics of F-actin networks. J Biol Chem 279, 1819-1826.

Tsvetkov, A.S., Samsonov, A., Akhmanova, A., Galjart, N., and Popov, S.V. (2007). Microtubulebinding proteins CLASP1 and CLASP2 interact with actin filaments. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 64, 519-530.

Tucker, B.A., and Mearow, K.M. (2008). Peripheral Sensory Axon Growth: From Receptor Binding to Cellular Signalling. Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences.

Tucker, B.A., Rahimtula, M., and Mearow, K.M. (2005). Integrin activation and neurotrophin signaling cooperate to enhance neurite outgrowth in sensory neurons. J Comp Neurol 486, 267-280.

Tucker, B.A., Rahimtula, M., and Mearow, K.M. (2006). Laminin and growth factor receptor activation stimulates differential growth responses in subpopulations of aduR DRG neurons. Eur J Neurosci 24, 676-690.

Tucker, B.A., Rahimtula, M., and Mearow, K.M. (2008). Src and FAK are key early signaling intermediates required for neurite growth in NGF-responsive adult DRG neurons. Cell Signal 20, 241-257.

Tucker, K.L., Meyer, M., and Barde, Y.A. (2001). Neurotrophins are required for nerve growth during development. Nat Neurosci 4, 29-37.

Turney, S.G., and Bridgman, P.C. (2005). Laminin stimulates and guides axonal outgrowth via growth cone myosin II activity. Nat Neurosci 8, 717-719.

Van Montfort, R., Slingsby, C., and Vierling, E. (2001a). Structure and function of the small heat shock protein/alpha-crystallin family of molecular chaperones. Adv Protein Chem 59, 105-156.

van Montfort, R.L., Basha, E., Friedrich, K.L., Slingsby, C., and Vierling, E. (2001b). Crystal structure and assembly of a eukaryotic small heat shock protein. Nat Struct Biol 8, 1025-1030.

Van Why, S.K., Mann, A.S., Ardito, T., Thulin, G., Ferris, S., Macleod, M.A., Kashgarian, M., and Siegel, N.J. (2003). Hisp27 associates with actin and limits injury in energy depleted renal epithelia. J Am Soc Nephrol 24, 98-106.

Verhey, K.J., and Gaertig, J. (2007). The tubulin code. Cell Cycle 6, 2152-2160.

Vertii, A., Hakim, C., Kottyarov, A., and Gaestel, M. (2006). Analysis of properties of small heat shock protein Hsp25 in MAPK-activated protein kinase 2 (MK2)-deficient cells: MK2-dependent insolubilization of Hsp25 oligomers correlates with susceptibility to stress. J Biol Chem 281, 26966-26975. Vicart, P., Caron, A., Guicheney, P., Li, Z., Prevost, M.C., Faure, A., Chateau, D., Chapon, F., Tome, F., Dupret, J.M., et al. (1998). A missense mutation in the alphaB-crystallin chaperone gene causes a desmin-related myopathy. Nat Genet 20, 92-95.

Vigilanza, P., Aquilano, K., Rotilio, G., and Ciriolo, M.R. (2008). Transient cytoskeletal alterations after SOD1 depletion in neuroblastoma cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 65, 991-1004.

Vogelezang, M.G., Liu, Z., Relvas, J.B., Raivich, G., Scherer, S.S., and ffrench-Constant, C. (2001). Alpha6 integrin is expressed during peripheral nerve regeneration and enhances neurite outgrowth. J Neurosci 21, 673-6744.

Vogelezang, M.G., Scherer, S.S., Fawcett, J.W., and ffrench-Constant, C. (1999). Regulation of fibronectin alternative splicing during peripheral nerve repair. J Neurosci Res 56, 323-333.

Volkmann, N., DeRosier, D., Matsudaira, P., and Hanein, D. (2001). An atomic model of actin filaments cross-linked by fimbrin and its implications for bundle assembly and function. J Cell Biol 153, 947-956.

Wade, R.H. (2007). Microtubules: an overview. Methods Mol Med 137, 1-16.

Wakatsuki, T., Schwab, B., Thompson, N.C., and Elson, E.L. (2001). Effects of cytochalasin D and latrunculin B on mechanical properties of cells. J Cell Sci 124, 1025-1036.

Wang, L., and Brown, A. (2001). Rapid intermittent movement of axonal neurofilaments observed by fluorescence photobleaching. Mol Biol Cell 12, 3257-3267.

Wang, L., Ho, C.L., Sun, D., Liem, R.K., and Brown, A. (2000). Rapid movement of axonal neuroffaments interrupted by prolonged pauses. Nat Cell Biol 2, 137-141.

Wang, P., and Bitar, K.N. (1998). Rho A regulates sustained smooth muscle contraction through cytoskeletal reorganization of HSP27. Am J Physiol 275, G1454-1462.

Wegner, A. (1976). Head to tail polymerization of actin. J Mol Biol 108, 139-150.

Welch, W.J., and Suhan, J.P. (1985). Morphological study of the mammalian stress response: characterization of changes in cytoplasmic organelles, cytoskeleton, and nucleol, and appearance of intranuclear actin filaments in rat fibroblasts after heat-shock treatment. J Cell Biol 107, 1194–2121.

Westermann, S., and Weber, K. (2003). Post-translational modifications regulate microtubule function. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4, 938-947.

Westwood, J.T., and Wu, C. (1993). Activation of Drosophila heat shock factor: conformational change associated with a monomer-to-trimer transition. Mol Cell Biol 13, 3481-3486. White, H.E., Orlova, E.V., Chen, S., Wang, L., Ignatiou, A., Gowen, B., Stromer, T., Franzmann, T.M., Hasibeck, M., Buchner, J., and Saibil, H.R. (2006). Multiple distinct assemblies reveal conformational flexibility in the small heast shock protein Hsp26. Structure 14, 1197-1204.

Wieske, M., Benndorf, R., Behlie, J., Dolling, R., Grelle, G., Bielka, H., and Lutsch, G. (2001). Defined sequence segments of the small heat shock proteins HSP25 and alphaB-crystallin inhibit actin polymerization. Eur J Biochem 268, 2083-2090.

Williams, K.L., Mearow, K.M (2009). Mutation of Hsp27 Phosphorylation sites has an effect on neurite growth.

Williams, K.L., Rahimtula, M., and Mearow, K.M. (2005). Hsp27 and axonal growth in adult sensory neurons in vitro. BMC Neurosci 6, 24.

Williams, K.L., Rahimtula, M., and Mearow, K.M. (2006). Heat shock protein 27 is involved in neurite extension and branching of dorsal root ganglion neurons in vitro. J Neurosci Res 84, 716-723.

Wittmann, T., Bokoch, G.M., and Waterman-Storer, C.M. (2004). Regulation of microtubule destabilizing activity of Op18/stathmin downstream of Rac1. J Biol Chem 279, 6196-6203.

Wodarz, A., Ramrath, A., Kuchinke, U., and Knust, E. (1999). Bazooka provides an apical cue for Inscuteable localization in Drosophila neuroblasts. Nature 402, 544-547.

Wong, P.C., and Cleveland, D.W. (1990). Characterization of dominant and recessive assemblydefective mutations in mouse neurofflament NF-M. J Cell Biol 111, 1987-2003.

Xie, L., and Forer, A. (2008). Jasplakinolide, an actin stabilizing agent, alters anaphase chromosome movements in crane-fix spermatocytes. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 65, 876-889.

Yabe, J.T., Jung, C., Chan, W.K., and Shea, T.B. (2000). Phospho-dependent association of neurofilament proteins with kinesin in situ. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 45, 249-262.

Yano, H., Lee, F.S., Kong, H., Chuang, J., Arevako, J., Perez, P., Sung, C., and Chao, M.V. (2001). Association of Trk neurotrophin receptors with components of the cytoplasmic dynein motor. J Neurosci 22, RC125.

Yu, W., Ling, C., and Baas, P.W. (2001). Microtubule reconfiguration during axogenesis. J Neurocytol 30, 861-875.

Yu, W., Qiang, L., Solowska, J.M., Karabay, A., Korulu, S., and Baas, P.W. (2008). The Microtubule-severing Proteins Spassin and Katanin Participate Differently in the Formation of Avonal Branches. Mol Biol Cell 19, 1485-1498.

Yuan, A., Rao, M.V., Kumar, A., Julien, J.P., and Nixon, R.A. (2003). Neurofilament transport in vivo minimally requires hetero-oligomer formation. J Neurosci 23, 9452-9458. Zhai, J., Lin, H., Julien, J.P., and Schlaepfer, W.W. (2007). Disruption of neurofilament network with agregation of light neurofilament protein: a common pathway leading to motor neuron degeneration due to Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease-linked mutations in NFL and HSPB1. Hum Mol Genet 16, 3103-3116.

Zhao, C., Takita, J., Tanaka, Y., Setou, M., Nakagawa, T., Takeda, S., Yang, H.W., Terada, S., Nakata, T., Tabei, Y., et al. (2001). Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease type 2A caused by mutation in a microtubule motor KIFI Elbert. Cell 105, 557-597.

Zhou, F.Q., Zhou, J., Dedhar, S., Wu, Y.H., and Snider, W.D. (2004). NGF-induced axon growth is mediated by localized inactivation of GSK-3beta and functions of the microtubule plus end binding protein APC. Neuron 42, 897-912.





